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VOLUME ONE

 
[bookmark: _Hlk151619578][bookmark: _Hlk146180840]Preface:        I began the investigation of the heroin cartel exposed in the e-book Destiny -- A Legend of Our Time in November 1975 when I was a Federal prosecutor in the U.S. Air Force, and I reported the cartel's smuggling activities to the Air Force Office of the Inspector General in January 1976. No prosecution was undertaken at that time. Plus, no arrests were made by the Drug Enforcement Administration or the Federal Bureau of  Investigation over the past four decades when I informed on this criminal syndicate on six separate occasions.
I have burned through nearly $1.2 million of my own resources on litigation, research, production, and investigations since 1977 in my attempt to imprison these homicidal sociopaths for their crimes. 

I will bring to justice the killers of two men who tried to help me expose this criminal syndicate. These two men were the victims of homicide in March 1992. The body of a third possible homicide victim was found in his home in April 2022. This third possible victim was my nephew; he was my sister's first-born child.

I will not quit my pursuit because on the Tuesday before Thanksgiving in 1977 these criminals tried to murder my wife by draining all the brake fluid from her car. Since 1976, I have survived 14 attempts by this cartel to assassinate me. The last attempt to end my life occurred in San Diego, California on July 12, 2020. I will not abandon my pursuit because of the immeasurable damage these heroin smugglers have inflicted on our planet. 

                     This drug cartel must be exposed and stopped.

Destiny -- A Legend of Our Time™ is a very lengthy e-book – over 400 pages. This writing – Volumes One, Two and Three -- are just the first installments of a large amount of information. The contentions set forth in Destiny are controversial and some information is very complicated. However, the primary points can be summarized in just a few sentences: 


[bookmark: _Hlk170294334]There is a criminal syndicate embedded within America's military, the Central Intelligence Agency, and parts of law enforcement around the globe. This criminal syndicate is the World's largest-ever smuggler and seller of heroin over the course of the last seven decades. For more than 40 years, this cartel’s heroin has come from the immense opium-growing plantations of Afghanistan.
Significant law enforcement agencies, as well as the intelligence community, are suspected to have corrupt members who are a part of the drug cartel that exists within the military of the United States of America, including, but not limited to:
Central Intelligence Agency
Air Force Office of Special Investigations
Air Force Office of the Inspector General
Army Criminal Investigation Division
Defense Criminal Investigative Service
Drug Enforcement Administration
Federal Bureau of Investigation
Massachusetts Drug Task Force
New York City Police Department
San Diego Police Department
Fulton County, Georgia, Medical Examiner’s Office
United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime
Let me be very clear: It is not the entire Air Force, or the entire CIA, or the policies of the other agencies that operate this drug cartel. Most of the men and women in America’s military, its intelligence community and law enforcement departments are heroes. Most are ethical and true patriots. However, there are exceptions, who are horrible, sociopathic criminals. And these criminals exploit the benefits of hiding behind and among those men and women who are true National treasures – the actual defenders of the American way of life and our Constitutional democracy. The existence of this drug cartel is not due to a “corrupt government” or a “corrupt military.” This cartel exists because some individuals have banded together to operate a criminal enterprise. Meanwhile, the other members of their military branch, the CIA, or police departments have no clue what some of their colleagues are doing in the shadows.

For more than 40 years, this drug cartel has supplied 60% of the heroin sold on the streets of America, Canada, and Europe. This cartel's heroin is processed from opium poppies grown in Southeast Asia and Afghanistan. The high-potency heroin is then flown from airfields in Afghanistan and western Pakistan to the United States of America aboard American military aircraft that are flown by American military flight crews that are well aware of the narcotics they are transporting.

The destination of the smuggling flights inside the United States in 1987 was Westover Air Reserve Base, which is located near Springfield, Massachusetts, and Westover may have been the primary port of entry for heroin flown to America from Afghanistan until as recently as August 2021.

These criminals call themselves "The Group", and this cartel has been in operation for decades.  The smuggling of heroin out of Afghanistan by the Group began in the 1979–1980-time frame and has transformed Afghanistan into a narcotics empire -- the World's biggest grower of opium poppies. Opium is heroin's active ingredient and the active ingredient in all highly addictive opioids, such as oxycodone. 
Fentanyl imitates in a horrible way the characteristics of an opioid. However, fentanyl is technically not an opioid, because fentanyl is not made from the opium plant.
The Group's heroin trafficking out of Afghanistan was a substantial factor that incited Sunni Muslim animosity against the West in the 1990's. A second substantial factor was America's complicity regarding the deaths of 1,600,000 Muslims in Afghanistan in the 1980's. And almost all of those Muslims killed in the 1980’s were old men, women and children. 
The huge number of Muslim deaths in Afghanistan and the Group's heroin trafficking out of Afghanistan were the most significant reasons behind al-Qaeda's decision to attack the United States of America on September 11, 2001. 
 Furthermore, like very predictable dominoes, American relations with Shia Muslims around the globe also depreciated significantly because of the Group's criminal heroin smuggling operations flowing out of Afghanistan.
President Donald J. Trump should summon his courage, fear nothing and immediately, publicly condemn the Group and its smuggling of heroin and fentanyl, its murders, and other crimes. Concurrently, President Trump should call for an immediate, Worldwide ceasefire in the so-called War on Terror and call for the commencement of peace talks in Switzerland, as soon as practicable, among all involved Nations and groups. Furthermore, these peace talks should eventually involve, and resolve, all the planet’s armed struggles without further loss of human lives.
The peace talks may continue for years before resolutions are reached with respect to this planet's most serious areas of conflict, but many, many thousands of human lives will be saved as all parties adhere to an international ceasefire in the War on Terror.

The bottom line is this: The War on Terror is a global conflict that was triggered in large part by the Group's horrific, shameful, and deeply racist heroin operation flowing out of Afghanistan for the past 40 years. This heroin smuggling operation was accomplished with the knowing assistance of corrupt members of American military airlift units who transported the deadly, addictive drugs to the United States, Canada, and Europe.

One thing I have learned while tracking down the Group: Federal law enforcement is not interested in busting this cartel -- not at all. So, I decided to stop telling the DEA and FBI what is going on right under their noses. Instead, I decided to write and publish the e-book Destiny -- A Legend of Our Time™ and tell everyone in the World all about what is going on in the disgusting, ugly, violent, racist shadows of international heroin and fentanyl smuggling and the criminal involvement of the United States of America. 

Furthermore, I pledge to publish additional information as future developments occur, until all these hideous criminals are either dead or in custody of law enforcement.

I'm going to show these sociopath Group killers somethings once and for all:

The pen is mightier than the sword, and I fear nothing, although there is much to fear


Walter Lewis 
 July 28, 2025 
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Walter Lewis in 2016
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The only true account of international heroin and fentanyl smuggling that exposes the criminal involvement of an immense, rich, homicidal drug cartel that has existed for decades within the military and the CIA of the United States of America.


“Destiny – A Legend of Our Time” is being made into a major Hollywood motion picture,
 which will be in theaters Worldwide by the Summer of 2027  





Destiny
A Legend of Our Time ™

“Destiny -- A Legend of Our Time” is an e-book that is frequently updated with new material. In the future, you can receive these additions by downloading the newer version of Destiny from time to time. The price of Destiny will be set by the publishers in the future. And the said price will be widely advertised prior to going into effect. You may contact the publisher – the Calafia Oak Financial Management Group®, located in Newport Beach, California – through Destiny’s author: walterlewis@gmx.com

The Destiny website does not impose cookies on visitors or purchasers at any time.

The Destiny website does not share purchaser information with anyone.

There are multiple virus scans continuously operating on this website to ensure that visitors are not subjected to the transmission of any harmful computer virus or ransomware.

The Destiny website does not preserve purchasers’ credit card data. All credit card information that is collected for payment is permanently deleted from our database within several seconds after confirmation and delivery of an emailed receipt documenting the transaction. Consequently, all renewals are made by the purchaser contacting this website and paying the appropriate update price. 

There is no automatic renewal since we do not maintain a database of credit card information on our purchasers.

                                                                                                    
Destiny is in e-book format, which means there are portions of the text that are underlined. Underlining means that by placing your device's cursor on the underlined text, and then mouse-clicking will cause a link to open that leads to additional information, music or video. On some devices it will be necessary to press and hold down the CTRL key while mouse-clicking on the underlined text for the link to open. Many links contain vital information. Consequently, it is strongly recommended that all links are carefully viewed at the point they are found in the text.

The reader will notice that the Destiny e-book download is not paginated at the time of receipt. Once the text is downloaded, the reader should insert page numbers with three or four keystrokes on your device’s word processor app. Also, be aware that you can easily adjust the font size of this e-book to suit your individual tastes, by making Setting adjustments for this file on your device’s word processor app.

There will be many additions to this text over the years. Check the date under Walter Lewis’ signature at the bottom of the Destiny Preface. If the date under the signature is more recent than the download you have, there have been additions to the text. 

DESTINY WILL SOON BE TRANSLATED AND PUBLISHED IN THE PLANET’S 100 LARGEST LANGUAGES OF 5.6 BILLION PEOPLE -- FROM MANDARIN, THE WORLD'S LARGEST LANGUAGE POPULATION AT 1.3 BILLION PEOPLE, AND ALL THE WAY THROUGH TO THE 100th MOST WIDELY SPOKEN, THAT BEING THE KONKANI LANGUAGE, WHICH IS SPOKEN BY NEARLY 7 MILLION PEOPLE WHO LIVE IN INDIA.






FOREWORD
Afghanistan: The actual “Grand Chessboard” of Zbigniew Brzezinski


United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime: Opium production in Afghanistan was at record levels as of 2013 -- supplying at least 60% of the heroin on the streets of America and Europe. For more than four decades, Afghanistan has produced more opium -- the active ingredient in heroin and opioids -- than all other areas of the World combined.

The above link is placed in this text because it does cite the most recent credible information regarding the amount of opium that is being produced in Afghanistan. In the most recent year for which statistics are available in the media, which is 2013, Afghans were growing opium on around 516,450 acres of their prime farmland – in a nation that is afflicted with large areas of non-productive sandy soil, rocky terrain and steep, mountainous slopes that are not suitable for crop growth. 

Afghan farmers, in 2013, produced 6,060 tons of opium.

However, beyond the two astonishing statistics – regarding the amount of acreage planted with opium and the tonnage of opium produced -- the entire tone of the above-linked CBS report is designed to mask the status quo. That status quo being: Afghanistan is the World’s biggest-ever narcotics empire, as it has been for as many as the last 44 years. This includes the two decades when the country was under the military control of the United States of America since 2001 and the decade-long war with the Soviets during the 1980’s.
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April 18, 2012 -- photo of an opium field in the Gostan Valley of Nimruz Province in Afghanistan
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Kabul, Afghanistan -- the country’s capital city

Here is a summarized Wikipedia description of Afghanistan’s agriculture sector, with all citations omitted: “Agricultural production is the backbone of Afghanistan's economy and has traditionally dominated the nation’s economy, employing about 40% of the workforce as of 2018. The country is known for producing saffron, pomegranates, grapes, apricots, melons, and several other fresh and dry fruits. It is also known as the world's largest producer of opium – as much as 16% or more of the nation's economy is derived from the cultivation and sale of opium. It is also one of the world's top producers of cannabis.”

Saffron, the most valuable spice in terms of cost per pound, grows in Afghanistan, particularly in the Herat Province. In recent years, there has been an uptick in saffron production, where authorities and farmers are trying to replace opium poppy cultivation. Between 2012 and 2019, the saffron cultivated and produced in Afghanistan was consecutively ranked the world's best by the International Taste and Quality Institute. Saffron production hit a record high in 2019 (21.4 tons of saffron), and one kilogram is sold domestically between $634 and $1,147.” 


As a point of comparison, consider the following information. Afghanistan proudly produced 21.4 tons of saffron per year recently. Compare saffron’s 21.4 tons of production to the 6,060 tons of opium produced in 2013 and thereafter, as well as comparable opium and heroin tonnage in all the years since 1980. Obviously, the country’s saffron production is barely worth mentioning when compared to its opium production. And, in fact, Afghanistan has dedicated so much farmland to opium that the country does not produce enough food to feed its population. Consequently, over the last four decades, some drug money has been used to buy food and other basic staples from neighboring countries.


Map of Afghanistan

[image: ]

Take note of the fact that Afghanistan is a totally landlocked country. Afghanistan is surrounded by nations that punish drug smugglers by giving the accused a swift trial and verdict, followed a few days later by the imposition of the death penalty, which is administered by public beheading, hanging or some other intentionally cruel way to die.
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A public hanging of a murderer in Iran
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The above photo was taken in Kabul, Afghanistan in 1972. It shows three young women walking from their school, smiling, wearing Western fashions, and probably planning their weekend fun or their future careers. The country was a stable blend of Western values and modern Islamic teachings and politics. It was a happy time. Afghanistan was a stable and reasonably modern country. 
Question: What happened to Afghanistan over the last five decades that caused the country to transform into the narcotics empire, starving, basket case that it is in 2025?  
Answer: Like a real-life imitation of Hollywood’s “Mission Impossible”, the United States installed a homicidal sociopath named Gulbuddin Hekmatyar as the head of a drug cartel that seized control of power and shipped tons of heroin out of the country to America, Canada, and Europe. As a part of Hekmatyar’s rise to power, nearly one million, six hundred thousand Afghan women and children were viciously slaughtered as Hekmatyar enjoyed the fog of war as the cover necessary to transport his narcotics out of the country on U.S. military aircraft. The U.S. military aircraft were supposedly helping the Afghan people to repel the Soviets during Afghanistan’s occupation through most of the 1980’s.
The United States of America raped Afghanistan, starting in May 1979 when the American CIA partnered with Hekmatyar to create the World’s biggest-ever drug cartel. And this cartel was the planet’s top smuggler and seller of heroin – the drug that makes slaves out of men.
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Gulbuddin Hekmatyar – The date of this photograph is uncertain.

Gulbuddin Hekmatyar – also known as “the Butcher of Kabul” – was the CIA’s drug czar on the ground in Afghanistan from May 1979 until his exile was forced by the Taliban in 1996. During the period of 1992-1996, his men killed over 50,000 Muslim civilians in the residential neighborhoods around Kabul. Hekmatyar fully utilized his American-provided modern rockets and artillery against the Afghan population in the 1990’s as he attempted to maintain his control over the vast opium plantations throughout Afghanistan.
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Several leaders of the Afghan resistance movement against the Soviets met with President Ronald Reagan at the White House in February 1983. Gulbuddin Hekmatyar is not among the leaders in the above photograph. 



























CHAPTER ONE

The Group acquires immense opium-growing plantations in Afghanistan.
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Most horror stories have a monster, but most horror stories are fiction

Destiny -- A Legend of Our Time™ -- is about real horror

This story is true
This is not fiction

Pictured above is a Lockheed C-5 Galaxy -- a monstrously large American intercontinental transport aircraft, and the World's only intercontinental, jet aircraft capable of safely landing and taking off on the dirt and grass runways located in remote areas of Afghanistan and western Pakistan. This is where the Afghan opium crop was processed by drug laboratories into pure heroin and then flown nonstop, by American military flight crews in C-5 Galaxy aircraft, more than 8,000 miles to Westover Air Reserve Base, which is located near Springfield, Massachusetts.
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A C-5 Galaxy intercontinental, jet transport aircraft parked near the runway at Westover Air Reserve Base

It was from Westover airfield that the World's most sinister, deadly, and successful drug cartel then distributed its illegal heroin across America, Canada, and Europe. Most people on this planet have never heard this drug cartel's name and are totally unaware of its existence. These criminals call themselves "The Group", and they have operated their heroin smuggling enterprise, almost continually, since at least 1975, and perhaps substantially earlier than 1975. Perhaps as early as 1948, when they became involved in the heroin smuggling business with the Corsican Mafia in Marseille, France. 

Prior to 1979, Afghanistan had never been anything more than a tiny player in the illicit opium production business -- except during the 1950's when Afghanistan became the growing fields for the burgeoning addict population in neighboring Iran. Furthermore, this long history of a lack of drug smuggling involvement was despite Afghanistan's soil and climate situation, both of which are ideal for the cultivation of opium poppies. Opium is the important active ingredient in heroin and prescription opioids, such as oxycodone and other highly addictive medications.

However, in May 1979, at a meeting among Afghan guerilla leaders and an envoy from the U.S. Central Intelligence Agency, which took place in Peshawar, Pakistan, the United States government entered into an agreement with the leader of the Hezb-i Islami, an Afghan group of guerilla fighters. The leader's name is Gulbuddin Hekmatyar. Under this agreement, the Central Intelligence Agency funneled to Hekmatyar through the Pakistani intelligence service more than $600 million in cash and weapons for Hekmatyar to form and fully-equip an army numbering thousands of men. His men were armed with the very best, modern weapons and military equipment. Hekmatyar was supposed to fight against the Soviet invaders of Afghanistan.

It is curious that the surprise Soviet invasion of Afghanistan did not actually take place until six months after the CIA enlisted Hekmatyar's alliance and rapidly began building his "fighting force." Specifically, the Soviet Union's surprise invasion of Afghanistan began in December 1979, but Hekmatyar's alliance with the CIA was made in May 1979.

Hekmatyar's army never won a single battle against the Soviets during the decade long war in Afghanistan. The Hekmatyar fighters were a totally ineffective resistance force against the Soviet military's long-running, brutal, abject genocide in the country. Plus, from time to time, Hekmatyar's Hezb-i Islami fighters would attack, and kill, other factions of the Muslim guerillas fighting the Soviets inside Afghanistan. The guerilla fighters were generically known by their Arabic name -- the Mujahideen -- the Islam-inspired Muslim warriors fighting against the genocide aimed at Muslims.

However, there were several things at which Hekmatyar's men truly did excel. To name them: First, seizing property for opium growing fields. Second, cultivating opium on a massive, plantation scale. Third, guard the huge opium plantations. Fourth, transporting raw opium to a network of heroin processing laboratories. Fifth, then delivering the high-potency heroin to airfields for transportation to the United States of America in C-5 Galaxy aircraft flown by bribed American military pilots who were always fully aware of the nature of the cargo that they transported.

By the end of the Soviet war era in February 1989, Gulbuddin was in firm control of an immense area of Afghanistan. His army was the strongest and largest mujahideen faction, and Hekmatyar had clearly established his disgusting credentials as a sociopath, dominating drug-czar, eventually earning an ignominious nickname. Gulbuddin Hekmatyar became known in Afghanistan as the "Butcher of Kabul." Kabul is Afghanistan's capitol city.

 Hekmatyar's opium plantations and drug laboratories during the 1980's were producing more heroin than everyone else in the World combined. And Hekmatyar was the biggest drug kingpin in the entire history of human civilization.

Are you surprised that you have never heard of Gulbuddin Hekmatyar?  Don't be surprised; you have been purposely left in the dark by the U.S. government's manipulation of the news media. During the decade of the Soviet occupation of Afghanistan, which coincided with Hekmatyar's rise as a crazed drug lord, his name was only mentioned in the planet's English-speaking media on three occasions. And neither of these three mentions touched upon Hekmatyar's operation of immense opium-growing plantations.

The news embargo on Afghanistan's opium production is stunning. In November 2018, I offered information to two special agents of the Drug Enforcement Administration concerning the target of a possible homicide by the Group. Neither agent had ever heard the name Gulbuddin Hekmatyar. I found their ignorance to be alarming and inexcusable -- as bad as if there was a Secret Service agent gleefully and stupidly admitting he has never heard the name Lee Harvey Oswald.

During a January 2019 meeting with an FBI special agent, at first the agent pretended to know Hekmatyar's name. But the agent quickly stumbled as our conversation on heroin trafficking deepened. He revealed that he did not have a clue regarding Hekmatyar or the Hezb-i Islami organization. This is amazing: Agents of the DEA and FBI do not know the name of the World's biggest-ever drug lord, who recently controlled 60% of the planet's opium production.

During the 1980's decade, the CIA continued its funding of Hekmatyar -- hundreds of millions of dollars went to Hekmatyar to ensure his army had every weapon and item of equipment it needed. Everything was provided by the Americans, except the exact weapons the Muslims needed in order to drive the Soviets out of the country. The weapons needed were an effective shoulder-fired anti-aircraft missile, and America had plenty of these missiles stockpiled in warehouses maintained by the U.S. Army, but America would not give any of these missiles to the Afghans until late into the 1980’s.
 
The U.S. was in no hurry to give the Muslims in Afghanistan the weaponry they needed to defeat the Soviets, because the secret policy of successive Democratic and Republican White Houses was to make the Soviet war in Afghanistan continue for as long as possible in support of America's clandestine plan to bankrupt the Soviet Union.

The Soviet Union was brutal in its conflict with the Muslims in Afghanistan. However, in fact the Soviets had been duped by the United States into invading Afghanistan in the first place. President Carter's National Security Advisor Zbigniew Brzezinski devised a plan to use the Afghan population as pawns who would play the roles of the dead, brown bodies on what Brzezinski called The Grand Chessboard.  Brzezinski’s strategy was to weaken the Soviet Union by involving that country in a protracted counterinsurgency in Afghanistan. So, the U.S., during the decade-long occupation of Afghanistan, following Brzezinski's plan, sought to stretch out the bloody conflict for as long as humanly possible in order to drain the financial and military resources of the Soviet Union.

Nearly 14,500 Soviet troops were killed. The Soviets killed an estimated one million, six hundred thousand Muslims in Afghanistan during the 1980's, and the very large majority of the Muslim deaths were in fact civilians -- Muslim old men, women, and children. The Soviets were sickeningly brutal in their treatment of the Muslim population. The war was savagely racist and genocidal, as is clearly indicated by the number of dead, Muslim civilians slaughtered by Soviet troops. But, in fact, those Soviet troops were being deviously manipulated as assassins by the United States of America.

To repeat: One million, six hundred thousand brown, Muslim pawns were killed as America's plan to weaken the Soviet Union ran its course. Plus, by the end of the war, Hekmatyar had transformed Afghanistan into a narco-state that was under his brutal control, and he was the planet's largest-producing heroin drug lord, with the active assistance of the military airlift power of the United States of America.

During the 1990's, the non-Hekmatyar factions of the mujaheddin in Afghanistan eventually realized how America had manipulated the Soviet war in Afghanistan. The mujaheddin realized that 1,600,000 Muslim people had died like valueless insects for the United States to achieve a strategic advantage over Moscow. And this advantage was gained totally at the expense of Afghan Muslims and the Muslims of other countries who came to the Afghans' defense against the savagely genocidal Soviet war machine.

During the 1990's the Sunni Muslims began striking out at U.S. targets in Africa, following the Muslims' realization of the hideous American strategy so cruelly pursued during Afghanistan's struggle against the powerful Soviet military.

Furthermore, during the 1990's and the year 2000 there were repeated, top secret strikes within Afghanistan by American ground forces -- generally special forces units such as Navy SEAL teams. These special forces tried to eliminate the now-enlightened Muslim, non-Hekmatyar factions of the mujaheddin. One such faction, that was not allied in any way with Hekmatyar's drug cartel, was called al-Qaeda.

By the year 2001, at least one mujaheddin faction was determined to strike America within its own borders, and they did so on September 11, 2001. This faction -- al-Qaeda -- struck the United States, as everyone knows, with four hijacked airliners. Almost 3,000 Americans and the nationals of many other countries were killed on a sunny morning in September.

America's actions in Afghanistan since 1979 have spawned a history-making, blow-back by al-Qaeda and other Sunni Muslim organizations, which could become the most devastating embarrassment for U.S. foreign policy in the modern era, if the American populace and the World ever found out the sordid history behind the actual reason for the September 11, 2001 attacks.

The reason for al-Qaeda's attacks on September 11, 2001, can be summarized in a single, passionate word: Revenge.   Revenge for the American manipulation that led to the deaths of 1,600,000 Muslims in Afghanistan at the brutal, manipulated hands of the Soviets. And revenge for the transformation of Afghanistan into a narco-state led by a crazed, homicidal heroin drug lord named Gulbuddin Hekmatyar.  Al-Qaeda viewed Hekmatyar as a sociopath criminal who was armed, put into power in Afghanistan and financed for at least 10 years by the Central Intelligence Agency, as Hekmatyar's drugs were regularly transported to the West by American military aircraft and American flight crews.

To sum up the situation: The CIA created an organization that evolved into the World's largest drug cartel in the 1980's and 1990’s, that being the drug smuggling operation of Gulbuddin Hekmatyar, whose high-potency heroin was flown straight from Afghanistan, 8,000 miles to Westover Air Reserve Base in central Massachusetts.

Is the information conveyed in the preceding paragraphs found in "The 9/11 Commission Report"?   No, not a word. Which means that many witnesses who testified before the 9/11 Commission committed perjury, or, in the alternative, the writers of the Commission's report chose to compose a work of fiction.

It's just common sense: If you have a long distance to travel, it's best to go by jet airplane.  And that axiom holds true whether you're shipping heroin from Southeast Asia to California in the 1970's or from Afghanistan to Westover in the 1980's and 1990's. It is only logical that the same would apply to a shipment of powerful heroin from Afghanistan to North America in recent years.

In addition to Westover, Dover Air Force Base in Delaware, as well as Kelly Field Annex, located in San Antonio, Texas, present the profile of potential landing points in the United States for the Group's heroin trafficking out of Afghanistan.  

Another thing: In 2025, almost everyone in the media solemnly professes that tons of heroin and fentanyl are flowing across the U.S. border with Mexico. This narrative maintains that the source of this heroin is opium grown in Mexico and Colombia. And the fentanyl comes from chemicals shipped from China to the drug cartels located in northern Mexico. According to this dominant narrative in the media, and repeated by all the American politicians, the only real question is whether the heroin and fentanyl are coming across the desert or coming through the U.S. southern ports of entry.
The southern-border narrative is dead wrong, although I suspect that most of those chanting this misconception are unaware that they are flatly incorrect concerning America's heroin and fentanyl problems. The clear majority -- 60% -- of the heroin coming into America for more than 40 years entered by C-5 Galaxy aircraft, and other American military transport jets. The heroin was flown to the United States from Afghanistan by the Group's American military flight crews who were paid millions of dollars per flight to deliver the illegal product to North America. At the very most, Mexican and Colombian cartels combined were the source of 20% of the heroin in America, and the Mafia supplied the remaining 20% of the heroin on America's streets over these decades.

The story concerning fentanyl is shorter in its timeframe than the decades-long saga regarding heroin. However, it is highly likely that the media narrative, and the words of America’s politicians, concerning the fentanyl poisoning of America and Europe are, up to now, just as in error as the myths concerning heroin trafficking over the decades. 

It's time for this madness to end.
It's time for the American people, and all the World's people, to know the truth

It's time to get real.


It is July 2025, and a flood of water has passed under the proverbial life's bridge. What can be done about the mistakes of the past?

First, let's get real. Stop the propaganda and lies regarding what transpired in Afghanistan since May 1979 that has sparked today's conflict between Sunni Muslims around the globe and the West. The so-called War on Terror

Second, President Donald J. Trump should call for a Worldwide ceasefire in the War on Terror. The incentive for the Muslims to enter a ceasefire would be the admission by the United States that the September 11 attacks were the outcome of American wrongdoing -- America being the country that spawned the Group. President Trump should admit that the Group -- an American criminal syndicate that exists within the U.S. military and its intelligence and law enforcement community -- ignited the fire in Afghanistan that presently plagues the planet. On the other side of the equation, the American people should take this opportunity to step away from the barrage of propaganda that permeates the West's media and end this unjust and costly conflict before things get any worse.

America bears the ultimate blame for the horror that is the War on Terror, a war that has been generated by the Group's hideous and profoundly racist heroin trafficking out of Afghanistan, a country that was for more than 20 years under the dominating military control of America's government, after America's invasion of Afghanistan in 2001.

Third, all parties -- all affected countries as well as scores of Sunni and Shia militant groups -- should commence peace talks in Switzerland as soon as possible. The terms of the ceasefire must include the immediate suspension of all military and police actions.  Sanctions and blockades among nations and territories must cease, including those involving Afghanistan, Eritrea, Gaza, Iran, Iraq, Lebanon, Qatar, Somalia, Sudan, Syria, West Bank and Yemen, and affecting all Muslim militant groups. There must also be assurances by the Muslim militias that all people worldwide will be free of oppression and strife because of their religious views during the peace talks. 

In other words, the West and the Muslims countries and militias will not launch any attacks on anyone or any country.

The prisoners remaining in the detention facility at Guantanamo Bay, Cuba and the so-called "black detention sites" must be set free immediately and unconditionally, and each man or woman transported as quickly as practicable to the location of his choosing by the United States Air Force. The horrible and massively embarrassing truth is this: These men are still in detention in Cuba and elsewhere after as many as 20 years of absolute, no visitors captivity. Let's admit it: Guantanamo Bay is a blatant re-education camp very similar to the concentration camps in Nazi Poland. The remaining detainees are the very men who realized in the early 1990's so much about America's shameful involvement in the brutal, racist exploitation of the Muslim people defending Afghanistan, which began in May 1979 when envoys from the CIA transformed Afghanistan into what it is today.

Set these detainees free immediately. The time for their Emancipation is here.

The peace talks may continue for years before resolutions are reached with respect to this planet's most serious areas of conflict, but many, many thousands of lives will be saved as all parties adhere to an international ceasefire in the War on Terror, the global conflict that was triggered by the Group's horrific, shameful, and deeply racist heroin operation flowing out of Afghanistan for more than four decades.


My name is Walter Lewis, and I hereby declare:
This Message is the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth.
So, help me God
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The fastest way for heroin to travel from Southeast Asia to California and then to New York City in the 1970's was by airplane. Denzel Washington's depiction of Harlem heroin kingpin, murderer, and sociopath Frank Lucas in "American Gangster" was a box office sensation when the movie was released in 2007.

   This link is to a second trailer for the movie
Third trailer     Fourth trailer

                                      Next trailer   Next trailer   Next trailer   Next trailer
Documentary: “The Real Story of the American Gangster – Frank Lucas
The documentary gives more details of Lucas' drug ring that annually smuggled 2,200 pounds of pure heroin into the United States using military aircraft and military bases. The overriding feelings of the documentary are those of sadness and despair, and the theatrical level is very professional and effective. The documentary is well worth watching in its entirety, although there are several striking and important inaccuracies in its commentary. Destiny corrects all these inaccuracies because I had the benefit of close contact with an uninvolved eyewitness to the smuggling operation’s methods and efficiencies. The eyewitness’s name – Sergeant Harold H. Buford. He was stationed at Norton Air Force Base in 1975.    Harold was murdered by the drug cartel in March 1992 at a time when he was once again helping me expose the criminals that shipped heroin through Norton.

The true story regarding Lucas’ heroin trafficking shows that Hollywood was not accurate in some respects. For one thing, “American Gangster" creates the impression that with Lucas' arrest, the trafficking of heroin into the United States using military transport aircraft ended. In fact, the trafficking continued unabated. I know this first-hand, because in the 1970's I was a foot soldier in America's so-called War on Drugs at Norton Air Force Base near San Bernardino, California. This location turned out to be an extremely dangerous way to spend one's time in the military.  I would probably have been a lot safer if I had been stationed in the jungles of Vietnam, because at least then the top-brass in the Air Force might have believed there actually was an enemy lurking in the shadows. 

I busted the West Coast segment of Frank Lucas' smuggling operation going through Norton airfield in January 1976. At that time, my accusations of drug smuggling were deemed to be completely unbelievable heresy by the Air Force Office of the Inspector General.

One of the people with whom I worked in 1975 and 1976 on that heroin smuggling case at Norton was Sergeant Harold H. Buford, a true American hero. Buford offered to testify against the drug cartel. Buford stated to me in 1976 that the traffickers would kill both of us before they would let the story of this crime reach the public's attention. Sadly, he was half right; he was the victim of homicide outside St. Louis in 1992, during a period when he was once again trying to help me get to the bottom of the Norton story. A few weeks earlier, on March 11, 1992, another man -- Manuel de Dios Unanue, a true American hero and the editor-in-chief of El Diario La Prensa, Cambio XXI and Crimen -- was shot dead in New York City.  The hitman was allegedly contracted by the Cali, Colombia drug cartel led by Jose Santacruz Londono. Unanue would have been a valuable source of information regarding Frank Lucas.

Actually, the supposed Colombian connection to these murders is a hoax intentionally generated to mislead the public away from the true criminals behind the deaths of these two heroes. Both Harold and Manuel were helping me to investigate and write Destiny at the time of their deaths. Their assistance and sacrifice should be awarded the Congressional Medal of Freedom as soon as possible by President Trump.

Manuel was murdered on the very day I was scheduled to contact him by telephone. I can only infer from these two homicides that the Norton traffickers were still active in 1992, at least trying to cover the trail of their hideous crimes.

Also, the movie “American Gangster”, as well as the “Superfly” documentary give the impression that Lucas’ smuggling enterprise was operated by Blacks. However, the smuggling of the Group’s heroin into America for Lucas’ cartel was operated by Whites for the most part, although there were some Blacks involved in criminal roles along the smuggling route.  

The drug cartel almost killed me on at least three occasions in 1977. They almost succeeded in permanently shutting my mouth on the Tuesday before Thanksgiving in 1977 when the bad guys struck me twice on the same day in two entirely different ways.

The cartel was originally trying to murder my wife in one plot that Tuesday in 1977 by draining all the brake fluid from her car. Since my wife and I were in the middle of a fiery divorce at the time, if she had crashed the car, Walter Lewis -- her divorcing husband -- would have been the prime suspect as the cause of her brake failure.

Fortunately for me, as a one in a thousand chance, I drove her car for the first time in eleven months, and I was able to survive the car's total brake failure on a crowded expressway less than 10 minutes after leaving my ex-wife's home in Southern California. I survived the brake failure because of a miracle. The incident ended with a miracle as defined by the Catholic Church -- being an event that totally defied the laws of physics. Specifically, the rule of physical law that is referred to as Newton's First Law of Motion.

Ninety minutes after surviving the brake failure incident, a large caliber bullet, which was probably fired from a sniper's rifle, slammed four inches away from my head.
 
Jonathan Kwitny, a 16-year veteran reporter for the Wall Street Journal, wrote in his 1987 book   "The Crimes of Patriots - A True Tale of Dope, Dirty Money, and the Central Intelligence Agency", that the shipments of heroin through Norton Air Force Base were orchestrated by senior U.S. officers, and the quantity of heroin trafficked on a weekly basis was up to 50 pounds per shipment. 

Plus, the type of heroin running through Norton was the extremely powerful China White, also known by its official name – Number 4 Heroin.

Number 4 heroin was the most potent heroin ever devised on planet Earth, having been made by skilled Kuomintang Chinese chemists in their drug labs located in the Golden Triangle jungle of Southeast Asia. The Golden Triangle was an area controlled by the infamous Burmese drug lord, General Khun Sa. General Khun Sa was, at that time, the World’s most prolific heroin producer. He was the commander of a 20,000-man army that protected his heroin producing empire from any outside governmental interference.





CHAPTER TWO

Norton Air Force Base, located approximately 60 miles east of Los Angeles and next to San Bernardino in Southern California
August 1977

The past 48 years of my life -- since January 1976 -- have been extremely difficult, but I am here to deliver this Message at this time. Don't ask for exhaustive proof. I do not have conclusive evidence. But every important thing I tell you is true. Sadly, I have no power to make you believe the truth. I can only tell you what I have witnessed with my own eyes; I can only tell you what I have heard with my own ears. Whether or not you believe the truth is not up to me. People tend to believe what they want to believe. So, I realize that the conclusions you reach are pretty much up to you.

I have been asked this question: A heroin cartel tried to kill you at least three times in 1977 and you survived. How did you manage to do that?
When I reported to the Air Force Office of Inspector General in January 1976 that heroin was being smuggled into the United States through Norton air base, I was figuratively thrown out of Brigadier General Thomas E. Clifford's office. Clifford told me that I was a nutty fool who watched too much television. General Clifford told me that he was so sure no drug trafficking was happening at Norton that he would not even initiate a formal investigation,  even though I had related to Clifford a list of five suspects and the name of an eyewitness who was willing to testify against the cartel.

Instead of opening a formal investigation by the Air Force Office of Inspector General, Thomas E. Clifford apparently told everything I had disclosed to the Inspector General's office to at least one of the people whom I suspected was a member of the smuggling ring. Clifford told the bad guys that Walter Lewis, a prosecuting attorney assigned to the Norton air base legal office, was on to them and had made charges naming five suspects and specifying exactly how the smuggling operation was being done following a weekly routine.

[bookmark: _Hlk100663791]General Clifford was either a complete, idiotic jackass, or he was corrupt and taking money from this dope ring. However, Clifford went on to become a two-star general in the Air Force with a prestigious career, complete with assignments at the Pentagon in Washington. 

I know that the smugglers knew that I had reported them because one of my suspects pulled me aside in February 1976 and told me that he knew I had gone to the Inspector General, and if I did that again people were going to suspect that I was mentally ill for thinking such dastardly criminal activity was going on at Norton. He threatened my life and career in a thirty second hushed conversation, that took place away from any witnesses.

I realized that I was in great danger since the cartel knew that I had reported them, so I was always vigilant of my surroundings. Frankly, I expected there would be an assassination attempt at some point. And it would probably be a successful attempt.  If anything, I was surprised that it took so long. The first murder attempt, that I was aware of, occurred in August 1977, which was 19 months after my incriminating disclosures to General Clifford.

Late one night in August 1977, I was speeding home after a hot date dancing with Camilla Jones at a nightclub in Orange County. It was around 4:45 AM, as I drove down one of the two deserted roads leading to the back gate of Norton air base. The roadway was a very narrow, two-lane surface.

When I was about a half mile from Norton’s back gate, suddenly, I realized that there was a person lying on his stomach in the middle of the road. I slammed on the brakes in full-blown panic. Since I was going very fast, my car's wheels screeched loudly and the smell of burning rubber filled the passenger compartment. I just barely avoided hitting the person as my Nissan 280Z sports car skidded to a stop. In fact, I came within ten feet of literally running over the person. At the very last second, he -- the person in the road was a man -- sprang into motion and jumped to his feet.

I stopped less than ten feet from the man. I was burning angry -- he had almost ruined my perfect no accidents record. I quickly lowered the driver's side window and yelled; "Hey, what's wrong with you, fool? I almost killed your dumb ass! You fuckin' idiot laying on the road, out in the middle of the street in the dark!"

The man responded with a fake sound of calmness, but with an almost pleading voice: "Please, help us! There's a hurt woman over there!" he said as he pointed off to the side of the road. In the near pitch-black darkness, I could barely make out that there was another person, apparently a woman, lying face down on the passenger side of the road, maybe 20 feet away. Plus, there was a person kneeling next to her -- bending over her, as if he was assisting her in some way.

A few seconds later, another man stepped out of the darkness on the opposite side of the street. That being the driver's side of the street. He was massive -- a very big man; he could have easily played linebacker for the Pittsburgh Steelers. The linebacker-looking-guy started yelling: "Please, sir, there is a hurt woman over there next to the road! Please, please get out of your car and help her!" Both men were wearing all-black outfits.

                                 My only thought was: "Hell, no. What in the goddamn hell is this?" 

Paranoia told me: "Walter, there is no way in the world that you're getting out of this car. Absolutely, no way in the world."

The man who had approached from the driver's side of the road and the fool who lay in the middle of the road, were now both standing right in front of my car. I turned my headlights to high beam, so I could see their faces clearly for at least 30 seconds.

The two men eased a step towards my car, while still positioning themselves directly in front of the car. They were maybe five feet in front of my bumper, and they were inching closer. I did not want them any closer, so I threw the gear shift into reverse and shot backwards about ten feet. As I shifted into reverse, my car's back-up lights came on, and for a fraction of a second, I glanced in the rear-view mirror. Thank God!  In my rear-view mirror were the images of four men, twenty feet away, crouched over and sprinting towards the back of my car. These men were also clothed in black, ninja-like outfits.

In an instant, I yelled out: "Get out of the way!" to the two fools standing on the road in front of me. By now it was clear that the two were trying to block me from moving forward. My foot was on the clutch; I hit the gas and ran the engine up to around 6,000 RPM for about 1.5 seconds. And then I popped the clutch.

                          My thoughts were very clear:  These people are going to kill me.

My 1976 Nissan 280Z paid for itself that night. In the next six seconds that sports car roared to 60 MPH on my way to 85 MPH and safety.

When I popped the clutch, I fully expected to kill the two men who were standing in the road. I wanted to kill them. But in fact, they both managed to get out of the way. In a flash, the fool who had lay in the road did a backwards somersault in his successful effort to avoid death by speeding car. My head reflexively jerked in his direction for a scant second   as I sped past. He demonstrated remarkable athleticism as he spun to avoid being struck by my accelerating Nissan. I did not see how the football player cheated death.

Even though I am an accomplished martial artist -- a black belt in Korean karate -- Tae Kwon Do -- I am forever grateful that I did not have to deal in hand-to-hand combat with a man who could do a backwards somersault from a position of standing still.
I was not that far from the rear gate of Norton. There was always an armed, uniformed sentry at the base's gate, and I was so glad to see him and the 9mm semi-automatic pistol on his belt. Plus, there was a fully automatic M16 assault rifle leaning against the wall in the sentry kiosk, right near him. I was so relieved to see him, although I did not know the guard personally; we had never met before that night, and I do not remember the man's name or description.
I pulled up to the guard and, amid the excitement of the moment, near breathlessly, I stammered out: "I'm Captain Lewis from the legal office. There are a bunch of men, maybe eight, about a half mile back down the road that runs along the perimeter fence next to the base. I am convinced they're up to no good -- maybe carjacking or assault. Maybe even something worse than that. You should send a bunch of squad cars down there to check it out right away. Exercise extreme caution because they're probably armed! And I think those guys mean bad business!" 

The guard had a shocked expression on his face; he then snapped to full military attention, saluted me, and barked loudly: "I'll get on it immediately, Sir!"

That was good enough for me. I returned his salute with proper military decorum and then drove the few blocks to my home, in the safety of Norton's bachelor officers' quarters. I showered quickly and went straight to bed. It was very late at night, just an hour before dawn. I was exhausted and fell soundly asleep within a few minutes. This event happened on a Saturday night/Sunday morning.

I rolled out of bed around two in the afternoon. Right away I went outside and inspected the front of my car for dents; there were none. Both men had managed to get out of the car's path. I wasn't surprised by the absence of damage because there was no jarring or roughness indicating some level of impact as I accelerated past the two goons who attempted to coax and cajole me to my death.

At least I had something pleasant and great to do that Sunday afternoon. I called up Camilla Jones and told her something I had wanted to say to someone for months -- to some lady following the conclusion of the Great Divorce War of 1977, in which I fought tooth and nail with my ex-wife, Linda. Linda won the divorce war-- she totally took my financial assets to the cleaners.   
           
At least now I was free of Linda. She was a big mistake in my life; we were not a good match, to put it mildly -- really, mildly. My ex-wife might be perfect for many, many men -- especially with her looks and her bedroom performance -- but she was not perfect for me in almost all substantive areas. At some point, everybody has got to get out of bed and do something constructive with their time. I had lived two years with her, and at that point, I strongly regretted the day I successfully seized Linda from her last boyfriend. According to Linda, her last boyfriend was Billy Dee Williams, who was a married actor living in Hollywood. Getting rid of Billy only took a few telephone conversations, two dinner dates and one torrid night in bed.

"I had a really good time last night," I told Camilla over the telephone. "A really, really good time. I mean, girl, you can dance. You groove like somebody from Detroit City. Most of these California women can't dance worth a damn," I quipped. "Any time you want to sing in my ear, you go right ahead and do so." I was referring to the fact that we slow-dragged last night in the nightclub despite the fact the DJ only played fast songs. We made our own slow drag music.  Camilla could sing a song just like the record -- after all she was a professional involved in the movie industry.

On that Saturday night, we found a somewhat dark, quiet corner of the Alias Smith & Jones nightclub. Camilla sang Phyllis Hyman's hit love song acapella close to my ear, while I held her tightly to me, touching all the right places. I will never forget those moments even if I should live 10,000 lifetimes. She was as sweet as nature's honey.
 
"Somewhere In My Lifetime"

“Somewhere in my lifetime
It was you and me... You and me
Somewhere in my lonely dreams
You've been here with me
Oh so close to me
And I've been loving you
Somewhere in my lifetime
Somewhere in my lifetime
Somewhere in my lifetime
It was you... and... me.”

[image: ]

Misty, water-colored memories of Camilla Jones posing on the beach at Treasure Cove, a few miles south of Newport Beach in California


Lieutenant Camilla Jones in 1977 was assigned to the Air Force's department that made motion pictures for global distribution -- located at Norton because of the air base’s proximity to the Hollywood movie industry in the Los Angeles area. 

I wanted to see whether Camilla would feel my sincerity over the telephone. When I said that I had a great time out dancing with her and joking around for hours, I wasn't being trivial or sarcastic. I wanted her to know that it was okay with me that she didn't get naked last night. Even though I spent an hour begging to see her naked body, she refused to take off her clothes when we arrived at her apartment in the dead of the night, at 2:45.

I wanted to see whether she would realize that my words on the telephone the following day were sincere. I had an endearing night with her. It was perfect, and I wanted her to know that I felt that way. I was already trying on her name in my head -- "Mrs. Camilla Lewis" -- over and over. I could gladly hear that said for the rest of my life. And spend the rest of my life looking at her beautiful face and hearing her honey-filled voice every day. Absolutely every day I would be happy to hear whatever she had to say.

We had a secret, which would probably have come as a huge surprise to my guy friends, who probably think we are hitting it like a bunch of teenage rabbits in a big cardboard box. But the fact was very different. We had been dating for more than a month -- seven or eight dates. The secret we kept from those around Norton air base was, at that point, I had never seen the inside of her bedroom -- if you get my drift. But I still felt that the Saturday night with her at Alias Smith & Jones was precious and perfect, because we continued getting to know each other as friends. We truly were friends. We were friends that were waiting for just the right time to feel that very special, burning fire known on this planet as sex.

When I got to the legal office on Monday morning, I went straight to the front desk and picked up the area's police blotter, which was a chronology of all the significant events that happened on the base and in the area over the weekend. I expected to see a report of the incident that I had so frantically related to the gate guard, but there was no report in the blotter. Not a single word. Apparently, nothing happened in the predawn hours that Sunday morning, on that deserted road near Norton air base.

I knew little in August 1977 when compared to what I know decades later.  This incident on the dark road near Norton was the fifth attempt on my life by the heroin cartel. There will be at least fourteen attempts over the next four decades. Many events have made for this exceptionally long narrative that is difficult for me to write and difficult for the reader to believe. Plus, the account keeps getting longer, because the story of the Norton heroin smuggling cartel hasn't reached its end, at least not as of July 2025.

Because of the emotional pain involved over these decades, it has been difficult to recount this story. There are so many old, rusty emotions and torments evoked as I type these words. But I hardly have a permanent, physical scratch anywhere on my body, except for the blinding injury of chemical burns to my eyes, which occurred on February 17, 2017, when I was clandestinely exposed to toxic gas -- vaporized crystal methamphetamines -- by the heroin syndicate.

My extreme vision impairment for 27 months was the result of that February 17, 2017, incident. That was the eleventh attempt on my life by this drug cartel. There have been many close calls that I have endured over the last four decades as I pursued these homicidal maniacs. The very fact that I have had only one significant, long-term injury is itself almost unbelievable.

Here I am now, and here is the true story of the astounding reality I have witnessed concerning international heroin smuggling and the criminal involvement of the United States of America. I could never have made it through these four decades on my own.

Never this far, not on my own.

Since August 1977 -- a period of almost 47 years -- I have looked death in the face more than nine times. Nine times I was in a situation where there was little chance that I would survive.

There were the following incidents:

Always at the top of such a list is the incident when I, along with two passengers in my car, lived through an almost unbelievable event involving my Volkswagen's total brake failure at around 58 MPH on a very crowded California expressway, near the city of Riverside, on a sunny Tuesday afternoon, right before Thanksgiving, in 1977.

Two attempts to kidnap me, so that I would be available for torture and interrogation before my murder, the most recent kidnap attempt being in November 2016. The first kidnap attempt was in August 1977.

I was set upon by a wolf pack of seven wild dogs -- or maybe they were free-roaming guard dogs -- in August 1987 at Westover Air Reserve Base in Massachusetts. 

I was attacked by at least two men with knives, who acted in conspiracy with a bunch of dirty New York City cops. These men executed this assassination attempt in Brooklyn, New York in August 1987.

I have been shot at by sniper rifles on several occasions, and one time the bullet impacted four inches away from my head on November 22, 1977. In an incident on April 29, 2020, the bullet missed me by about two feet. Another sniper's bullet missed me by inches on July 12, 2020, when I was about one hundred yards away from my home in San Diego. 

I was exposed to a poisonous gas -- vaporized crystal methamphetamines -- on February 17, 2017, and the gas terribly scarred both my eyeballs and robbed me of my eyesight for 27 months.

I was clandestinely exposed to methamphetamines, in liquid form, that were mixed into a bottle of refrigerated water in my home in November 1977. 

There was also an incident in January 1990 when I was beaten Rodney King-style by rogue cops in Northern California. However, this incident was not the direct action of the Group.

In October 2022, I was involved in a traffic accident when a speeding car collided with my vehicle in Southern California. The crash was nearly disastrous, but I did not get a scratch.

On Christmas Eve in 2022, I was confronted at my health club in San Diego by a belligerent man. He shouted: “I’m gonna cut ya’ head off like a butchered chicken.” Seconds later, he whispered in my face, “Nigger, I’m gonna kill you.” Seconds after his initial death threat, I declared in self-defense that I would shoot him three times if he took one additional step in my direction. I thought my brash boast would deter him, but it didn’t. He immediately threatened my life a second time and demanded to see my gun, and his belligerence continued even after I showed him what appeared to be a gun in its holster on my waist. The pistol I was carrying was not a real gun. It was a toy, a replica 9mm pistol. I was carrying the replica gun because I was for the first time in a training exercise ahead of seeking a license from the county sheriff to carry a concealed weapon. My assailant screamed repeatedly after he saw the gun in my holster – “Shoot me! Shoot me! Shoot me! Five minutes after the beginning of this situation, around eight San Diego police officers burst onto the scene.

For many years, when I related to friends what has happened to me over the decades, especially the brake failure incident, their reaction is always a swift pivot towards religion. The sentiments of many friends who hear my stories, most typically over dinner, are perhaps best expressed in song.

"God Favored Me"  


I really enjoy the song that is linked above. The lyrics are so uplifting and positive. When I hear them, I am always reminded of this fact: Christians, Jews and Muslims are all worshiping the same Divine Being – our God of Abraham.   “God”, “Allah” and “Yahweh” are names from three different languages and religions. However, history clearly shows that these names refer to the same Person -- that Person being called the God of Abraham by Christians, called Allah by those people who speak Arabic and called Yahweh by the Hebrews. Here is a brief recount of this history, taken from Wikipedia’s essay on “Abrahamic Religions”:
“Abrahamic religions are those that worship the God of Abraham, including Judaism, Christianity, and Islam. 
Abraham a Hebrew patriarch and prophet is extensively mentioned in Abrahamic scriptures such as the Bible and Quran. 
Jewish tradition claims that the Twelve Tribes of Israel are descended from Abraham through his son Isaac and grandson Jacob, whose sons formed the nation of the Israelites in Canaan; Islamic tradition claims that twelve Arab tribes known as the Ishmaelites are descended from Abraham through his son Ishmael in Arabia. 
Ancient Israelite religion was derived from the ancient Canaanite religion of the Bronze Age and became firmly monotheistic around the 6th century BCE. 
Christianity split from Judaism in the 1st century CE and spread widely after being adopted by the Roman Empire as a state religion in the 4th century CE. Islam was founded by Muhammad in the 7th century CE, and widely spread through the early Muslim conquests. 
The Abrahamic religions make up the largest major division in comparative religion, alongside Indian, Iranian, and East Asian religions. Christianity and Islam are the largest religions in the world by number of adherents. Abrahamic religions with fewer adherents include Judaism, the Baha’i Faith, the Druze, Samaritanism, and Rastafarianism.” 
I consider the sentiments reflected in Hezekiah Walker’s music to be inclusive of all religions that are monotheistic – no matter where the religion originated in the world. To me, it is simple reasoning: If there is only one supreme being, then all monotheists are worshipping the same supreme being. The name, religious text and traditions will differ with language, culture, and geography, but there is only one God for this planet.
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Christ the Redeemer, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, South America

“Every Praise”  

For almost 2,000 years, the seat of the Christian church has been in Europe – in Rome.
However, nothing lasts forever. South America already has great statues and cathedrals. Plus, there are a zillion Christians on that continent.







 
CHAPTER THREE

Code Word: Swordfish
Westover Air Reserve Base, located near Springfield, Massachusetts
 August 12-14, 1987
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Lockheed C-5 Galaxy -- American intercontinental, jet transport aircraft

In the 1980’s, I had no idea that the principal source of heroin entering America was coming from Afghanistan. The best early source on this information regarding Afghanistan was  “The Politics of Heroin: CIA Complicity in the Global Drug Trade” by Professor Alfred W. McCoy.  This was McCoy’s second book about heroin trafficking, but it was not published until 2003.

I did not know at the time, that a severe drought had decimated the Southeast Asian opium growing region in 1978. It was this region that had supplied Frank Lucas’ New York City heroin super-market from 1969 into the mid-1970’s.

Hollywood movies and television filled the smuggling news void in the 1980’s with exciting entertainment rather than facts, such as the Al Pacino thriller “Scarface”.

“Scarface – 1983 South Florida cocaine trafficking”     


  “Miami Vice” 
“Miami Vice”

By 1987, one thing was undeniable: The relevant attention of the American media was dedicated to cocaine powder and the new kid on the block – crack cocaine.  There was very little information on heroin trafficking being published in America.

In the arena of international relations, by 1987, the Iran-Contra affair was winding down. The Soviet Union’s incursion into Afghanistan was in its eighth year, but that conflict was getting little in the way of American media coverage, which was not surprising since, by all accounts, the United States was not involved in that insurgency in any significant way. 

Plus, President Reagan’s economy appeared strong. The stock market was absolutely booming, and the Dow Jones Industrials were at record highs in early August 1987. Few suspected that a stock market crash on Wall Street was only a few weeks away in October, but I foresaw a Wall Street debacle coming over the horizon.  I was invested in August 1987 almost 100% in gold as a defensive position against any precipitous fall in stock prices. At that time, I was a corporate law attorney with a major, multi-billion dollar American conglomerate based in New York – NYNEX Corporation.


Wednesday, August 12, 1987

I really can’t say that I remember August 12, 1987, like it was yesterday, because 38 years ago is a very long time. But I remember it well enough.
I’ve always liked the idea of visiting the places where I lived earlier in life, so when the opportunity presented itself in 1987 to visit Westover Air Force Base, I was excited. I was going to get a chance to see two houses at Westover that were my homes when I was a teenager.
I was driving Highway 90 to Boston because I was scheduled to attend a litigation settlement conference, and the freeway passed right by Westover, which is near Springfield in western/central Massachusetts\. Visiting the base would be a five-mile detour. It would be fun -- a great chance to reminisce and take a few pictures of the old air base.
 I understand a lot better today many of the things that happened at Westover on August 12, 1987. The thing is, in August 1987, I was ignorant regarding so much of what took place. Ironically, my ignorance was a huge part of the reason I survived my visit to Westover that day. I was not playing dumb with the Group members that day; I was dumb. I was in fact very much unaware of the scenario unfolding around me. I was clueless, and, in retrospect, that was my best defense.
Take, for example, my New York City Police Department detective’s gold shield – the cops’ badge that fell out of the glove compartment of my car in front of that black guy, the construction worker. Without the detective’s badge, I may have never been allowed on Westover that morning. And then there was the role played by my sunglasses; without the sunglasses, I may have never left Westover alive. Or at least, there would have been a big fight to overcome the huge odds arrayed against me.
The day was partly sunny, as low hanging clouds passed overhead, sometimes blocking the in- and–out Massachusetts morning sun. It was early in the morning – probably about 7:30 or so. Just about the time that a construction worker starts his workday.
After I exited Highway 90, I almost immediately felt lost. I did not recognize the road leading from the interstate up to what had at one time been the main gate to Westover Air Force Base. Westover, in the 1960’s and 1970’s, was the headquarters of the famous 8th Air Force nuclear bomber strike force. This Air Force organization flew the huge B-52D Stratofortress, which was the intercontinental, jet bomber that was America's primary nuclear deterrent to any attack on America by the Soviet Union.
I was mixed up on my location. For one thing, I thought that I was driving up to the main gate. I wanted the main gate because my recollection told me that the main gate was closer to the housing area where my family lived back in the 1960's. I had taken a wrong turn: I was approaching the base’s back gate. The year 1987 was long before GPS guidance systems; if you were lost, you asked someone for directions.
“There’s a guy,” I thought. “Hum, the brother sitting at the bus stop. He’ll know.”
“Excuse me, which way is Westover Air Force Base?” I called out through my open passenger window. I pulled my car to a stop near where the man was leaning forward on a bench at a bus stop.
“There’s no such place,” he responded with a strangely somber facial expression.
“What?” I said, knowing full well that the base had to be just a mile or two away, and the base was huge – well over 2,000 acres. It must be here.
“Hey,” the man broke into laughter, “I’m just messin' with you. It’s called Westover Air Reserve Base now. Are you heading over that way?”
“Yea, can I get there by this road?” I asked, after realizing that he was a friendly, joking type of person. By the way he was dressed – overalls, work boots and lunch bucket – I figured he was a construction worker, and I found out during our short drive to the base that I was right.
“It’s really a hard place to find, but I work there, if you give me a ride, I can show you how to get there." The man was staring at my car, "What kind of car is this? Mercedes?” he said looking inquisitively and approvingly at my new Acura Legend. "Is this German?"
I chuckled to myself, because he was the third person that week to ask me whether my new car was a Mercedes. The two-door Legends were a new design by Acura. Many people had never seen one before mine.
It was ironic, I thought as I pressed a button releasing the door lock on the passenger door. It was while living at Westover in the 1960's that I became infected with a Massachusetts tradition: Namely, giving rides to hitchhikers. Talk about reminiscing, I remembered fondly the times years ago when my friends -- Sherman and Oliver -- my sister Sandra, and I would drive my family’s big Cadillac around the nearby colleges calling out to the students on the sidewalks “Hey, where’s the party tonight?” and giving rides to the coeds and guys who were making it on foot through the campus areas of nearby Amherst and Springfield. A ride given to a student in need was oftentimes the admission ticket to a college party. Those were good times, and fond memories flooded back into my head.
“No, it’s Japanese. A new company called Acura,” I responded as he opened the door.
“Nice. It’s got a good look. Is it fast?”
“Oh, yea, it's real fast. A real 160 MPH.” I replied, although inside I cringed because I had almost gotten a huge speeding ticket the previous day. I was going 85 on the interstate when the cop saw me. It almost gave me a heart attack.
The man was jovial. “I was only kiddin' around about the base being hard to find. It’s right down this street a bit.”
“Hold on a sec,” I said as he opened the door, “Let me pick up this stuff so you can get in the car.” During the drive over to Boston from New York, I had rummaged through my glove compartment trying to find a little plastic bottle of baby oil. I’m just about addicted to putting baby oil on my hands. I hate the feeling of dry skin on my hands.

Any time my skin feels dry, I'm reaching for a bottle of baby oil. I had dumped a lot of things in the glove compartment when I left New York for this trip, and now most of the glove compartment’s contents were tossed and disheveled on the passenger’s seat -- as I searched for the small bottle of baby oil, which I kept in my glove compartment. Included in the small pile of glove compartment stuff was my New York City Police Department detective’s gold shield. The cop’s badge was inside its black case and was tossed open-faced on the car seat. The gold shield looked real, even though the badge was totally fake – bought, for ten bucks, years before at a novelty store in New York City’s Times Square.
The construction workers’ eyes dropped to the car seat, and amid the road maps, driver’s manual, and other clutter, he could not have missed seeing the bright and shiny police badge, but he said nothing about it. He introduced himself as he grinned from ear to ear. I heard his name, but his name went in one ear and out the other.
The drive to Westover took less than a minute. He was a construction worker who had been working on construction projects at Westover for quite some time.

I did not know until my hitchhiker told me, that Westover was no longer a part of the Air Force Strategic Air Command. In the 1960's, Westover was the home of the famous Eighth Air Force’s 99th Bombardment Wing -- flying squadrons of the B-52D Stratofortress -- America's largest, long-range nuclear bombers.
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                                                                 Boeing B-52D Stratofortress

The Eighth Air Force earned its fame during World War II, when pilots valiantly flew B-17 Flying Fortress bombers deep into the heartland of Nazi Germany in a determined effort to destroy the Nazi war machine, at times suffering horrible casualties among the men in the American flight crews.

In the 1960's the Eighth Air Force was based at Westover and its aircraft were the United States of America's primary airborne deterrent to nuclear war with the Soviet Union.

America's tip of the sword: Westover was always ready to launch airplanes into combat carrying nuclear bombs, heading for their targets in Russia. Enough nuclear bombers were always on alert at Westover, so that our B-52Ds could destroy the entire Soviet Union if the Russians should ever be so unwise as to attack the United States of America. "On Alert" meant some aircraft were always parked on the tarmac near the end of the runway and these planes were fueled, armed with hydrogen, thermonuclear weapons and ready to takeoff on a moment's notice. Other Westover B-52Ds were always flying high above top secret locations inside the Arctic Circle. All these aircraft were waiting for any surprise outbreak of World War III. Fortunately, that war never came. If it had, all those family members at Westover, who were on the ground at the outbreak of hostilities, would be quickly incinerated by nuclear-tipped missiles fired from Soviet submarines that were always hiding near the ocean floor in the Atlantic, about 500 miles off the Massachusetts coast.

We all knew that all those men, women and children left on the ground during World War III would certainly die in the multiple nuclear blasts that would decimate Westover with a crush of energy and 5,000 degrees of heat. Westover certainly would be destroyed during a war with Russia, because Westover was one of the Soviet's top targets in America. We would all die about 18 minutes after the outbreak of World War III, because that's how long it would take those submarine-launched missiles to reach central Massachusetts. That was the reality of the Air Force family each day of the year.
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Westover Air Force Base, prior to the first B-52D deployment to Southeast Asia in 1965. After the deployment to action over Vietnam, the airplanes were painted camouflage black and green
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In a drill, an alert crew at Westover runs to man their B-52D, as they simulate the start of World War III. If the situation was war, the airplane would immediately take off along with six other airplanes. As a drill, however, the aircraft engines would not be ignited, because Soviet satellites watch Westover constantly. If the alert aircraft started their engines, the Soviets would know immediately through their satellites and may presume that America is about to launch a sneak attack. The miscalculation might trigger the accidental start of a nuclear war. Life at Westover was always tense.

But we always felt proud knowing that all our alert B-52D aircraft on the cataclysmic day of a Russian attack would launch and be airborne within 17 minutes. Those airborne warriors would head for Russia to avenge our deaths and the attack on our country. Even if the United States had already been obliterated in a sneak attack by the Russian enemy, Westover's aircraft would strike back with a massive punch of thermonuclear weapons. Even if the only thought at that point was that expressed in a single, passionate word: 
Revenge -- an eye for an eye, a tooth for a tooth.  

We also knew that the crews of those alert aircraft would never be coming back home, because the flight was almost certainly a one-way trip -- a suicide mission. There would not be enough fuel to make it back to America from Russia -- the best that any flyer could hope for was landing in a friendly, third country that was not itself a smoking, radioactive pile of rubble. Chances are, there would be no such friendly place to land.
We were the tip of the sword and proud of it. The White House boasted that America's best, critical defense was a good offense. And Westover was the crucial part of America's best thermonuclear offense.
If America had been obliterated in a surprise first strike by our enemies, Westover would avenge that treachery by destroying whatever was left of the enemy. Even if the only point was revenge. We were the tip of the sword.
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Lt. Colonel Edgar V. Lewis at the controls of his B-52D at Westover Air Force Base in 1968

My adopted father, Lt. Colonel Edgar V. Lewis, was a command pilot on the B-52D, and undoubtedly one of the best multi-engine jet pilots in the World. He was a Michael Jordan of the air, when at the controls of a jet aircraft. That's why he was assigned to the 99th Bombardment Wing at the prestigious Westover air base. Only the very best would be a B-52D airborne flight commander in the Eighth Air Force in the 1960's. This was America's tip of the sword in the always simmering Cold War with the Soviet Union.

My mind wandered to Westover's glory days in the 1960's as the construction worker brought me up to date, "Nowadays, Westover is operated by the 439th Airlift Wing, an Air Mobility Command transportation squadron. Yea, all those big bombers are long gone -- way back-- years ago. We got the transport planes now." The once bustling base now was mostly closed in 1987. "That's because of budget constraints -- no money," said the construction worker, as he visibly enjoyed the short car ride. He had that smile on his face that hitchhikers always beam. It says, "Yea. I'm gettin' a free ride and I'm a-gettin' there quick."
We rolled up to Westover’s entry gate. I could see that the road I was on led to the base’s back gate, not to the base’s main gate. That was a bit of a problem, I thought, because the main gate was closer to the housing area. However, my thought was, “No big thing.” I’ll just find my way to the other side of the base. It should only be a short drive. “I’ll remember how to get there once I see a few landmarks.”
I pulled up to the guard gate. An armed guard walked a few steps over to the driver’s window and looked inside. My passenger greeted the guard by name and the guard responded to my passenger by name. Then my new-found friend said, “We’re good, Hal.” (Actually, I do not remember the guard’s name.) “Open up," said the construction worker, "I’m gettin' an early start today. I got a ride from one of your people.” Hal glanced at my face, smiled and then waved my car onto the base without asking me a single question.
At that time, I did not realize that I had just penetrated the first layer of security at a highly classified location. Westover was masquerading as a place that was not worth visiting by anyone. In August 1987, I really did not understand what had just happened or why. But in retrospect, I have learned my lesson – never carry a fake police badge. You may wind up someplace where you should never tread. It was not a case of the brave rushing into danger. I simply had no idea of what I was driving into.
My discovery that day was somewhat of an accident. For years, I have been afraid to publicly make that admission. My intuition tells me that the fact I am still alive may be due to the appearance that I know more than I know, and that I appear to have strengths and information that I do not have at my fingertips.  Many years after August 1987, I have come to somewhat understand the fact that the Brothers are always with me. The Brothers help me and guide me along a path of their choosing. The Brothers played a huge role that day.
My hitchhiker gave me directions to his job site; it wasn’t more than five minutes before I dropped him off. I did not ask the construction worker for directions to the housing area.
Westover of 1987 had changed drastically from the Westover I knew in the 1960's. I had figured that I would take the back road over to my old housing area; this was a road that ran along the northern/western perimeter of the base and connected the base’s two residential areas. I drove past the neighborhood where Oliver and Sherman lived, and I passed the tennis courts where our gang played a mediocre level of tennis during the warm Massachusetts’ summer evenings so many years ago. Then the road abruptly ended. I hit the brakes.
Back in the 1960's, the road that connected the two housing areas passed through a small, wooded patch, and then resurfaced in the middle of the airbase. Not now. The roadway had been demolished; where once there was pavement was now thickly forested vegetation. The road was gone. “What a waste of the taxpayer’s money,” I thought. "Good grief -- who in their right mind bulldozes a perfectly good road and allows a forest to regrow?”
I got out of my car and took a long look. “What kind of land management is this?” Now, I would have to take a much longer route over to the officers’ housing area. A waste of gas and time, but I figured I was good on the time, since I wasn’t due at the hotel in the Boston area for more than four hours. The settlement conference, which I was in Massachusetts to attend, was not until the next day, but there were some details I wanted to iron out that afternoon at the hotel. So, there was some deadline pressure, but not much.
Finding my way across the base was not easy, because back in the day, I would seldom go "the long way.” I took several wrong turns; basically, I just tried to keep heading in an eastward direction. One thing for sure, there was no one to ask for directions -- Westover was a complete ghost town. There were no people anywhere, at least not any I could see. The buildings all looked deserted, and it appeared that many had not been in use for years.
Finally, I saw the perimeter of my old housing area – I recognized the buildings as those in which the highest-ranking officers lived back in the Sixties. What used to be the high rent district of the base was still decently preserved, but nothing could have prepared me for what I saw next.
I drove slowly up to the housing area – my old neighborhood. I was driving slowly because, ironically, the posted speed limit on the street was 15 MPH, just as the limit was back in the day – like there was some other vehicle to collide with if one's speed was excessive. As soon as I entered the housing area, the road ended. There was a concrete and steel structure blocking the road’s access by car. The roadway itself continued – there was pavement, but the roadblock was designed to prevent a vehicle larger than a motorcycle from passing. For a second time, I stopped my car to look at what struck me as totally ridiculous.
By design – obviously – a person could not drive into my old neighborhood. You could walk, apparently, since the street’s pavement was in passable shape, as far as I could see to a bend in the road. But that was not the startling thing. The startling thing was the dense, tall vegetation that was growing everywhere in the housing area.
Weeds, trees, grass and all sorts of bushes had grown wild – apparently -- for years. Alongside the roadway, it looked like a jungle. The greenery was in most locations as high as the tops of the windows of the deserted houses. I had never seen anything like this in America, or abroad. A large part of Westover looked like the Massachusetts of the 1600's. Except for the fact that the rooftops of the houses were visible, the place had returned to a dense forest.
“You’ve got to be kidding me,” I thought and shook my head in near total disbelief. But then I thought some more. In a bizarre way, pictures of houses like this would be even more personally valuable than a couple of plain-vanilla shots of two old houses.
“Well, this is it. I came here to get pictures of my old houses and I’m getting pictures of those houses, or at least the jungle engulfing the buildings.” I figured I had time to walk the distance to the closer house – at 3-B Powell Street, maybe even as far as the second house at 8-A Young Street. Plus, I wasn’t bugged that morning by hay fever congestion and coughing, as I had been for the past week or two, so the thought of walking a distance was not extremely daunting. On top of that, for years I had been plagued with arthritic back pain that hobbled my activities, but luckily my back pain problems that morning was nonexistent.
“Hey, the weather is good, and it’s not very far. Just walk down there,” I thought as I grabbed my Canon AE-1 camera. “There’s plenty of time – a 30-minute walk – I figured. “I can make it. What’s better,” I recall thinking. “This is cool, especially since it has only been a few days that my arthritis and back pain troubles would allow me to take a lengthy walk anywhere. This is a great day. Let’s go.”
So, I started down the road on foot. It was farther than I remembered it to be, in part because we – my sister and our friends -- never actually walked this road. When we were young, we were always on bikes, and then as older teens, by car – never walking.
I was in good spirits. The early morning sun was warm, but the day was still cool. The birds were singing loudly and joyously. And I remember thinking that it would be nice to know the names of the different kinds of trees and bushes I was passing. Just something to know; probably wouldn’t take long to learn how to identify the common trees in North America. I could buy a cheap book over at Barnes and Noble bookstore.
And then I realized something strange. The birds had stopped singing. What I first noticed was that the only sound I heard were my own footsteps on the pavement; then I realized that the birds had stopped singing.
I kept walking deeper into the neighborhood, thinking: “Maybe just the first house on Powell Street. This is too long of a walk for pictures of both houses. What happened to the birds?”
A few minutes later, I heard a sound in the brush alongside the road. My head jerked reflexively in that direction. I couldn’t see anything. Twenty yards later, I heard a similar rustling sound. Something was moving through the brush parallel to me. I kept walking for another 50 yards, during which time I heard nothing but the sound of my footsteps and my own heavy breathing.
Suddenly, there was a clamor of activity in the brush around ten yards away, and the thick weeds parted.
Wild dogs -- five of them—walked briskly and menacingly out of the brush and onto the roadway in front of me.
They were all large dogs: three shepherds, a collie and the fifth canine was some mixed breed. I could see immediately that they were probably feral, because they were not groomed; their coats were matted, and they didn’t look well-fed. I focused on what appeared to be the lead dog. He was the tallest shepherd I have ever seen, but his ribs were showing.
For a second, I thought: “Maybe they’re friendly.” That’s when the lead dog started growling, saliva dripping out of its mouth. One of its front teeth was missing, and it had a gnarly looking cut on its face -- a red, open wound.
The thick brush behind me rustled loudly, and I looked quickly over my shoulder. Two more mongrel dogs.
I was surrounded. There were five dogs in front of me and two dogs behind me. They were all feral; they might as well have been wolves. I quickly assessed the situation. Apparently, they were hungry or territorial, and I was either breakfast or an unwanted intruder.
I have seen enough TV to know that running was not an option, and I did not feel that they were going to let me just walk away. There was going to be trouble. Seven large dogs against one somewhat out-of-breath human; those are not good odds for the human.
Back to the things I have seen on TV – the source of much knowledge for city kids about wild animals. First, a pack of predators has a leader, and that’s probably the biggest dog. The biggest dog should be the focus of my attention, because if they are going to attack me, the alpha dog will lead the attack. TV wisdom says: Confront the alpha; do not show fear; do not try to run away; and look that dog in the eye.
I remember thinking that this would be a great time to have a semiautomatic, 9mm handgun with a 14-shot clip, sitting in a holster on my hip. Too bad, I didn’t have one with me.
All I had with me was my Canon AE-1 camera. Obviously, I did not think this was a good time for cute dog pictures. My nose was picking up a musty stench; the dogs smelled bad.
Years before, my Korean karate teacher had said, “When you are confronted by multiple assailants, you should plan and execute your attack; do not wait for their assault to begin. You may only have to kill one, but you should plan the steps necessary to kill them all.” In karate, we used to practice fighting against several simultaneous attackers. But never did we practice fighting seven against one. Never did the circumstance of conflict with wild animals come up. After all, this is America in 1987 – not a wilderness encounter in 1687.
Alpha dog strode towards me slowly; only about ten feet separated us. It moved slowly, like I was being sized up, not because the animal was fearful, but because it was cautious. He was flanked by four other dogs that were slightly behind Alpha. I figured in a few more seconds he would charge me, probably leaping from the ground in the final few feet, and come flying towards my throat or my groin, like a big musty, hairy missile.
If the lead dog attacked, I planned to punch him with a straight-on blow, the most forceful single hand-strike in Korean karate; I would go directly into its mouth, shatter its cranium, and explode its brain. It would fall dead to the ground unless I missed the target. Accuracy was all important, and that’s the reason why I opted for a punch rather than a sidekick; a kick would give a more forceful strike, but kicks tend to be inaccurate. This was no time to just stun the animal or break a few bones. That lead dog needed to be dead if there was any chance of dealing with the other six angry predators.
There was no time to plan what to do with the other dogs; it was just as well, since there probably was no realistic plan that could deal with six additional attacking dogs.
I was holding the Canon camera in my right hand, gripping the camera by its leather strap. I figured that I needed to drop the Canon to free my hands. For a fleeting second, I thought: “I don’t want to drop the camera on the asphalt; that’ll break it.” Then, almost immediately, another thought struck me: “Drop the camera. These dogs intend to tear you to shreds, and you’re worrying about your camera? Get serious. This may be the end, and you’re worrying about breaking your camera.”
A second later, I let the camera drop, and it fell almost to the ground, but the leather strap was intertwined in my fingers, and that prevented it momentarily from hitting the pavement. Instead, the camera bounced and jerked at the end of its strap, while suspended in the air a few inches above the ground.

When the camera fell suddenly, Alpha stopped in its tracks. Something about the camera startled the dog, and I could see he was staring at the camera as it jerked around above the asphalt. I shot a glance downwards. The camera was large and most of its exterior was black, but the top quarter panel of the Canon has a silver-looking, metallic finish. The silver top of the camera had caught the morning sunlight and sparkled brightly. Alpha dog was staring at the sparkles from the sunlight, and the dog seemed not only mystified – it seemed afraid. It cowered backwards on its hind legs.
I swung the camera by its leather strap, a foot above the ground in front of me, at first, back and forth, like a pendulum, two or three times. Then I swooped the camera up into a circular motion in front of me, like a sideways windmill. I kept spinning and spinning the camera, as it generated a show of sparkling, reflected sunlight. All the dogs in front of me pulled backwards. Some of them made a muffled, whimpering sound. Alpha had stopped growling. Instead, the dog turned his head sideways, and then he turned away from me in what appeared to be fright or confusion. My mind raced: They must think the sparkles are fire. That must be what they think. They know fire is deadly, or at least painful. They’re scared. Good.”
The last bit of TV knowledge: Walk towards the wild animal as if you have no fear. I took a step towards Alpha, with my camera still spinning sunlight. The dog immediately turned and ran, and a second later the other four dogs shot back into the brush. I half-turned and looked over my shoulder. The two dogs that had been ten feet behind me had turned and were running away into the brush. A few seconds later, I was alone in the middle of the road.
For a moment, I breathed sighs of relief. My heart was pounding, and I felt out of breath. I needed to get out of there, so I turned and began walking back to my car. I figured the car was probably eight hundred yards away. I didn’t run, but I walked quickly back to my car, scanning the brush around me constantly, as I continued to spin the camera like a sparkling windmill. My arms began to feel strained, but I figured the dogs were probably watching me, although I couldn’t see them, and I wanted their fear to remain solidly in place.
“Forget about the pictures of the houses,” I thought. It seemed like forever before I could see my car in the distance, and the last minute or two were the most stressful. I was thinking with every step: “What if they realize it’s just sunlight and they come back?” Step by step, the car was getting closer and closer, until finally, I unlocked the door and slumped into the driver’s seat, securing the door behind me. Never had it felt so good to sit down.
I was totally out of breath, and my arms were aching. I just sat there in the driver’s seat trying to catch my breath and thinking about how much worse the conclusion of that experience could have been.
“Damn,” I thought, “When I bought the Canon ten years ago, it’s a good thing I didn’t get the all-black model. No sparkling from that.” I always prized my camera; photography had been my hobby for more than a decade. But wow -- my Canon was my best buddy for life after all that.
I sat in the car for ten minutes, with the windows opened just an inch or two; the car felt like a fortress. Plus, I figured if the dogs came back, I could just drive away.
After resting in the car for a while, I drove back towards the center of the base.
I was looking for the way off base, but I couldn’t find the exit gate. Instead, I turned in the wrong direction and wound up next to the flight line, near what used to be the Base Flight Operations building. I glanced at my watch, when I realized that I had gone in the wrong direction searching for an exit out of Westover. I still was good on time. My stroll into the housing area jungle had not taken very long – I probably only walked 800 yards into the housing area, I was with the dogs for less than a minute, and the trip out of the jungle was a whole lot faster than the trip into the jungle. I was still good on my schedule. I would comfortably arrive at the hotel in the Boston area with enough time to do the things I planned for the day. No problem there. I just needed to figure out how to get back to the interstate.
Right there in front of me was an open gate onto the flight line – wide open. Great, I thought: “I’ll get a few pictures from the flight line. I should be able to get a good photograph of Mt Tom.” Mt. Tom is the 1,200-foot-high peak, located northwest of downtown Holyoke, not far from the base. When I was a teenager, Mt. Tom was where people went skiing during the long, Massachusetts winters.
“Mt. Tom should take a good photo this time of day.” There were some low clouds in that direction: “If these misty clouds will cooperate with the sun.”
So, with photography in mind, I drove onto the flight line. There wasn’t a soul around, and, in fact, I had seen no one since I dropped off my hitchhiker. Westover was a deserted ghost town.
I drove about 150 yards out onto the flight line, stopped the car and put the Acura into park with the engine running. One thing for sure, I wasn’t going far from the safety of my car.
As I swung my legs out of the car, I looked for Mt. Tom off in the distance. There it was. “Dang,” I thought, “The lighting is lousy. This is not going to be a very good shot. It’s too grayed, and even with my telephoto lens, the peak is too far away to have any real character.” Since I was there, I squeezed off a couple of shots of Mt. Tom, but I knew they probably would never reach public display; instead, the photos would most likely join the cardboard boxes containing thousands of so-so pictures I have taken over the years but never show to anyone.
My attention had been focused on Mt Tom, which was to the north of the spot where I parked the car. I took a moment to glance towards the south, after losing my enthusiasm for Mt. Tom.
“Damn, airplanes,” I said out loud. Two C-5 Galaxy transport planes were parked on the tarmac near the Base Operations building, no more than 75 yards away. I chuckled, because I had not even noticed the two huge aircraft when I first drove out onto the tarmac. In fact, they were parked in a location between Base Ops and nearby hangars where they would not be visible from the nearby road, or even at the gate. It did not occur to me at the time, but the two C-5s may have been parked in that location for the specific reason that they could only be seen from the air or if you were standing right where I was standing. Otherwise, the buildings would shield the aircraft from view.
The C-5 Galaxy transport, originally built by Lockheed, is among the largest aircraft ever operated by the U.S. Air Force; it is used for intercontinental-range airlift. The Air Force first flew the C-5s in 1969, so I had seen them before on several occasions; it was an old aircraft, and not very sexy. They were transport planes – to me, the least interesting of all aircraft.
“Huh,” I shrugged my shoulders and thought, “Take their picture, since you’re here.” I raised the camera to my right eye and confronted one of my photographic weaknesses. Namely, I am near-sighted, so focusing my camera is always a challenge. I scanned the surface of the closer airplane, looking for a straight line of rivets, or whatever, to use as an aid in my struggle to properly focus the camera. I searched the belly of the fuselage and the landing gear. No straight lines. Through the telephoto lens the plane's dirty tires seemed only a few feet away.
I could not find a straight line on the surface of that plane, even though I scanned the plane for a large fraction of a minute through the telephoto lens. At the time, that difficulty did not really catch my attention; I just got tired of looking, and decided to scan in on the airplane’s wing, it was straight, of course, but on an angle; I then pressed the shutter button for a couple of frames. The camera’s power winder swished two or three times as the frames clicked off. Then I noticed a peculiarity – something very peculiar.
The sun was in and out between the clouds, but there was direct sunlight. As every photographer knows, sunlight is yellow in color. Reflected sunlight is yellow all over the planet.
But this aircraft was reflecting sunlight as blue. It was clear, especially with the telephoto lens, that the reflected light off the skin of the C-5 looked blue. Once I noticed the anomaly, I stopped and stared. “That is strange. How is it doing that? Why is it doing that?” I took a couple more pictures of the near aircraft, and then a few pictures of the more distant C-5.
“That’s really something,” I pondered, “Have I ever seen anything do that before? I stared for a while, scanning the aircraft through the telephoto lens.
“Hum, whatever,” I said to myself, “Oh, well, let’s get going.” I was on the flight line for probably no more than three minutes. I never even turned the car’s engine off. When I hopped into the driver’s seat, I took a few seconds to reach into the glove compartment for my prescription sunglasses, switched the sunglasses with my regular glasses, and in a few moments, I was rolling back through the flight line gate.
At least now, I had my bearings straight. I had a good recollection of where the base’s main gate was, driving from the Base Ops. I put my camera on the passenger seat and headed down what at one time had been one of Westover’s main streets.
Out of nowhere, a small SUV – perhaps a Suzuki -- appeared in my rear-view mirror. The SUV was speeding in my direction and passed me in a zoom; then the driver hit the SUV’s brakes as it pulled in front of me. The other car screeched to a stop, and I had to hit my brakes as well to avoid rear-ending the vehicle. The driver’s door flew open, and a man sprang from the car. He was wearing a uniform -- some kind of police uniform -- at least that was my presumption since he was wearing a sidearm in the holster on his belt.
He walked briskly back to my car. My driver’s window was open.
“Were you just out on the flight line?”
“Yea, yes” I responded, almost stuttering, “I was just taking a couple of pictures of Mt. Tom.”
The cop scowled: “Give me that camera. Now!” He was pointing at my camera, which was on the passenger seat.
“What’s wrong?” I stammered, while at the same time handing the cop my Canon.
The man did not answer my question; instead, he gave me this order: “I need for you to follow my vehicle back to the office. Follow me. Do not attempt to drive away. Let’s go.” At that, he turned and strode with authority back to his Suzuki.
“OK, sure, of course,” I said, without hesitation, “Whatever, you say, officer.” I am not sure whether he even heard me – it was more like he just took it for granted that I would follow. It was obvious that he felt completely in charge.
He got back into the SUV and we both drove a couple of hundred yards to “the office” – a small, nondescript building that was close to Base Ops. He swung his vehicle into a parking slot, exited and pointed towards a parking space for me. At the time, I missed how unusual that gesture was, because there were plenty of open parking spaces. Why this particular space? In retrospect, I suspect this parking space was preferred because I would not be able to see my car if I looked out of the building’s windows.
“This way,” he said as he motioned towards a door. The officer held open a door to the building as I entered; he had a loose grip on my camera’s strap. I started to say, “Don’t drop that,” but I decided such a comment was unnecessary and flippant. Common sense told me that this probably was not a good time to be a smart aleck.
There were four policemen in the office – to the best of my recollection. There may have been three officers, plus the cop who had pulled me over. Or perhaps six officers in total. It might have been that one more cop entered the office after I was inside. They were all wearing the same sort of uniform, and it wasn’t any Air Force uniform I had ever seen. They wore dark pants and an official-looking shirt. The shirts had an insignia, but I have no recollection of what that insignia depicted.
When I entered the building, all eyes were on me. And they all seemed to be agitated -- even angry with me.
“So, what were you doing out on the flight line?” was probably the first of a barrage of questions. The questioner did not wait for an answer before the next command was blurted out: “Let’s see your driver’s license.” I handed my license to an outreached hand, and a few moments later I heard a copier machine running through its copying cycle.
“How were you able to get on base?’ My response was straightforward: “I drove on base through the back gate. About 45 minutes ago. The guard said to come on in.”
“You were in the housing area?” asked one of the cops. That question took me by surprise, because I hadn’t told them that I went to the housing area.
“Yes, I went to the housing area because I wanted to take pictures of the houses I lived in when I was a teenager. I used to live here years ago; my father was stationed here when the Eighth Air Force was here with the B-52s. Back in the Sixties.”
“You know something,” I said earnestly to my questioner, “You’ve got a bad wild dog problem in the housing area.”
“Oh, yea, Mr. Adams?” Another cop spoke as he handed my driver’s license back to me.
“Yea, I ran into a bunch of dogs – seven of them -- that were downright menacing. ”
“There are some stray dogs out there,” the cop said nonchalantly. “Did one of them bite you?’
“Naw,” I replied, “I stared them down and they ran off.” Several of the cops glanced back and forth at each other and then redirected their focus on me.
“Why was it so hard to find your car? Why were you driving around in circles?”
“I got a little turned around when I left the housing area. I was trying to find the main gate, but I got the direction wrong and wound up back near the flight line. Since I was there, I thought I would go out onto the flight line and take a few pictures of Mt. Tom. So, I did, and then I was leaving when I was pulled over. I also took a couple of pictures of the C-5s parked there.”
“Why were you taking pictures of the aircraft?”
“Well, no reason. I like to take pictures . . . and the airplanes were right there.”
“Yea but taking pictures on the flight line is prohibited. This is a restricted area. That’s why we’re taking your film. Here, here’s a receipt and your camera.” One of the officers handed me my camera, along with a small card reading “TAG NO. 69, DATE 10 AUG 87", signed by Joseph L. D’Alessio, indicating the seizure of:
           
                                           “1 ROLL  35 MM – PARTIALLY EXPOSED”
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“All right,” I said, “I didn’t know about that rule. I mean, this place is deserted. I didn’t think there was any problem with going to the housing area or the flight line. Sorry about that. Can I go now? I’m in a bit of a hurry to get to Boston. I’m on my way to a business meeting in Boston.”
“Not so fast,” said one of the officers. “We may have to detain you for a few days, so our people can come and interrogate you.” The officer said a location that the interrogators would come from; I wish I could remember the location. To the best of my recollection, he said the name of an installation in Virginia -- Quantico.
“Whoa. I need to leave now. What more is there to ask me about?”
I really couldn’t tell who was in charge among those several men. One thing that was striking about them was the fact that they were all old. All of them were in their fifties, if not older.
While I was in the office, each of the cops asked me questions. Each of them was glaring at me. I glanced at each of them, but I couldn’t describe their faces, except for one. The cop sitting off to the side; the one who wasn’t saying much of anything. He might have been the one who had originally stopped my car. I’m not sure because I didn’t really look at his face until we were in the office.
He was a big man; a little paunchy now, but he looked like he could have been a football player in his younger years. He was more in shape than the others. The others just looked old and stern-faced. They were all White men.
One of the officers said after a few tense moments, following the suggestion that I might be detained for days, “I don’t think there is any need for anything further. You can go. But leave the base right away. Just follow the main road outside the door.”
That was a relief. I was complacent up until the part about being detained. I didn’t see how I could be in any real trouble for taking a few pictures on a deserted air base.
“Great. I’ll be on my way. For a second there I was beginning to worry that you guys thought I was a Russian spy.” I feigned a laugh. “I’m not a Russian. I’m from Detroit. In fact, I was in the Air Force years ago at Norton Air Force Base out in California -- back in the Seventies.”
“Wait a minute. You were at Norton?” said one of the cops. All the cops broke out in smiles, and they started saying things like, “What? I knew it. You’re with the Group, right? The Group sent you here to test our security?” You’re in the Group?”
I was surprised. When I mentioned that I was stationed at Norton, the room went immediately from frowns to jokes and laughter.
I responded reflexively: “What group? I’m not with any group. What are you talking about?”
Instantaneously, the smiles dissolved into frowns once again. They glanced furtively at each other, and then looked back at me. A chill fell over the room. I did not know what to make of what just happened. I did not know what to say next. It was probably best that I said nothing, because at that point my life may have depended on my immediate exit from Westover.
“OK,” one of them said, “You’re free to go.”
I clinched my camera in my right hand and the property receipt in the other; then I headed for the door.
Five minutes later, I was at the main gate. The guard came over to my car window, took a good look inside, and then waved me through. I was off base seconds later and headed back to the interstate. I looked back in the rear-view mirror and saw the guard watching me as I drove away.
“Well, that turned out to be a big waste of time,” I said to myself, while looking at the dashboard clock. I was still okay with the time needed to get into the Boston hotel, but just barely. Before I reached the interstate, I pulled over to the side of the road and rummaged through the glove compartment looking for my sunglasses. I couldn’t find my sunglasses in the glove box, but after a few seconds of looking, I realized that I already had my sunglasses on.
“Oh, right,” I said to myself, “I put my sunglasses on out on the flight line.” I shrugged my shoulders and thought: “Wow, they interrogated me while I was wearing sunglasses. It seems like they would have asked me to take them off, on general principle, so they could see my eyes.”
It only took a few minutes to reach the interstate. By the time I merged into the early morning traffic, I had a chance to start reflecting on the last hour of my life.
Dogs? Wild or stray, whatever. I sure did not see that coming. Massachusetts is not the Wild West. The last thing on my mind when I started into the housing area was encountering a dangerous animal, much less a pack of seven dogs that seemed bent on mayhem.
“Damn,” I thought, “When I bought that camera, I’m glad I didn’t get the all-black model.” The fact that the sunlight’s reflection off the silver top of the camera fooled those dogs saved me from a situation that could have gone very badly for me, or very badly for that Alpha dog. They thought the sparkling sunlight was fire, and they knew fire was big trouble.
“Face it, Walter” I thought, “That was probably going to go very badly for me. Seven vicious dogs? That situation was probably hopeless. I might have been able to handle two or three, but not seven. Not if they all attacked at the same time. No way.”
Those cops didn’t seem too worried about the dog problem on their base. “What agency were they?” I tried to remember what emblem was on their uniforms. There was some sort of government-looking insignia, but I couldn’t remember what it said.
I held up the card that they had given me for my film, putting it into my line of vision above the steering wheel. “Joseph D’Alessio” was the signature. “Which one was Joseph D’Alessio?” I wasn’t sure. Was he the one who did most of the questioning? I didn’t remember seeing him sign anything. He must have been the person who handed my camera back to me; that made sense. As a matter of fact, I didn’t remember seeing anyone writing anything down. I heard a copy machine running, and I figured they were copying my driver’s license. At least one of them had read my driver’s license – remembering the cop who had mixed-up my last name with the name “Adams”. Adams Street was the name of the street I lived on in Brooklyn.
“Hell. I didn’t get that film for free. At least there weren’t any worthwhile pictures on it,” I simmered. “That film wasn’t free. They took my film over a couple of pictures of C-5s -- old-ass transport planes? That’s ridiculous. Maybe I should complain to someone and get my film back.” I kicked that thought around a bit during the 70-minute drive to the hotel near Boston, but I decided that complaining about the seized film would be a big waste of time. After all, there weren’t any good pictures on the film.
The hotel had great amenities, but perhaps the most important feature for me was the desk in my room. I had some work to do in preparation for the next day’s settlement conference, so I dove right into that task.
A couple of hours went by before my thoughts meandered back to the reflected light – the blue light reflected off the two airplanes. It finally hit me: If the color of sunlight was changed, that means that the wavelength of the light was changed. The surface of those two airplanes had shifted the wavelength of electromagnetic waves. When I reached that realization, I got very excited. Shifting the wavelength of electromagnetic waves was at the heart of stealth technology. Those two airplanes were stealth. They were invisible to radar.
In 1987, there was very little information in the public domain concerning stealth technology. Stealth – airplanes that could not be seen on radar. The Department of Defense had made it known that a new stealth airplane – a bomber – was near operational status, although no pictures of the airplane had been released to the media.
Since I am an aviation enthusiast, this was very exciting. I exclaimed, while sitting at the hotel desk: “Those planes must have been the new stealth bomber.”
It was very exciting, and that was putting it mildly. Seeing the new stealth bomber before pictures were in the news media was extremely exciting. I could understand why the cops took my film, and I could forget about getting the film back – that would never happen.
“Wow”, I thought, “This is a scream. I can’t wait to tell somebody.” The thing was, however, at that point in my life there weren’t a lot of people I knew who shared my excitement about airplanes. There was one person who came to mind, partly because I had been thinking about telephoning her anyway. Let’s call her Anna Williams, but that’s not her real name.

Anna was an ex-girlfriend; I had ended our six-year long relationship a week earlier. We hadn’t really talked since the breakup, and I wanted to say – something – even just “Hello, how are you?” -- to the person with whom I talked virtually every day for six years. So, I picked up the phone in my hotel room and called her. She didn’t answer; her answering machine kicked in. I left a message saying that I was away in Boston, “Hi” and all that. Then I said something like this: “You’ll never believe what happened. I stopped at Westover on my way to Boston, and I saw two stealth bombers. They were parked on the flight line. I even took some pictures, but these cops pulled me over and grabbed my film. Wild, huh?”
I finished my preparations for the settlement conference by mid-afternoon, and I decided to go for a long jog. The hotel was in a good-looking, suburban neighborhood and the weather was great. A nice run would be a good pastime before dinner. It turned out to be a good time to think about what happened earlier in the day.
Eventually, the realization hit me that those two planes were not the stealth bomber. For one thing, they were too big to be bombers. They were larger than the B-52, and it was clear that American bomber aircraft were getting smaller, not larger in size. In addition, the little information there was in the media, about the stealth bomber, indicated that the jet had a very futuristic body-shape.
Plus, I chided myself: “Get serious, Walter. You correctly identified those planes the moment you saw them. They were C-5s; old-ass transport jets.” I was jogging, but my pace slowed to a walk, and then I stopped in my tracks.
“Wait a minute,” I finally put it together, “Those two planes were stealth transport planes.” I had never heard anything in the media about using stealth technology on transport planes.
“Why would the Air Force even want that?” I thought. “Maybe the concern was about the transport aircraft being shot down. They had to evade radar so that enemy fighter planes or surface to air missiles couldn’t find them.” That made sense, I figured. Or at least that’s what I believed for a few minutes.
During my jog, I was once again grinding on the fact that my film was gone. I didn’t like dogs so much anymore. My arms were a little sore from swinging around the camera for so long. I was trying to remember where that interrogator was to come from. “Did that guy say Langley? Did he say Quantico?” I couldn’t remember. “What was the agency name on those guys’ shirts?”
I wondered why they had a huge change in attitude when I said that I was at one time stationed at Norton. It was then that I realized that the football player-looking guy did look familiar.
“Was he stationed at Norton?” I began to wonder why his face looked like someone I knew. I recalled earlier that day thinking: “I had seen him before”, but the thought was fleeting. None of the other men looked like anyone I met during my Air Force years; at least, I was reasonably certain I hadn’t met any of them.
That one guy though – the one who was a little younger than the rest -- he looked like he used to play ball. It dawned on me that he was the cop who was looking at me so intently. During the time I was in the office, all the cops asked me a question or two, but the others seemed somewhat preoccupied with other things. They were not glaring at me. The football player at times seemed to stare, almost as if he was wondering whether he knew me.
Then it hit me like a lightning bolt. I had seen that man before. He was one of the men who had tried to get me out of my car that night in August 1977. He was the one in my headlights – right in front of the car -- on the driver’s side. He was one of the two guys who did the talking that night. There was no doubt about it. At that point, I was certain.
I was standing motionless by the side of the road. Forget running any further; I needed to sit down. Suddenly, I felt sick to my stomach. There was a tree stump nearby, and I used it as a chair. For a while, I just sat there.
“God,” I thought, “This is huge. That was one of those people who tried to snatch me over that heroin mess back at Norton, and he’s guarding a stealth transport plane.” A stealth transport plane would be a drug smuggler’s dearest, wildest fantasy come true.
I felt like I was going to throw up; I could barely walk.
It was a couple of miles back to the hotel, and I needed to get back there right away. I hitchhiked. A car stopped for me. I told the car’s driver that I had just twisted my ankle while running and thanked him for his help at a difficult time.
My mind was racing all night. Why didn’t that guy recognize me? I realized that I had been very, very lucky. My hair as a civilian was much longer than it was when I was in the Air Force; my moustache was bigger; plus, I was wearing my sunglasses the entire time I was in the office. I recalled that my name was never spoken. In fact, the one cop had called me “Mr. Adams”, as he transposed my surname with the name of the street on which I lived. The football player never saw my driver’s license; the one cop made a copy of the license, and then handed the license back to me.
“Okay, okay,” I tried to calm myself, “I’m in the clear. I’m out of there.” But I knew that would not last. Eventually, I realized where I had seen that man before. That cop would eventually remember where our paths had crossed ten years earlier. His assignment that night` was to abduct me. I was going to disappear off the face of the planet. I was the person who tried to run him over with my car. People do not forget nights like that.
I tossed and turned in my bed all night – I couldn’t sleep. The facts were simple. First, they will figure out who I am. Second, they have my address. Third, they will never believe that I just stumbled upon them by accident – a tourist at a deserted Westover. Fourth, I saw stealth transport planes – that alone was huge. Fifth, I knew their track record for homicide -- they would kill me as soon as possible.
I needed to get help from the authorities. I needed to plan how to do that. Would anyone even believe me? No one had believed me before at Norton.
Morning finally came; I hardly slept at all. I needed to get the settlement conference finished, so I needed to suck it up and drive to the meeting. I got dressed, checked out of the hotel, and got on the road for the final few miles into Boston, heading for the meeting site. I was very troubled by my thoughts. Should I call the FBI? The DEA? Would anyone even believe me? I was sure the first question would be: “Did I see any drugs at Westover?” And the answer was -- No.
My thoughts were interrupted by a more immediate problem. I really didn’t make it very far down the highway before my car started acting up. The check engine light on my dashboard lit up. This was not good news, and totally unexpected since my Acura was almost brand new, with less than 3,000 miles on the odometer.
I pulled over to the side of the highway. Something was wrong with the engine, and I had no idea what the problem was.
Literally, I had no idea. Many years later, in September 1995, during a conversation with one of Hal Lipset’s technicians, I became enlightened. Harold K. Lipset was a famous private investigator, who was best known for the many ways in which his organization was capable of planting eavesdropping bugs. Most famously, in an olive within the liquid of a martini, sitting on a desktop at a Congressional hearing. Let’s call Lipset’s technician by the name of Dan.
Dan told me years later, “I’ll tell you with certainty what was wrong with your car. It wasn’t the engine. They put an electronic tracking device on your car – a transponder. Those things were notorious for blowing out the new technology of onboard computers in cars back in the 1980’s. They were tracking your movements. Those guys were a rich bunch of criminals. That type of equipment isn’t cheap, especially back in those days.”
As I pulled to a stop on the highway’s shoulder, I felt a cringe of anxiety. “Oh, no. I’m not going to get to the meeting on time. I should call AAA.”
I turned the engine off and sat there for a few moments. “Let’s assess the situation. The car is still rolling. Maybe I should just keep on driving. Yea, but maybe that would cause more damage. Damage to what? The engine sounds fine; it’s not like the thing is smoking or grinding. Or just plain not running.”
I turned the ignition key and the engine fired up perfectly. The check engine light was off. “All right. Let’s go.” I checked my side view mirror, waited until the traffic was clear, and then pulled out onto the highway. A few miles later, the warning light came back on.
I pulled off the highway at an exit and called AAA. I wasn’t going to make it to the meeting on time. I remember thinking, “I never would have had this problem with my old Volkswagen. It doesn’t even have a check engine light. If there was something wrong with the Volkswagen’s engine you wouldn’t know it until it just quit running. Maybe that’s better.”
The AAA guy got there eventually and gave the car a once over. “I don’t see a problem,” he said. “Just drive it if you need to. But I’d run it by the dealership soon and have it checked out.” So, that’s what I did. The check engine light would come on and go off from time to time until I got a chance to take it to the service shop a few weeks later. The mechanics told me the engine was fine, but the car’s computer had gone bad, which was embarrassing for Acura, since the Legend was brand new. Thanks for the new car warranty; the replacement computer – a $1,000 part – was given to me for free by Acura.
I was running on empty all that day, but the day did finally end. I drove halfway back to New York that evening and spent the night with a friend, Jocelyn McGuire, at her home near Albany, New York. The next morning, August 14, 1987, I returned home to Adams Street in Brooklyn. 

While unpacking my car, I noticed the sunlight hitting my camera. There was no sparkle as it had been two days earlier. Weeks later, I read in my camera's manual that the silver-looking top of the camera was made from an alloy that does not reflect sunlight at all. The realization struck me that morning in Brooklyn that the fireworks display that frightened the Westover dogs was not simply reflected sunlight. And many years later, I remarked under my breath, "God and the Brothers, thanks for watching over me and intervening in just the correct, silent way." If there had been a noisy dog massacre -- such as with gun fire -- I never would have made it to the flight-line. I never would have seen the stealth transport planes that morning at Westover in 1987. 
Another miracle. That makes three. At least three. And what about that cop who called me 'Mr. Adams'? If he had said 'Walter Lewis', every one of those jokers might have jumped up, drawn his weapon and emptied the clip," I mumbled to myself that August morning in Brooklyn, “I probably would have slept through the parting of the Red Sea, if I had been there thousands of years ago. I’d be like: “What? When did that happen? Nobody got wet. I slept all the way through it?” I whispered mockingly, shaking my head at my ability to miss the fantastic.
By the time I got home, I was a nervous wreck. I considered checking into a hotel – and paying cash, so I couldn’t be tracked by a charge on my credit card.
I wished that I knew someone in the FBI; someone high up in law enforcement to whom I could relate the spectacle I had seen and put it all in context. The story was a long one, and I suspected that if I walked into an FBI office and just started talking no one would believe me.
I called Anna again. Still no answer, but I left a message telling her not to mention to anyone that I saw a stealth airplane, and that I needed to talk to her. I asked her to call me. She never called me back.
At some point, I concluded that the best thing to do was to contact a friend from law school. His name was Peter Sherwood; that is his real name. I wanted to contact him, because I felt that he was the most influential person I knew who was in any way involved with law enforcement. Peter Sherwood was New York State’s Solicitor General. He was the fourth highest ranking person in New York State government: First was governor, then lieutenant governor, then attorney general, and in fourth place is the State’s solicitor general.
I figured that the last thing in the world I wanted to do was complain to the New York City police. By that point, I had realized that one of the reasons why I was able to walk in on that scene was because the construction worker thought I was a New York City cop – that’s how I had so easily got onto Westover, in the first place. Plus, I had always been convinced that the police in my precinct were on the take from druggies. It was a well-known fact in my neighborhood that many of the neighborhood grocery stores sold marijuana and other things over the counter to those who knew how to ask for it. These illegal sales were taking place with the precinct’s cops walking the beat outside the stores. Apparently, the cops of Brooklyn’s 84th precinct were blind to what was going on in the neighborhood regarding drugs. They couldn’t see anything.
By the evening, I had decided that a phone call to Peter Sherwood was the way to go. Peter was the New York State Solicitor General. Peter was an acquaintance of mine from New York University Law School. I pulled out my address book and dialed Peter’s home number. He wasn’t there, but his wife, Ruby -- who was a close friend of mine from law school -- said that I should reach him tomorrow at his office. “Great,” I responded, “I’ll do that. The morning is only – what, 14 hours away. I can do that. I’ll wait.”
For some stupid reason I decided to call my parents in Atlanta. I really don’t remember what my point was, but the conversation turned crazy. Halfway through the phone call it struck me that I never should have got on the telephone. I spoke to my parents and my brother, but I doubt whether they realized that I was trying to code talk to get a message across. I didn’t mean half the things I was saying at face value.
Finally, I hung up the phone call to Atlanta. I decided to try to call Anna again, but her phone just rang and rang. I hung up, but after a few seconds it struck me that her answering machine didn’t pick up. That was strange. I thought, “Maybe I mis-dialed. Let me dial that number again.” So, I lifted my phone off the hook – to my surprise, the phone was still ringing from the call I hung up on more than a few seconds earlier. “What?” I thought, “How is that -- it’s still ringing.” I clicked the phone’s release button a few times trying to kill the first call, but the phone line would not disconnect.
Many years later, when I interviewed the famous Bay Area private detective Hal Lipset and Dan, Hal Lipset’s eavesdropping expert, I got an expert opinion regarding why the phone line failed to disconnect. Dan listened to my description of that evening in Brooklyn and said he had heard enough: “Your telephone was tapped, and it’s an illegal wiretap – that’s not a legal wiretap. That would never happen with a court authorized wiretap, and that’s because legal wiretaps are done by an entirely different method. There is someone probably parked in a van or truck in your neighborhood who has tapped into your phone line. That inability to hang up a call is a dead give-away. But get this: The guy manning that wiretap just got electrocuted. He’s dead, or at least terribly burned. There was a screw-up in the wiring that just shot a huge jolt of electricity into his headset. He just died; his head was probably burned off his shoulders. Right at that moment.” Of course, on August 14, 1987, I had no idea that had happened.
I hung up the phone and left it in its cradle for a few minutes, wondering whether all that meant something. I picked up the telephone again; the dial tone was there, so I redialed Anna’s number.
Anna was a neighbor of mine; she lived in the building next door; I lived on the 15th floor, and her condo was on the second floor of her building. I could see her windows from my condo. Her lights were on, and her blinds were loosely closed. I peered down from my home as the telephone rang several times. Eventually, the answering machine kicked in with its outgoing message. I was watching intensely, and, suddenly, I saw a silhouette move across the narrow cracks between the blinds’ slats. “She’s there,” I thought, “Why isn’t she answering the phone?”
I sat down for a moment, for just a moment. I decided to go over there and check on her. I was worried for her safety, because I had called her from the hotel in Boston – one of my very few phone calls from the hotel.
“What if they tracked my credit card paying the hotel bill, went to the hotel, flipped out a cop’s badge on the desk clerk and demanded the records of my phone calls?” I thought nervously. “I’ve got to go over there and check on her, right now. And I’m not going empty handed. Nobody is playing games here.”
I went into my bedroom, reached into my armoire, and pulled out a shoe box that was taped shut. I got a pair of scissors and cut off the tape. I opened the box for the first time in almost ten years and took out a black leather case. I knew what I had to do.
I unzipped the case, reached inside and pulled out my Smith and Wesson 38 caliber revolver – my unregistered handgun – illegal in New York City. Inside the shoe box wrapped in an old sock was a small box of 25 bullets. I loaded the gun, and took a small, concealable holster out of the shoe box. The holster was the sort designed to fit inside the bearer’s pants, at the waistline, held in place by the man’s belt. I stuck the gun inside the holster and put the holster on my left waist, covered my waist with my shirt, so no one would be able to see that I was carrying a gun.
I hoped there was going to be some mundane reason she was not answering the phone, but I wanted to be prepared just in case the worst was happening. After all, these were the people who tried to kill my ex-wife back in California. I stopped for a minute before I left my home: “What’s the plan, Walter?” I tried to think through what I was about to do.
“I’ll just go over there and knock on the door,” but that’s not enough. “What if they overpower me and take us both hostage – and just drive away with us?”
I wasn’t thinking very clearly, because I concluded that I should at least disable our cars, so they couldn’t escape in our cars. That was silly; if they wanted to transport us, they probably had vehicles of their own. I also thought, maybe now I should call the local police. “And do what -- explain to some desk sergeant over at the 84th precinct that I was having trouble with drug smugglers and now my ex-girlfriend won’t answer the phone?” Yea, right. I figured, as far as the police were concerned, it would probably be best to just get a random cop on the street, better than calling someone in officialdom over at the precinct house, asking for assistance against drug traffickers.
Back to stupid ideas. I decided that I would disable Anna’s car; I don’t remember what the supposed logic was behind not also disabling my own car.
I took a knife from my toolbox; I was going to slash her tires. No one would be going anywhere in her car.
I had never slashed a tire before. It did not take long to learn how to do it; you just stick a knife in the side of the tire, away from the tread. I was surprised how easily the knife cut the tire. I flattened one tire; then I did the other three. I didn’t even consider the fact that I was going to have to buy her new tires one day. If I had been thinking prudently, I would have done just one tire, or maybe two – certainly, not all four.
After I finished with her car, I went to the back door of her building and took the elevator up to the second floor. I took a couple of deep breaths before I rang Anna’s doorbell. At first there was no answer, so I rang the bell again, but this time I rang the bell over and over. Anna answered the door, but she talked through the door; she wouldn’t open the door.
“Walter, just go home and call me on the telephone,” she said in a strained voice, over and over.
“Why? What’s going on in there?”
“Go home. Call me on the phone,” she kept saying. I became totally alarmed and drew the gun from the holster. “Is there someone there holding you? Open the door.”
I didn’t know what to do. I decided to show her the gun, thinking she would realize I was there to save her. I held up the gun, sideways so she could see it through the peephole in the door. Bad move.
She exclaimed, “Walter, why do you have a gun? Go away!”
By that time, I was convinced that she was being held against her will. I decided that I would fire the gun to attract police attention – to get those random street cops into the building, right now.
The apartment building’s hallway was completely indoors. There was no such thing as firing a round into the ground or firing into the air. If I was going to fire the gun, I was going to have to shoot at something indoors. The apartments had heavy metal doors. I decided to shoot a very flat trajectory shot at her door – a bullet that hit the door at such a flat trajectory would bounce off the metal, and then ricochet, with its energy largely spent, down the long hallway. Hopefully, the ricochet would not zing right back and smack right into my face.
Blam! I had fired. The ricochet missed me. I could hear running footsteps inside her apartment. I heard at least one voice inside the apartment; I wasn’t sure what was said or whether I heard more than one voice.
I waited, but I lost track of time – I’m not sure whether it was 30 seconds or a minute. I heard no further sounds. I fired again. There was a second explosive "Blam! No sounds followed the revolver's roar. I waited another minute. The thought jumped into my head: “What if they are hopping out her window. A person could jump to the ground; it’s not that far.” I decided that I would go downstairs to the lobby, so I could run around to the back of the building and see if men were trying to jump out her windows.
“Damn! Where are the police? Didn’t anyone hear those shots and call the police?”
I started down the staircase to the lobby. The gun was in my hand. I stopped for a second and put the gun back into my holster, covered by my shirt.
I barged through the stairwell door into the building’s lobby on the first floor. I was running fast, and my momentum carried me forward a few strides into the lobby.
Wow! There were at least eight cops – maybe even ten – in the lobby. They all had their guns drawn. Someone yelled out “That’s him.” There was a cacophony of voices: “Halt, now! Stop running!”
I stopped immediately and threw my hands into the air. I spread my fingers to make it easy to see that my hands were empty. I’ve seen the TV shows; I knew what to do. I stood motionless, except for my eyes. I scanned the room. I had never seen so many cops in one place, except for newsreels of cop funerals.
Most of the officers holstered their weapons, but a few of the ones closest to me had their firearms pointed dead at my head. I looked down into the barrel of a gun pointed right in my face; I could see the tip of its bullet in the chamber.
I spoke, in a quiet voice: “The gun is in a holster under my shirt on my left side.”
The cop holding his gun in my face changed his facial expression as another officer lifted my shirt and withdrew the Smith and Wesson. A cop got behind me, grabbed my arms and clamped on handcuffs.
Another officer started reciting the Miranda warning to me. I shocked them: “You have the right to counsel . . .,” I started reciting the Miranda warning in unison with him, “I know, the drill.” The policeman stopped the Miranda warning mid-sentence and blurted out: “Are you a federal agent?”
“No,” I replied, breathing deeply – trying to catch my breath. I spoke softly: “No, I’m not a cop, but get me out of here. There’s a woman in that apartment with the shot door, bring her with us. There may be men holding her against her will. If there are, they’re killers, but try to take them alive. Get us out of here. This is a matter of National security. Now, hurry, some of you, get upstairs! Somebody go around back, they may try to jump out the window.”
The three officers closest to me stared at me in shocked disbelief.
“What?” One of them said and pointed to the other officers. “Upstairs, now!”
Another officer took me by the arm and led me out of the building. Within a few seconds, I was in the back seat of a squad car. As I slumped down in the seat, I suddenly felt totally exhausted. There were blue and red lights flashing all over the place; I don’t know how many squad cars were there, but there were a lot.
The car sat by the curb for a few minutes, then several cops came out of the building walking alongside Anna. A cop was in the driver’s seat of the car I was in, and then a second officer got into the car at the same time Anna was coming out of the building. I asked the cop: “Is she okay?”, as I craned my neck trying to get a good look at Anna. She was being led to another squad car.
“She’s fine. She was alone in the apartment,” he responded. “Let’s go,” his command was directed to the policeman in the driver’s seat. The car shot away from the curb and sped down the street.
Ten seconds later, the cop in the passenger seat, turned to the back of the car and said: “What’s this all about? Does this have something to do with Ollie North and those missiles to Iran? Is this about the Contras?” I glared at him for a second, and I said: “I don’t know anything about that. Why do you ask me that?” He said something in reply, but I cannot remember how he responded. That officer’s name was Christopher Perham; that is his true name.
The 84th precinct house was only a two-minute drive away, not a long drive at all when the cars’ red and blue warning lights were flashing, and you can run all the stop lights.
Officer Perham led me into the station house. We stopped for a minute at the sergeant’s desk, and then I was led down a short hallway to a cell; the door was locked shut behind me. I was in a holding cell; I was alone.
I think I lost track of time. It may have been around 30 minutes later when I heard footsteps coming down the hall. The cell’s door had a large, barred window. A man stepped up to the window. He appeared to be in his late 30's; he was well-dressed, wearing a suit, he was well-groomed. He spoke with a Midwestern accent, with perfect diction. He was not a New Yorker.
“Mr. Lewis, I want to commend you for what you tried to do at Westover. I don’t think I have ever known of a greater individual act of bravery in the history of our country. Look, we know about what’s going on up at that base, and we’re working hard to bring it to a halt. But we need more time.”
I was leaning against the wall of my cell, still handcuffed. He was speaking in such a hushed tone that I took a few steps forward to be closer to the window. I didn’t know what to say; I didn’t know whether I should say anything at all.
“I need you to swear,” the man continued, “That you will tell no one about what is happening at Westover. We need more time to pull an airtight case together. I need your silence. Will you do that? Will you swear to me that you will tell no one what you saw? Will you do that for the good of the country? I’m sure that you, more than anyone, understand the seriousness of this situation. Can we count on you?”
I stared at him in silence for a few moments, as I collected my thoughts: “In 1970, I took an oath to protect the United States of America from all enemies domestic and foreign. Yes, you can count on me. I won’t say another word.”
“Good. I've heard a lot about you over the years; I knew we could count on you. Now look, you broke a bunch of laws this evening. You’re going to be charged with several felonies. That gun was yours, right?’
“Yea, it’s mine. I’ve had it for years. Is that surprising?”
“No, not at all. Don’t worry at all about prosecution. All the felony charges against you will be dropped before trial. The only thing you’ll be convicted of is the minor misdemeanor of having an unregistered handgun in your home. You won’t have to do any jail time or pay bail to get out of here in a day or two.”
In retrospect, it’s ironic. Until that moment, I really hadn’t even considered the fact that I had committed crimes trying to save Anna.
“Now, this is important,’ he spoke at a very hushed volume. “When you get out of here, a person will come to you. That person will state a code word. That code word is “Swordfish”. Never write down that word; never tell anyone that code word. When the person approaches you with the code word tell him everything you know. Can we count on you?”
“Yes, I understand.”
“Good. I knew we could depend on you.  Sir, I just want to say that I am in awe of the courage you have displayed. I am absolutely amazed in your presence. Don't take this the wrong way, but I am amazed you're still alive.”
"I hear you," was my answer. "I almost got killed two days ago at Westover."
"What -- by the Group?" he whispered.
"No, by a pack of wild dogs in the housing area. There were seven of them, but they may have been free-roaming guard dogs."
"How did you beat them?"
"Another miracle, although I didn't realize at the time that a miracle was happening." 
"That’s amazing. Were you alone at Westover?" he was whispering, as he smiled.

"Yea, I was by myself. I always work alone, especially when there is the prospect of danger. I know that the Group has so much manpower that the odds will always be stacked against me. So, I figure, there's no need for any friends to die along with me. Why have a mass casualty event when I could win, and that would be good. Or, if that's the end of the road, no need for anyone else to wind up dead, when it could just be me alone."

The man was expressionless as he nodded; he then started turning, as if to walk away. 
I blurted out when I realized he was leaving, "Wait a minute -- wait a minute. Who are you?"
He responded as he started down the hallway: “Don’t worry about that. When the person gives you the code word, all your questions will be answered. Don’t worry about anything. The Agency has you covered and protected.” And with that, he walked away from the window.
I stepped backwards and leaned against the cell wall. The handcuffs were beginning to hurt my wrists. I stood there for a few more minutes, and then I heard footsteps coming down the hall. A face appeared at the window. It was Officer Perham; he was unlocking the cell door.
“Okay, dude,” Perham motioned for me to come with him, “It’s time for your mugshot. Let’s go, guy. Start walking along that red line on the floor. Keep ahead of me.”  
This narrative is continued in Volume Three, Chapter Eight -- In solitary confinement, in jail, on August 14, 1987


CHAPTER FOUR
    
The Beginning
1949 – 1970

I have been asked numerous times over the years how I even knew that I should photograph the two stealth C-5 Galaxy transport planes, which I saw at Westover air base back in August 1987. I admit, at the time I did not fully realize how unusual the two aircraft appeared to be. I noticed two anomalies, but the information had not sunk into my head; I needed a little time to reflect on the oddities I had witnessed. Photography had been my hobby since around 1976. I took tons of pictures all the time. Plus, I would always take pictures of airplanes, because I was crazy in love with flying machines, especially jets, since as far back as a young child. I would have clicked off a few pictures of the C-5s with my 35mm camera even if I saw absolutely nothing strange about them.

My father was an Air Force pilot, and my adopted father was an Air Force pilot. I grew up on Air Force bases where airplane-loving, crazy little boys were the norm. I lived in England for 18 months starting in 1957, and in England airplane crazy children were considered completely ordinary. Furthermore, when I was around eight years old, and living in England, my father had given me a book on all the globe’s airplanes – “World Aircraft Recognition Manual by C.H. Gibbs-Smith and I. E. Bradford.” Due in part to the fact we had no television in England, I read the airplane book constantly. I virtually memorized the entire 270 pages, because I found the subject matter so completely fascinating – after all, it was about airplanes, and I was airplane crazy.

In 1958, my father transferred from England to Phalsbourg-Bourscheid air base in northeast France, near the border with Germany. The young American children at this base all attended an on-base elementary school. I was in the fourth grade since I was nine on the first day of school. 

After a few days into the school year, I was called into the principal’s office, along with my teacher. There were two other teachers also in Mr. Thompson’s office; plus, there were three older adults whom I had never seen before. I wasn’t in any trouble. “Well Walter, said the principal, “It is nice to finally meet you in person. Miss Renchen has said a lot of great things about you in class.” I smiled; I liked Miss Renchen, and I could sense that she liked me, because her face was always smiling when she looked at me. I liked her because she was nice and pretty. And she was very smart; she always knew the answers to all the children’s questions.

“Walter, I hear that you like books. Is that right?” I nodded my head and spoke several times as the principal questioned me for ten minutes. Principal Thompson asked “So, who taught you how to read so well? Miss Renchen says you are very good.” I told them that I had taught myself by reading my book about airplanes.

All the adults were staring at me. Principal Thompson said, “Walter, go ahead and read a few paragraphs from that book of yours. Read to us about the F-100. That’s a great plane that we see around here a few times a month.” He shuffled some papers on his desktop; he was looking for his handwritten notes regarding my book. He started to say something to me. “That’s on page number 30,” I quickly interjected “The information on the F-100 is on pages 30 and 31,” as I opened my book and flipped to page 30. I was looking down, so I missed the surprised expressions from two of the adults. I had finished Principal Thompson’s sentence and I knew the page number by heart.

When my parents spoke to me last night about going to the principal’s office, they had told me that there would be questions for me to answer and I probably would be asked to read some things out loud. So, this was no surprise. I paused for a second, and then asked, “Shall I start now?” Miss Renchen answered” Go ahead, Walter, take your time – start now.”
At nine years old, I had no idea how important the next few minutes would be in setting me on a path in life.  
I calmly read aloud from page 30 of my airplane book, “This descendent of a famous name propeller bird is a low-wing, single jet aircraft, with marked swept back on all surfaces. The wings are tapered and swept back with their tips well overlapping the roots of the tail plane there is no dihedral, and the optically small area of the wings makes the fuselage loom large in the aircraft as a whole.  
“The nose is exceptionally long chopped off at the front and pinched in giving it an intense look.  There is the usual swelling amidships and a particularly fat look at the point where the jet’s tailpipe protrudes on its own and provides a distinctive feature as the fin and rudder ride well in from the stern.  The fin and rudder leaning well back and there is a sharp kink in the fin and a straight cut top.  The tailplane, also strongly swept-back with no dihedral, is set very low on fuselage and is lower, in fact, than the wings, and the tips reached just beyond the air pipes.
“The aircraft is powered by 9,500 pounds of static thrust, and the engine is a Pratt and Whitney J 57 turbojet with afterburner. Its wingspan is 38 feet and nine inches. The area of the wing is around 300 square feet. The all-up weight is about 24,000 pounds. Top speed is 870 mph, which, of course, was at one time a World record.
“The initial rate of climb is over 15,000 feet per minute. The service ceiling for this aircraft is over 53,000 feet.  And the aircraft has an operational range of up to 2,500 miles. There are several variants of this aircraft; the most common is the F-100A. there is also the F 100 D which is actually a redesignated aircraft; it was previously called the F107A; there is the F 100C which is an interdiction fighter; and also, the F-100D, which is designed as an escort fighter and can also be used as a fighter bomber. I’ll just add that it is the F-100C that we see here at Phalsbourg. These aircraft fly over from Ramstein air base in Germany on training missions.”
I looked up from my book. The adults all looked shocked, except for my teacher; Ms. Renchen looked very proud. One of the three men asked a question: “Why is the amount of area of the wing important?” I instantly answered, “It is important because a larger wing area creates more lift, so even at slow speeds the jet will be stable in flight and it will have a shorter take off run, which is important at some airfields.”
The sixth-grade teacher spoke up “Where did you learn to read so well?  I answered that I had taught myself using a dictionary, because I like my favorite book a lot, so I read it a lot. “There’s no better book than my book on all the airplanes in the world.” 

Principal Thompson and the others questioned me for around ten minutes, and then he asked Miss Renchen to take me out in the hallway for a few minutes.

Since I was a young child, I did not understand why the principal and the other teachers stared at each other for what seemed like a long time after I spoke. Then Miss Renchen took me to a chair out in the hallway, located twenty feet down the corridor. “Wait here, Walter,” she said. I nodded ok as I sat down, and Miss Renchen went back into the principal’s office. She left the office door ajar a few inches. I could hear murmurs of conversation coming from the office, but I couldn’t hear the specific words of the conversation from where I was sitting. Every now and then I could faintly hear my name. They were talking about me. I was nosey as to what they were saying, so I quietly walked over near the open door and listened, although I could not be seen from inside the office. 

I could hear their words but much of what they said I did not understand. Miss Renchen was standing and talking directly to the principal “He is reading on the level of a high school senior,” she said, “It’s amazing. I read about this at teachers’ college, but to see it in the flesh is amazing. He’s a jean-yes. He even shows indicators of an eidetic memory. For example, he knew the page where that one airplane is in the book – page 30.” 

The teacher from seventh grade chimed in “No, these test scores say that his reading and comprehension are on a college level – not high school senior. Plus, I am floored. He says he taught himself with this book on airplanes and a dictionary. That’s simply unbelievable. Stunning. How are his people skills, Margaret?” Miss Renchen answered, “He’s well liked across the board. Very nice, calm; plus, I realize now that he probably hides his intelligence. He wants to fit in with others. George, you know that old saying that no one likes a smart ass.” Everybody had a big laugh about that.

Principal Thompson spoke up, “OK, so we all agree. We will, starting tomorrow, move Walter into the next higher grade. Into the fifth grade. Miss Wilson, passing him up two grades right now might lead to family problems because his sister is in our only sixth grade classroom. And elevating him to the seventh grade is out of the question, because he is small for his age, and we have a bullying problem with several of the boys in that grade’s classroom. So, the seventh grade would not be the right decision, although it seems clear that he could easily do the work there. There is no question his performance level is clearly in the jean-yes range. Heck, he could probably do college work right now, but that is a ridiculous proposition, since there are no English-speaking colleges within commuting distance. I would never raise that option to his parents.” 

There was the sound of screeching coming from a chair, a person had stood up. The teachers were about to come out of the office. 

I quickly, but quietly, scurried back to the assigned chair, just in time to sit down a second before Miss Renchen came into the hallway. She looked very sad, and I noticed tears running down her cheeks. I asked her, “Wht are you crying?” Miss Renchen told me that she was saddened because I would no longer be one of her students. “Starting tomorrow you are going to be the fifth grade with Miss Martin, Walter.” My response was immediate. “Do I have to do that? I want to stay in your class. I like your class.” Miss Renchen put her hand gently on my shoulder, “Walter you will like Miss Martin. And she already likes you. It is for the best. You already know all the things I will be teaching this year. I did not know until that moment what the trip to the principal’s office was all about. It was probably for the best that I did not know leaving Miss Renchen and my friends in the fourth grade might be the outcome. I do not perform well when I don’t want the outcome.

 Principal Thompson called my father’s squadron and asked Father to visit the school before the end of the day. Principal Thompson explained to Father later in the day, “We’re making this move to the fifth grade because Walter is reading on the level of a college student majoring in aeronautical engineering. That’s stunning for a fourth grader. The fact is, that is just as stunning for a child in the fifth grade, but the staff and I have weighed the realities and we’ve decided that the fifth grade is the proper fit for him at the present. If he were big for his age, we would put him in the seventh grade, because that’s our highest grade level at this school. But we’re having a bully problem in that class, and there might be clashes when some of the troublemakers there find such a small target in their midst.”

That evening before dinner, Mother said “That’s because you are doing well in class, and they want you to try another grade and do well there too.” 

I replied, “So, that’s good?” Mother said “Yes, that’s very good.” I was a little unsettled for a few minutes, but that feeling went away when I saw that we were having hot dogs and pancakes for dinner.  Mother would do that only for my birthdays, generally, since I liked hot dogs and pancakes so much.

There was another thing. “Mother, they called me a name – I heard them say three times that I’m a jean-yes. What’s that?” Mother looked puzzled at first and bobbed her head sideways, but after a few moments, she laughed.  “Walter, the word they said is “genius”, not “jean-yes.” That’s a good thing. Now wash your hands for dinner. We’re having something special tonight because you have done so well in the principal’s office.”

In short, I have been airplane crazy for years. It is not at all surprising to me that in August 1987 at Westover air base, I took several pictures of the C-5 Galaxy jet transports. Plus, after reflection later that day, I realized how incredibly special those two aircraft were because of two distinct features. First, the two aircraft were modified to achieve invisibility to radar tracking, a trait commonly referred to as “stealth”. Second, the airplanes had dirty tires. That meant they had landed and taken off from a dirt landing strip. Almost never would a huge jet transport land and takeoff from a dirt runway, such as those in remote Afghanistan and western Pakistan. The Air Force would not allow, under ordinary circumstances, a multi-million-dollar aircraft to be operated in such an inherently risky manner. Never before that day, nor since then, have I seen a jet with dirt-covered tires.

Detroit, Michigan in the 1940’s
I was born in Detroit, Michigan in March 1949, at Trumbull General Hospital. It’s important that you know the hospital of my birth, because Trumbull General was a Negro hospital – only Black people would go there, since in 1949 the practice of medicine in Michigan was segregated, as was the case in much of the United States of America.
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A circa 2010 picture of the Detroit house that was at one time known as Trumbull General Hospital
 
I am African American. That’s why I was born at Trumbull General Hospital. The use of the word “Hospital” is somewhat misleading. In fact, Trumbull General was little more than a single-family residence, although the staff did serve the Black community with pride and determination, despite technological shortcomings.
In the year 2025, many Americans are surprised to learn that a function as vital as medical care was segregated in a northern state as recently as 1949. But the facts are the facts. There are aspects of the country’s past that many Americans would prefer to forget, because, by 2025, the racism of the past embarrasses the American Whites of the present. 
The American Whites of 2025 call any embarrassing reference to their ancestors’ past conduct as dredging up “critical race theory”. The expression “critical race theory” refers to a cross-disciplinary intellectual and social movement that was fostered by civil rights academics and civil rights activists seeking to examine the interconnection of race, societal norms and the law throughout America. Such examination challenges mainstream American liberal approaches to issues of racial justice. The word “critical” in the expression is an academic term that refers to scholarly criticism rather than thoughtless blaming of White people for this country’s centuries-long history of slavery, abject genocide of millions of Native Americans and oppressive Jim Crow discrimination.  The cross-disciplinary intellectual and social movement first arose at universities and colleges in the 1970’s. 
American Whites often claim that critical race theory is being injected as course work into elementary and high schools, although such an assertion is nonsense. Critical race theory is taught nowhere in America at an academic level below college. What many Whites negatively refer to as critical race theory is simply actual American history without the manipulative omissions of facts that are embarrassing to White Americans in 2025. 
For example, a high school history text might blandly state that “many Native Americans perished during the colonization of the Americas by the Europeans.” However, the fact is, researchers estimate that 100 million Native Americans were killed during the European conquest of the Western Hemisphere – that being North, Central and South America, including the Caribbean islands. See David M. Smith, “Counting the Dead: Estimating the Loss of Life in the Indigenous Holocaust, 1492-Present”.  The Whites committed a massive genocide. The conquest of the Western Hemisphere was the largest number of acts of murder in human history. The Nazis’ slaughter in World War II pales in comparison. 
The Whites were able to murder so easily because they had firearms, and the Native Americans did not have many firearms until late in the conquest. 
Almost all the conflicts were massacres. In fact, from 1492 through the end of the so-called Indian Wars in the 1890’s, there were only about 2,600 White American soldiers killed in action by the Native Americans, and 274 of those deaths occurred in one 1872 shootout – the battle commonly referred to as Custer’s Last Stand.  See Military Wiki – Fandom “American Indian Wars”.
However, in the self-righteous American psyche, the battles look the way that American entertainment depicted them for decades on American television and in the movies. Specifically, the Indians would ride their horses around in circles getting shot and then falling to the ground. The Indians would manage to kill many White soldiers and settlers, up until the end of the TV show or movie. At the show’s end, White reinforcements would arrive and save the main characters from further drama, as the bulk of the attacking Indians would flee. The image presented was that of warfare, even though the actual conflict was one of successive massacres by Whites with guns brutally killing Brown human beings who were basically defenseless except for clubs, knives and arrows. Then, several decades ago, the American entertainment industry entirely stopped depicting such scenes, as the “Cowboys and Indians” action genre disappeared from American television and film. 
Actual American history would show that there was shameless slaughter of the Native Americans, but the Whites of the last several decades don’t want that to be said aloud. So, they shout, “No critical race theory,” whenever something embarrassing is about to be said, despite the fact most Whites do not even know what those three words mean.
It was within the above-described mindset that the decision was made to manipulate the situation in Afghanistan during the 1970’s, thereby provoking the Soviet invasion in December 1979. And it was within this context that the subsequent course of events led to the Afghan narcotics empire that was born and flourished under the influence of the United States of America during the 1980’s. Plus, in keeping with the American tradition of a blind eye regarding racial unpleasantries, the image of 1,600,000 dead women and children, during the Soviet war in Afghanistan, did not pollute the American media because the bodies were Brown, not White. Furthermore, the name of Gulbuddin Hekmatyar was only mentioned in the English-speaking media on three occasions during the 1980’s, and never was there any hint that America’s Afghan ally was a homicidal maniac who operated huge opium-growing plantations. 

Detroit 
Despite the pockets of discrimination in Detroit in the 1940’s, my parents had moved from Atlanta to Detroit to escape the more pervasive discrimination of the Jim Crow south. Black people could find jobs in Detroit; there were fewer “Whites Only” signs in Detroit.
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Kern’s department store, located in bustling downtown Detroit in 1942
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My birth name was Cleophus Walter Valentine, Jr. In 1964, my name was legally changed to Walter Lewis in a stepparent adoption proceeding in Michigan. My mother’s second husband, Edgar V. Lewis, became my adopted Father.
When I was a very young child – up until age four – I thought that Detroit was the greatest place in the entire World. It was my whole world. In the 1950’s, the residential neighborhoods were lush with huge green oak trees; most streets were completely canopied with oak leaves in the warm, humid summer months. The windless nights were a symphony of insect sounds and night birds. Mercifully, the mosquitoes were few, so you could sleep with open windows, without the need for screens.
There was plenty to do at my grandmother’s house because the Vancouver Street neighborhood was totally overrun with spirited children. And none of us little kids were allowed to cross the nearest big street – Grand River. Crossing Grand River was too dangerous, since there was major traffic constantly, and the drivers tended to speed along the multi-lane north/south thoroughfare. We were not even allowed to go to the other side of Vancouver, and it was only a two-lane residential street. We all knew that was because we might get run over if we tried to cross the street. Only later, we matured enough to know that meant that Tommie and Grandmother and Aunt Leanora loved Sandra and me. They didn’t want us to get run over.
So, the whole population of playmates was bounded on the east by the big street. We couldn’t even cross the alley behind the houses, because that’s where the rats were; plus, it was messy back there. But no need to worry about the mess – simple, no one ever went there except for the garbage men every week in their big trucks.

Heading towards the west, Vancouver ran forever – as far as the eyes could see, flanked by green lawn after green, manicured lawn. To the north was the other side of the street. Sandra and I knew nothing about the other side of the street; nobody did. And by nobody, I mean, among the gang of kids that were our playmates. We could see the other side of Vancouver – after all it was 100 feet away; it was right over there. But it really didn’t exist because none of us were allowed to cross the street. The other side of Vancouver might as well have been on Mars. It was another planet, which strangely had no children. What are the odds? Not a single child on our block lived “over there”.
Sandra was my big sister. She was much bigger than I and two years older. She knew about a lot of stuff, and she was always happy to teach me what she knew. And, unlike me, she knew about all sorts of things. I didn’t know much, but I liked learning, and Sandra would teach me some of the things she knew about.
Things like, “There is no fat man named Santa Claus who brings presents to anybody’s house on Christmas Eve,” she confided in a hushed tone. Grandmother was just downstairs in the living room, not far away with her super ears. Sandra had told me that she knew a big secret. A really big secret. When you are six, secrets are more valuable than money.
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Misty, water-colored memories – Aunt Leanora, Grandmother Mundy and Tommie

“What? No, no.  Yes, there is Santa Claus. Tommie said so, and so did Aunt Leanora and so did Grandmother and Grandpa. I saw him on TV”, was my incredulous response, “Tommie told me so at the Hudson’s store yesterday when we were looking at toys.”
Sandra shook her head from side to side. “I don’t know why Tommie says that. She says it all the time. I know. They all do. All of them.” Sandra was sneaking open the door to the staircase that led up to the attic; she was being quiet, as her hand slapped quietly against the wall leading up to the attic. She was searching by hand for the light switch.
When the light came on, we knew what we must always do next and quickly: move fast and soundlessly up to the attic. This meant passing the Ouija board that was leaning against the wall on the staircase’s landing. We were both afraid of the Ouija board because it had pictures of two witches on it. I didn’t want to see those scary witches, but I did want to see the big secret Sandra said was so important. It was only a matter of a few seconds for us to reach the attic. Sandra was standing over three large cardboard boxes sitting at the far reaches of the attic and pulled back the old sheet that covered the boxes.
“Look here,” she said, while pointing inside the largest box.
One look and I was shocked. “What?” I exclaimed softly; we didn’t want Grandmother to catch us because we were sneaking, and when we were sneaking no one could ever know.
“It’s the airplanes. And Roy Rogers’ guns, too.” I was stunned silly as I peered at the new toys that were still in their brand-new boxes. “Why are these here, Sandra? Santa’s supposed to brings these things on Christmas Eve.” I grabbed one of the airplanes’ boxes and squeezed the cellophane in my fingers, trying to tear it open.
Sandra screeched, but in a whisper, “No. Walter, don’t open it,” She took the toy airplane from my hands and pushed my hand away. “They’ll know we saw this stuff if you do that. You can’t open it now.” I had a look of disappointment on my face, but it passed in a few seconds as I grasped Sandra’s point. “OK,” I surrendered. Like I said, Sandra was a lot smarter than me about what we should do to stay out of trouble.
“These are the Christmas presents,” she whispered. “There is no Santa Claus. It’s Tommie. She bought the airplanes, and look,” her finger was pointing to a colorful box, “There is the doll I told Santa to bring me. It’s Tommie.” Sandra closely inspected the airplane’s box; the cellophane was a little dented, but it wasn’t torn.
“That’s OK, she murmured, as she closed the huge box holding all the toys and carefully spread the sheet across the box, so it looked just like it looked before we came to the attic and saw the whole thing.
We crept quietly back downstairs to the second floor. Grandmother was back in the living room; she had gone out on the house’s front porch briefly to sweep a dusting of snow off the porch’s floor. We were successful once again. We never got caught when we were sneakers because we were good at being sneaky. At least, by the date of that Christmas, we had never been caught. Nothing lasts forever. All children eventually get caught doing something they are not supposed to do, and in the Black society of Detroit in the 1950’s, that meant a spanking was coming for the little bad ones who get caught. All the kids on Vancouver Street knew that spanking would be their parents’ punishment for bad kids who get caught.
Sandra whispered to me as if to put an exclamation point on my mind-blowing experience: “Tommie is Santa Claus, and I bet Grandmother and Aunt Leonora know it. I bet they know. I don’t know why they’re lying all the time about it. There’s no Santa Claus. It’s Tommie. I bet it’s been Tommie all along. I bet. You wanna bet me?” I had learned to not bet Sandra anymore after losing eight straight times. Sandra was being bad talking about betting. Tommie had told Sandra that she wasn’t to get me betting her on stuff. Because I always lose.
My mother’s name was Tommie. When we were very young children, both Sandra and I called our mother “Tommie, I need some socks,” or “Has Tommie come home from the phone building?” Everybody else called her Tommie – Grandmother, Aunt Leanora and all their friends – so Sandra and I called her Tommie as well. We had no inkling that was a little strange, since many of the kids on our street called their mother by her given name. That was life on Vancouver, and life was good, as far as I knew.
My father was not in Detroit that Christmas because he was over there in Korea flying big planes in the war. It never occurred to me to ask what “war” is all about, but it all sounded important. It was too bad that he wouldn’t be home when I got the airplanes and the gun, but I wasn’t feeling too bad about the whole thing because Tommie said Val’s coming home soon, but he can’t come now because Korea is far from Detroit. Korea was so far away you couldn’t drive there in a car, even if you drove all day and night.
Grandmother was so funny. She was always saying funny things and people would laugh out loud.
“There’s three things about Walter that you can tell for sure,” she would tell Tommie’s friends, “Right now, at four years old, you can tell that boy’s going to be a preacher.”
Everybody would laugh. “That’s right, Mrs. Mundy. You got that right. He’s always preaching to me even now.” I wasn’t talking about church, necessarily, but I had opinions on a lot of things, and I wanted to make sure that my friends and Tommie’s friends knew where I stood on things. Anyway, Tommie’s friends were always interested in what I had to say.
“Yea,” Grandmother would be entertaining the whole room, “That boy is crazy about those airplanes – all the time, and he never misses seeing a pretty woman. He’s watching them coming and going,” she would say in an odd tone of voice.
All of Tommie’s friends would just crack up when Grandmother would talk like that. When I was four, I did not understand why my mother’s friends would find Grandmother’s odd tone of voice all that funny.
Aunt Leonora would say something like: “Especially you, Elaine, with all that switching you do.” Everybody would laugh, especially Elaine, and Elaine would shoot back: “Listen Butt, I don’t do any more switching than you do, like you at the Christmas party last week. How do you think you got that nickname? People don’t call you Butt because they just forgot your name.” Then everybody would laugh hard for some reason.

I was in love with Elainey. She was so pretty. Many of Tommie’s friends were pretty. I was always happy when they came to the house. Especially in the summertime.
Tommie and Aunt Leonora had a lot of pretty friends. They were all so nice to me; I loved to hug them and play kisses. And they all thought I was so cute; they would tell me that every time they came to the house, or when Tommie took me places, like downtown to Hudson’s department store or to church or to the telephone company building. I really loved the telephone company building, especially at Christmas time. It seemed like all Tommie’s friends liked to hug and kiss, too. But I knew now, they were all lying about that Santa Claus thing.
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Sandra and Walter – 10 minutes after busting the Santa Claus story
All the people at the telephone company Christmas party were singing about Santa Claus – every last one of them. And Santa Claus had been there, too! And he had a sleigh and everything. There were two reindeer with him. He had a red suit and boots – just like in the pictures in the magazine on the table in the dining room.
“All this going on and actually it’s Tommie all along”, I thought. I wondered if my father knew about this. I would ask Val when he comes home from Korea soon. He must know, but I remember that he had told me that Santa would bring the airplanes, including the ones like he flies. He didn’t say anything about Tommie getting the airplanes.
It is not surprising that two children who call their mother by her given name of “Tommie” would also call their father by his nickname, which was “Val.”
“Sandra and Walter come downstairs,” our grandmother was back inside – she was in the living room. The porch was swept clean of snow – luckily there was only a dusting. “The people are coming. We’re going to take pictures.”
Sandra grabbed me by the arm and said “Don’t say anything about Santa Claus. Don’t tell them we know.”
“Why?” I answered, “I wanna know…”
“No. We found them sneaking. You know we never tell them about sneaking. And I don’t know why they were telling us a story but make it like we don’t know about anything. Christmas is in two days. You’ll see the same presents. You watch.”
“Okay,” I said. Sandra always knew what’s best. She would tell me all the time: “That’s because she’s older and bigger and knows things.”
Grandmother was downstairs calling to us: “Sandra, Walter come get your picture taken. Elaine’s here.”
We tiptoed quickly down the attic stairs, once again intentionally avoiding eye contact with the Ouija board and its witches. When we reached the second floor Sandra shouted back: “We’re coming, Grandmother. I’m buttoning Walter’s sweater.”
When Elaine saw the two of us coming down the stairs from the second floor to the living room, she exclaimed, “Look at them – they are just darlings,“ she said smiling at me.
Sandra answered, “Yes, Elaine, we’ve been really good.”
I ran up to Elaine and hugged her, as always; I loved her perfume and how soft she was. And then I said, as only a five-year old, cute little boy can: “Hi, Elainey, sweetie. We’ve been so, so good – Sandra and me – we’ve been just perfect.” The house soon filled with people – adults and kids. Sandra said there were 47 people there at one time. Sandra could count high into the numbers. She could count as high as 100. Grandmother’s friend Clara was there with her two grandkids. We hardly ever saw those two – Michael and his sister – because they lived far away on the other side of Detroit.
Two days later it was Christmas morning. There was no question about it. The toys were all there under the tree. All of them, including the little plane and the big plane we saw in the attic. The cellophane on the little plane’s box still showed the dent where I had almost torn it open. In retrospect, I chuckle because I called the planes “little” and “big”, when in fact the two model planes were the same size. However, one aircraft was a fighter plane, which was much smaller than the bomber, and that had been explained to me by Val many, many times before he left for that place called Korea. I always wanted to talk about the airplanes, especially the little ones that were so fast in the sky.
The little plane was a model P-51D Mustang, as flown by the 332nd Fighter Group, and the big plane was a B-25J Mitchell bomber, as flown by the 477th Bombardment Group, the fighter plane and bomber units of the Tuskegee Airmen.
Sandra and I had hoped that Val would be home for Christmas, but he couldn’t get back to Detroit, since he was so far away. If we had been older, we would have understood there was little chance of Val getting home to Detroit for Christmas because if there were any favors to be given out to the troops by the U.S. Air Force, Val would not be a recipient. In December 1953, Val was still being punished by the Air Force for trouble he got into back in April 1945, way before he and Tommie were married, and that was long before Sandra and I came along in his life.
As I think back to those days of innocence, I kind of chuckle because of my ignorance. For example, when Val was away in the Korean War, Tommie had told Sandra and I that planes were needed to move supplies around so that the men would have enough food to eat. And the men needed soap and tooth paste to keep themselves happy as they moved around the country doing “a lot of things.” It never occurred to me to question any further regarding the details of what people were doing in Korea. Plus, I must have seen news reports on TV, but apparently, I was just too young and dumb to pay much attention to them. I say all that because I must confess to this: I was totally ignorant of the fact that sometimes people got killed during wars. And those people never come home unless it’s in a casket.
Of course, the reality was as follows: The adults around Sandra and I were intentionally masking the nature of war, because they did not want us to worry about such gloomy thoughts. Their masking was effective. It was not until years later that I learned that people are sometimes killed during wars. No one in my grandmother’s house let on the slightest hint to the young children that Val might get killed in Korea. Not a single hint, and that was the way it should be around little ones 3 and 5. Nor was there any hint that flying itself was inherently dangerous, that sometimes airplanes crash in a ball of fire. When I was a small child, I did not know such adult things. All I knew from as far back as I can remember was this: Being a pilot was the most wonderful life imaginable. Pilots kept everyone safe; pilots were able to soar through the air, and nothing could be better than flying like a magnificent bird. Pilots could reach out and touch the beautiful, blue sky.
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2ndLt. Cleophus “Val” Walter Valentine
September 18, 1925 – January 13, 2006
Val was a Tuskegee Airman
Veteran of World War II, the Berlin Airlift and the Korean Conflict
Major Valentine was a career pilot in the U.S. Air Force
This link is about the Tuskegee Airmen – The Red Tails – in World War II who fought against the Nazi fighter planes over Europe. The German Nazis were flying their lethal Bf-109 fighters painted with their sinister black Balkenkreuz crosses on their wings and body. Then came the infamous Me-262 jet fighters that were invented by Hitler’s brilliant engineers. The lethal Me-262 was by far the fastest aircraft in the world at that time   

Here is a second Red Tails video

The 332nd Fighter Group – the Red Tails – gets its P-51D Mustang fighters  airborne

Courage has no color

The success of the 332nd Fighter Group, the Tuskegee Airmen, in World War II is beyond dispute. It was claimed for years that the Tuskegee Airmen were the only fighter group in Europe who could boast that they never lost a single bomber, under their protection, shot down by the Balkenkreuz black-cross adorned German fighter aircraft through their entire tour of duty in Europe. No other fighter group or squadron could come anywhere near making such a claim. However, decades later, that record was disputed, and an arguable case made that the 332nd lost 27 bombers during its European tour. In order to appreciate that number of bombers lost, one must know that the other fighter groups lost on average 46 bombers under their protection, destroyed by German fighters – many more American flight crew members lost their lives.

There is also a second amazing feat that was accomplished by the Tuskegee Airmen, who attacked an enemy capital warship, a large Italian vessel, in the Mediterranean, and destroyed that warship using only machine gunfire. In no other, similar incident during World War II where fighter aircraft attacked a large warship was the ship so badly damaged that it was rendered useless. The Tuskegee Airmen destroyed that warship.

Another point of honor regarding the Tuskegee Airmen is set forth by noted aviation historian Zellie Rainey Orr in her well-researched “Heroes In War – Heroes At Home – First Top Guns”.  Specifically, in 1949 pilots of the Tuskegee Airmen’s 332nd Fighter Group won the first Air Force-wide Top Gun competition, which was held that year at Las Vegas Air Force Base in Nevada.
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That’s right. In 1949, the Tuskegee Airmen proved themselves to be the very best fighter pilots in the entire U.S Air Force in the gunnery competition known as Top Gun. It is ironic that soon following the Top Gun victory, the Air Force disbanded the Tuskegee Airman fighter and bomber squadrons. The Black squadron title numbers were mothballed, and the Black pilots were integrated into the previously all-White fighter squadrons throughout the Air Force. However, most of the Black fighter pilots during the 1950’s were stationed in Europe, where they acted as a deterrent to any Soviet thoughts of starting a war against the United Sates or the NATO countries.

In January 1949, the Chief of Staff of the U.S. Air Force sent out a directive to each Air Force group requesting their participation in an aerial weapons competition. Four months later in May 1949, Harry T. Stewart, Jr. joined the 332nd Fighter Group’s three-member propeller division pilot team destined to compete at the Air Force’s inaugural “Top Gun” team competition. Understand that “team competition” is based on the cumulative performance of each of the unit’s three pilots; this is like the scoring of a high school track meet. 
A grueling 10-day marathon, the competition comprised six events: aerial gunnery at 20,000 feet, aerial gunnery at 12,000 feet, dive bombing, skip bombing, rocketing firing, and panel strafing. 
The Tuskegee Airmen’s three-man team were all young, bold pilots who could fly the hell out of their F-47N aircraft. In fact, the F-47Ns were obsolete by 1949; the propeller aircraft was a variant of the P-47 Thunderbolt that was flown in the early days of World War II. Stewart and his team won against U.S. Air Force fighter groups who were flying far more advanced propeller aircraft than the F-47N. Nevertheless, the Tuskegee Airmen led the Top Gun three pilot team competition from the start all the way through to the finish of the performance marathon.
In addition to Stewart, the F-47N team included the 99th Squadron’s James H. Harvey, the 300th Squadron’s Captain Alva Temple, as well as the 99th Squadron’s First Lieutenant Halbert Alexander, who served as an alternate pilot. Staff Sergeant Buford A. Johnson functioned superbly as the team’s aircraft maintenance crew chief.
The results of the competition were totally absent from the Air Force archives until 1995.
In fact, for 55 years following their Top Gun victory, the whereabouts of the trophy from the event was unknown. Essentially, the 1949 White people had refused to give the three-foot-high silver trophy to the Blacks, and then one or more of the Whites hid the trophy for a lifetime in Dayton, Ohio.  Zellie Rainey Orr diligently pursued research on the trophy’s location, and she found the Top Gun trophy years later in Ohio. She then arranged the presentation of the trophy to the Tuskegee Airmen. 
When I was a child, I liked to hang around the planes and the pilots. There was always playful banter among them, mostly talking about flying. One playful Black pilot called out in front of a handful of Black pilots who were shooting the breeze in the air base’s grocery store parking lot. He said “There is a secret that the Whites are hiding from the World. Most White American men don’t fly airplanes any better than they play basketball. They just plain aren’t very good at it,” he paused for a second and then added amid the raucous laughing whoops from his audience. “Now, the British, that’s a different story entirely. The British can fly their damn airplanes.” 

The other three Black pilots, who were killing time while their wives shopped for groceries, started laughing and chiming in with similar jokes.  The statement is funny because it was totally unexpected, but the men were laughing because it’s true. Black pilots, as well as objective third party observers, would oftentimes agree. And this proposition was powerfully supported by the Black pilots’ Top Gun victory in 1949. 

Soon after the Top Gun tournament, the Pentagon broke up the Tuskegee Airmen fighter and bomber squadrons pursuant to President Truman’s Executive Order 9981, which set in motion the integration of the American armed forces on July 26, 1948.


April 1945
Freeman Field, Indiana
Home of the North American Aviation B-25J Mitchell medium attack bomber
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Home of the Tuskegee Airmen’s 477th Bombardment Group in 1945
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1st Lt. Cleophus “Val” Walter Valentine in the pilot’s seat of his B-25J at Freeman Field
A very famous example of the B-25 in action is the June 1942 attack on Tokyo that was meant to avenge Japan’s December 7th attack on Pearl Harbor. This attack is known as the Doolittle Raid; it was named after Colonel Doolittle, the aviation pioneer who planned and led the mission. In this air assault, the B-25B’s took off from the deck of the aircraft carrier USS Hornet, an extremely dangerous maneuver for such a large airplane – attempting to take-off from the very short flight deck of an aircraft carrier. This was something that had never been attempted before that day – and this would never be done again. There was the frightening peril of crashing on take-off – and the crashed bomber would then immediately be run over by the one zillion pound aircraft carrier. 
All the flight crew members on the Doolittle Raid were volunteers because it was genuinely suspected that this was a one-way trip – a suicide mission. And to make matters worse, the Hornet task force was discovered by Japanese vessels as it approached the scheduled launch point. Fearing that the discovery of the task force would ruin the element of surprise, the decision was quickly made to launch the bombers immediately to reach their targets before the Japanese realized that the task force was so near the Japanese mainland. This caused the aircraft to launch more than 100 miles farther from Japan than the original plan. Consequently, it was known at the point of take-off that there was probably not enough airplane fuel onboard to make a safe landing in our ally Mainland China after the bombing attacks on Tokyo and several other cities inside Japan 
The Tuskegee Airmen were not in existence at the time of the Doolittle mission; the Black men were literally still students at Tuskegee College studying aviation. However, the mission is a good example of the performance of the aircraft and the bravery that was expected of all B-25J flight crews during the perilous days of World War II.
The Doolittle Raid
Some might ask: Where do you find men and women like these? Answer: They are born in America and then raised by supportive families and communities. The Doolittle Raid took place just six months after the attack on Pearl Harbor. Emotions were virtually limitless at that time, but the fact is this: Most military pilots have dreamed of flying for the United States of America ever since they were young children. That is all they ever really wanted to do – fly airplanes in the defense of their home – from sea to shining sea. Such kids are growing up all over America in cities, and small towns, on farms, in the coal mining hills of Appalachia, and the sun-drenched mesas of the Southwest. And these kids are growing up on military bases. There were certainly many on military bases, and I know this firsthand, because I was such a kid, and there were plenty of other fired-up little boys and girls just the same as me in the Air Force base neighborhoods where I was raised over the years.
Pearl Harbor I

Pearl Harbor II
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          Eight men of the 477th Bombardment Group, at Freeman Field, Indiana in 1945

In April 1945, the Tuskegee Airmen’s 477th Bombardment Group was assigned to Freeman Field, a United States Army Air Corps base that was located near Seymour, Indiana, in the southeastern region of that state. This is where a series of events unfolded that would become known in American history as the Freeman Field Mutiny. In order to understand the Freeman Field Mutiny, it is necessary to realize what race relations in the United States were like in the 1940’s. One can sum up those relations in three words: Segregated and oppressive.

Many decades of Jim Crow oppression in America was changing in the 1940’s, but any such change was due to the active demands of the Black civil rights movement of that time. In fact, the very existence of the Tuskegee Airmen came about because of the threat of civil disturbance surrounding demands by Blacks for access to employment opportunities with the Federal government, including the military.
Although individual Blacks had been involved in aviation for decades, it was not until the fall of 1940 that the U.S. War Department was confronted by demands for full participation in military service, as well as employment in the defense industry. In the spring of 1941, one of the titans of that era’s civil rights movement, A. Phillip Randolph, confronted President Roosevelt with a proposal for a commission that would ensure fair employment practices within government agencies and in businesses fulfilling government contracts. Such a commission would require either Congressional approval, or, at the very least, an executive order from the White House. Randolph punctuated his proposal with the pledge that he would bring 100,000 Blacks to Washington on July 1, 1941, for a mass demonstration unless the President improved the status quo.
President Roosevelt probably looked upon Randolph’s proposal as a threat. He wanted neither an equal employment commission nor a mass protest march in Washington. Congressional disdain for an employment commission was obvious in many regions of the country, not just the South. However, the specter of a huge civil rights march in Washington was influential, because Roosevelt realized that such a march would probably turn into a bloody confrontation with the district’s police force or counterdemonstrators.
Randolph was adamant. As a part of his proposal for a commission, was a demand for the establishment of centers where Blacks would be trained for skills in all branches of the aviation corps – pilots, bombardiers, gunners, mechanics, navigators and radio operators – to establish full access by Blacks to the air corps.
After a good deal of negotiations, Roosevelt chose to establish an employment commission and open access to the military services, rather than risk the spectacle of civil strife in Washington. Access to the Army Air Corps was established, and the training of fighter pilots began. It was not until more than two years later that the War Department agreed to form a bombardment group that would fly the Mitchell B-25J close support, medium bomber. This group was designated as the 477th Bombardment Group, and the unit was activated on January 15, 1944, at Selfridge Field, outside Detroit.
Segregation was not a social system that encouraged pride among the commanders of the 477th. The three White commanders that were pivotal in the 477th chain of command were: First, General Henry H. “Hap” Arnold, who was the Commanding General of the Army Air Corps. Second was Major General Frank O’Donnell Hunter, who was the commander of Freeman Field, the Bomb Group, and the First Air Force. Third was Colonel Robert R. Selway, Jr., the White officer who was designated as the unit Commander of the 477th.
What were the conditions leading up to the mutiny? An in depth account has been provided by Flight Officer James C. Warren, a member of E Squadron, in his 1996 authoritative work “The Tuskegee Airmen Mutiny At Freemen Field”.
Flight Officer Warren describes the roots of the Freeman Field situation as follows:
“Maj. Gen Hunter was an unreconstructed advocate of the unwritten policies of the past. He adamantly insisted on having his way in command of black officers. All who knew him, especially the black officers, were aware that he rigidly opposed the mixing of the races. On several occasions he had written and talked about his views. He was aware that Blacks hated segregation, yet his prejudice was too fixed to allow that fact to alter his attitude. Worse he made special efforts to implement and reinforce these attitudes whenever possible.
“The impact of Hunter’s attitude on the combat training of the 477th was undoubtedly substantial, but Hunter’s racist attitude also extended to an effort to affect the social life of his Black officers. Specifically, Hunter felt that Black officers should not be allowed to utilize the base Officers Club. Hunter insisted that the Freeman Officers Club should be for the exclusive use of the base’s White officers.
“Making matters worse, was the fact that the civilian community of Seymour, Indiana was itself a segregated area:
“Seymour’s population of 8,000 people included no more than 75 black civilians. Most were farm hands, porters, and janitors scattered throughout the surrounding area. The community would not accept or intermingle with the Black troops either socially or in their daily business. Restaurants, bars, hotels, and taverns refused to serve them. Typically, some local grocery stores refused to sell groceries to wives of the Black officers. A few officers and enlisted men attempted to force restaurants to serve them, claiming equal rights since they were members of the United States armed services. However, the restaurant owners and merchants remained firm in their refusal. Several of the local merchants in Seymour posted such signs in their windows as “Colored will not be served.”
“From the standpoint of Hunter and Selway, what needed to be done regarding the Officers Club at Freemen was classic segregationist ideology. According to Base Regulation 85-2, there would be two Officers Clubs, a nice one for the White officers and a not nearly as nice club for the Black officers. The two-club solution devised by Hunter and Selway ignored Army Regulation 210-10, paragraph 19, dating from 1940, that specifically opened the officers’ clubs on all posts, bases, and stations to all officers. However, it was routine in America for officer clubs to ignore Regulation 210-10, and many base facilities were segregated in the South, as well as in the Northern states.
“After a series of meetings, the Black officers of the 477th decided to break the base regulation by entering the White officers club and seeking service. During March and April 1945, small groups of Black officers attempted to enter the White officers club. The Black men were refused entry and then they were arrested by the base police.”
Val was arrested on April 13, 1945, and became one of 101 Black officers that were caught up in the so-called mutiny. All were reassigned to Godman Field in Kentucky, to await court-martial. The incident hit the Black media across America, and there was an outcry of support from Black communities around the country. Under public pressure, the charges against all the officers except three were dropped. Three men were prosecuted to the full extent of the law, and their lives were ruined. One of the three men, attended law school after the war, graduated and passed the California bar exam on his first try. But he was never admitted to the Bar because he had a felony conviction from his attempt to buy a beer at Freeman Field’s White officers club.
The official charges against Val were dropped within a few weeks, but as he related to me years later, he received a lot of retribution over the years and no favors. He would not expect to be among the few officers allowed to travel home on vacation at Christmas. That is the sort of privilege that would never be extended to someone who had been arrested at Freeman Field, not even years after the charges had been officially dropped, and notwithstanding the 1948 Executive Order by President Truman that officially ended segregation in the U.S. military.

So, even though Val was a good pilot, the Air Force was slow to promote him or give him war missions in which he could gain fame. Even though he was a bold pilot in the B-25J; he loved to fly low on the deck and maneuver with bold abandon barely higher than the trees. But perhaps it was a good thing that he didn’t fly the hottest aircraft or stay in the Air Force for decades, because there is an oft repeated saying among aviators:
There are very few old, bold pilots. Harry T. Stewart, Jr., is one of the few.                                                           Plus, Lt. Colonel Stewart is an author
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A person might ask the following question: The material concerning the Tuskegee Airmen is interesting, but what does it have to do with heroin smuggling out of Afghanistan? The connection is as follows: Segregation and bigotry created the Tuskegee Airmen. Many within the American government did not expect that Blacks would perform well in the role of modern warriors. That was racism pure and simple. Despite the success of the fighter pilots, many in the Air Corps were still willing to put the bomber group through hell simply because of the color of their skin. Traditions of bigotry change very slowly. Witness the fact that a few decades later, the decision was reached to put the non-White Afghans through a hell in which 1,600,000 Brown civilians would be treated as pawns and killed. Can anyone even imagine the United States doing that to some White country on the border of the Soviet Union? For example, how about Finland?
In the 1950’s heroin was, by design, a problem only on the Black and Brown sides of town. Although the 1972 movie “The Godfather” was fiction, there were parts that rang true to fact. Take for example the scene in Godfather I where Don Giuseppe of the American Mafia pointed out to the other Mafia leaders that the exclusive target of his lucrative drug business was “the coloreds”. The sentiment was the same within the Group. The Group’s heroin distribution in 1948 and thereafter was aimed at Black and Brown people, so it was not deemed to be a bad thing by the newcomers to the heroin business. 

Detroit
So, there we were in December 1953 celebrating Christmas without Val, and that seemed normal to me because he was always somewhere flying planes – like Korea. And then after Korea there was flying to be done in Japan. I didn’t really know where those places were, but I knew they were too far away to come home, not even for Christmas.
Decades later, when I look back at that Christmas party, I realize that I only saw Clara a few times after 1953, although Grandmother would speak to her often by telephone. I saw Michael a few more times over the years. Twenty years later his life ended in a hail of bullets. He chose the wrong path in life. He adored money and the things that money could buy. He became a street-seller of heroin in the 1970’s. One afternoon, he was in his old neighborhood to visit his mother when a contract killer – a woman – shot him dead on his mother’s front porch.
My recollection is that the day was warm, and Michael parked his expensive car down the block from his mother’s house on the east side of Detroit. He was a good-looking man and enjoyed dressing in expensive clothes that the ladies found attractive. So, he was not surprised when a pretty sister called out to him, as she sat in the passenger seat of a parked car. She was alone in the vehicle.  
“Hey, good looking,” she said flirtatiously, “need a ride?” Michael figured this was going to be a new conquest. He smiled as he changed direction and approached the car. He was only a few yards from the passenger door when the woman raised her hand. She held a 357 Magnum revolver, and she immediately fired three rounds into his chest. Michael was stunned and stumbled backwards before instinctually running 20 yards to his mother’s house, before collapsing on the front porch.
The woman strode slowly to the porch. With dying breaths, Michael pleaded for his life. She said nothing as she exploded his head with a final shot. It was nothing personal; just a rival gang taking over some new territory for heroin street sales. There were witnesses. The assassination was in broad daylight. But all the witnesses developed total amnesia by the time the police arrived.  
Winter was over and spring of 1954 was well underway when one Saturday afternoon, Tommie and Grandmother had made lunch for the six of us – Aunt Leanora, Sandra, and me – and Grandpa. We were seated at the kitchen table, and I was enjoying one of my favorite meals – hot dogs. That’s when I heard a rumbling sound in the distance. My ears focused as the rumble turned to a roar after a few seconds. I leaped out of my chair and ran out the kitchen door onto the back porch, jumped off the porch, and then I bounced into the backyard.
Tommie yelled at me, “Walter, what are you doing? Come back here right now!”
I was incapable of hearing a word she said, because my childish attention at the age of five was focused solely on that roar. I knew that sound from what I had seen and heard on television and in the movies. That screeching roar was coming from a jet. In fact, there were four jets flying low across Detroit in tight formation. In most likelihood, the day was Armed Forces Day.
I did not know at the time, but from my recollection, I later knew the planes to be F-80 Shooting Stars, probably from the 439th Fighter-Bomber Wing that was assigned to Selfridge air base located a few miles outside Detroit.
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I had never seen a jet before that moment, and my excitement was totally overwhelming. “Grandpa,” I exclaimed in a delighted yell, “You saw them, Grandpa? Jets! 
Grandpa was in the backyard cleaning the brick barbeque grill, and he was smiling at me as he rubbed his brow in the sun, his straight, silver hair shone brightly. “We saw them, didn’t we! Oh, yea, they were fast and low!”
“Grandpa, one day I’m gonna fly fast jets. Just like them, Grandpa.” I had just about lost my mind. My arms were outstretched from the sides of my body, like the wings of those jets, and I was running around in circles in the backyard as fast as I could move. It was like I was flying a jet. 
And that was the only thing in the world that I wanted to do when I grew up – fly fast jets.

Grandpa was, and always will be, my very best friend: “I bet you will, Walter. I bet you will,” were Grandpa’s words of encouragement. Grandpa and I always talked about a lot of things. He enjoyed studying history and telling me stories about the past. I never met Marianne, Grandpa’s late wife; she died before I was born. Grandpa cherished the photographs he had of her, and he always kept Marianne’s pictures displayed in his apartment, which was in the basement of Grandmother’s home on Vancouver street.
I could barely hear him over the roaring sounds I was making as I ran fast around the yard in circles. Fast – just like those silver jets.
A question might be raised, as follows: What does this background have to do with heroin smuggling? The Group is a collection of corrupt individuals who are cleverly hiding within and behind the heroic, valiant members of the U.S. military and civil servants. The Group takes advantage of the fact that many in America and abroad will in most likelihood not believe this Message’s claim that there is a criminal syndicate that exists within the American military. Many people feel that the Nation’s military should be honored and admired for its service to our country. That is a perfectly legitimate sentiment. However, this is real life; this is not a Hollywood entertainment spectacle. In real life there are bad people, greedy people, racist bigots and malevolent people in every large organization. The military, our intelligence community and law enforcement agencies are no exceptions. Adults should not close their eyes in order to see the picture they want to see. There are many people who will do exactly that. There is no one more blind than the person who does not want to see.
 The existence of the Group does not mean that everyone in the organization is a drug pusher. It precisely means that there are drug pushers hiding within those organizations, and these corrupt individuals intend to steal the power and hide behind the valor of our public servants.
A vital part of eyes wide open is the realization of the negative, highly influential role played by race in America. And that role is specifically powerful in the lives of Black Americans. I think that point can be solidly demonstrated in my own life story. There are many things that came to pass in my life that were the direct result of being born Black in America. For centuries, America was a slaveholding, oppressive society that functioned in large part to favor its Whites. Over the decades of the last century, there have been substantial improvements regarding this issue. However, there is an axiom that applies here: The fruit does not fall far from the tree. In 2025, there are still many Whites who favor the days of old when oppressive domination was commonplace. 
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Casanova Brown circa 1950

California – the first time
We got exciting news in 1954. Val was being sent to an air base in California, and Tommie and Sandra and I were going to live there with him. I knew the name California. That is where the movies shown at the theater were made.  
California was a long way from Detroit, so we were going to fly there. Nothing could be more exciting for me than flying in an airplane for the first time. It was going to be the most excitement my life had seen –first, packing our clothes; then saying goodbye to our friends and relatives, “We’re going to California.”
I’ll never forget the feeling of anticipation as the airplane taxied out to the end of the runway, paused for a minute, and then sped down the concrete. I was sitting in a window seat with my face pressed against the glass. Then it happened: “We’re up, I said to Sandra, “We’re off the ground.” A minute later, the houses looked like tiny squares, and we were above the puffy clouds. 
I was such a young child that not even my excitement kept me awake much longer. I fell asleep, and when I woke up, we were in Sacramento, California. 
The name of the base was Mather Air Force Base, and it was located just outside Sacramento in an area known as Rancho Cordova. Prior to this, the only world I had known was Detroit, and I would quickly see that Detroit and Rancho Cordova were totally unalike.
Rancho Cordova was nearly rural, and the contrast from urban Detroit could not have been more striking. Detroit did not fare well in any category of comparison. The buildings in California were newer than those in Detroit and the style of architecture was more attractive. The houses were single stories, and most were colorful stucco, in stark contrast from the monotonous brown brick exterior of the Vancouver neighborhood I had known. 
Most striking of all was the sky. The sky in California was huge. In all directions, you could see to the horizon, and that was almost never the case in Michigan. It was hot in Rancho Cordova, and people said that it was going to be hot all year round. There would be no snow, and I had never been a fan of cold weather, so that sounded great to me. 
I just needed to meet new friends and learn how to ride a bike, because all the little kids seemed to know how to ride their bikes. 
Sandra learned how to handle a bike first. I remember her excitement the first time she steered and pedaled at the same time, turning from the sidewalk into the driveway of our house at 218 Gilbert Street.
“Look, look,” she exclaimed, “Walter, I can ride.” In retrospect, it strikes me as odd that I remember when Sandra learned to ride a bicycle, but I cannot remember when I learned to ride, although I was told years later that it was near the same time. 
It was an easier life for children at Mather than in Detroit because we lived in the base housing area. There was little traffic on the streets in the housing area, so we could go wherever we wanted to go inside the housing area, and I even got lost once without causing too much alarm.
The school year started for Sandra, and she was happy to go, because she had liked her first year at school in Detroit. I was still too young for school, although on the first morning of the school year I wanted to go to class with Sandra.
At dinner, after Sandra’s first day of school, she seemed sullen and withdrawn. Sandra turned to Val, “What’s a nigger?” she asked in a matter-of-fact tone.
Val looked at Tommie, and Tommie asked Sandra “Where did you hear that word?”
“I heard it at school. Some of the girls said I’m a nigger. What does that mean? Is that bad?”
Val said, “Those girls who said that, were they being mean to you?”
“They said they didn’t want to talk to me.” Then tears started running down Sandra’s cheeks; she was crying.
Tommie said, “Those girls were being mean to you because we’re colored. Were they White?”
Sandra replied, “Everybody in my class is White.”
I was sitting there chewing dinner. I did not like anyone who would make Sandra cry. Sandra hardly ever cried. I was so saddened when Sandra cried that I started crying too.
Val and Tommie said they would go to the school and put an end to this kind of talking. Sandra should not worry about this happening again.
I asked Val, “If someone calls me a nigger, should I be mad?”
Val said “Yes. They are trying to make you mad. They are trying to make you feel bad about yourself and your family. See what they have done to Sandra?”
“Should I hit him for that?” I questioned.
Val responded, “Yes, you might as well start fighting right then, because a fight is coming sooner or later. Hit him hard, no matter how big he is or how many friends he has with him. You might as well start fighting right there. Strike first and strike hard.”
I never went to school at Mather. As it turned out Tommie, Sandra and I moved back to Detroit after just a couple of months in California. I was too young to know that was a very bad sign concerning Tommie and Val’s marriage.

Detroit Again
All our friends and cousins in Detroit were glad to see that we were back. And now it was my time to start school, and that was an adventure. Everything was back to what had always been normal – Sandra, Tommie, Aunt Leanora, Grandmother, Grandpa, and me living in a big house on Vancouver. Val was away again, as usual; this time the far-away place was called Japan.
There were many fun things to do, like going to the movies.  Tommie took us to the movies to see “Song of the South” with that smart rabbit named Br’er Rabbit.  He got thrown into the briar patch by a bad fox, but that turned out to be a good thing.  Br’er Rabbit had outsmarted the Fox, and Tommie said that being very smart was a real good thing.
Some weekends we would spend at Grandmother Valentine’s house with our cousins and Aunt Josephine and Harold. Those times were always a lot of fun because there were so many kids under one roof. One Saturday night the younger kids were eating ice cream in the kitchen and the teenagers were playing music in the living room. My teenage cousin Joyce was there with her best guy friend from school; everyone called the friend by his nickname – Smokey. Smokey sang “Why Do Fools Fall In Love” as it played on the record player. He sounded so good that I stopped eating my ice cream and went into the living room to watch. Smokey’s voice sounded better than the man on the record. Everyone in the house said so. 
Two years went by with only one childhood calamity. That was the time when the Vancouver parents discovered that almost all the children in the neighborhood were playing with matches. That discovery was made when I almost burned down my grandmother’s garage. All the gang got half murdered by their respective parents, because the adults knew that if one of us was playing with matches, we were all playing with matches. They were right. I got everybody in trouble when I got caught by Grandmother trying to put out a fire with the garden hose that was about to rage out of control in her garage.
It was November 1957; it was an evening not unlike any other evening. Sandra and I were watching television in the TV room on the second floor. Tommie was watching too, but she was also ironing clothes. I don’t remember exactly what Tommie said, but what she said came as a complete surprise to Sandra and her eight-year-old brother.
Val and Tommie had gotten divorced quite some time ago, and she was going to get married again in a few weeks to an Air Force pilot we had met recently.
“You remember Lewis, right?” said Tommie. I didn’t remember meeting him, but I thought I remembered him coming to Grandmother’s house a few times. I think he came to the house on the day Sandra and I both got into an immense amount of trouble playing with matches. That was not a good day. Tommie said his name, but it went in one ear and out the other.
My reaction was that of a 1950’s eight-year-old, as I thought: “What’s a divorce? What do you mean? Get married again – how?”
As if that was not enough of a shock, Tommie said, “We’re going to move soon. We’re moving far away. To a very nice place called England.” 
All the time she was telling us, Tommie never stopped ironing; she never looked at us. In retrospect, I realize that she must have been frightened that Sandra and I would come unglued.
I had never heard of any place called England. I had never heard of divorces.
Sandra and I were without words, so when Tommie asked if we had any questions, we had none. Tommie stopped talking and continued ironing. Sandra and I turned back towards the television. The conversation was over. Later, I asked Grandmother about divorces. There was a wedding, but Sandra and I didn’t go because no one said we were invited.
We packed up again and said goodbye to our friends and relatives again.
No one told us about the two worst experiences involved with a move to England. First, in the 1950’s, a trip to England meant that your medical records had to include a lot of immunizations that most Americans did not have. Fourteen was the number of shots I needed. Fourteen painful shots administered over a three-week period. The second painful experience was a boat trip from New York to England in January. I had never heard of sea sickness, but I learned all about motion sickness over the six days of sailing across the rough Atlantic Ocean in the stormy tumult of winter. Since that 1957 voyage through to the present, I have no desire whatsoever to sail on a cruise anywhere at any time.


England
When we arrived at the port in Southampton in January 1957, I was surprised by the way people spoke, and I was even more surprised to hear that there were places where people spoke in words that were completely different from what I had heard all my life. In Detroit, I was unaware of any language other than English.
England was cold in January as we left the ship and stood once again on solid ground. Standing still was strange, because for a few minutes it felt as if the ground was rolling. But Tommie explained to Sandra and I that the ground only felt like it was moving because for the last six days we had been at sea and the rolling ocean had affected our sensibilities. That was an understatement – both of us had been seasick almost the entire trip. Vomit Queen and Vomit King – that was Sandra and me. Tommie didn’t get sick until the next to last day, and she tried to hide the fact that she was sick from her children. I didn’t understand at the time, but that is what mothers do –they hide their problems from their children.
He was waiting for us at dockside, and kissed Tommie right away when we left the ship–
There was a big problem because Sandra and I didn’t really know what to call “him”.
His name was Edgar Lewis; Sandra and I knew that. But we didn’t know what to call him. When he first started coming by Grandmother’s house to see Tommie, I’m certain that Tommie introduced him to us, but I don’t clearly remember meeting him. After a while in Detroit, we realized that he was sometimes at the house, and he was always very friendly and cheerful with Sandra and I, but there had never been a situation when either of us had to say his name.
Tommie called him “Lewis”. As a child, I did not know how strange that was. Tommie was calling her new husband by his last name. Years later, I heard her explaining to friends that when she met him, his friends were calling him “Lewis”, and she thought for months that was his first name. So, the name kind of just stuck that way.
We arrived at our new home in the small town of Birchington, near Margate, in Kent County. This location was on the English Channel about 75 miles from London. 
The house was a very traditional British residence, in that it was brick, not too large, and without either central heat or air conditioning. We froze half to death at first, but, eventually, even the American child got used to the indoor temperature of the British home. There was really no choice about acclimating to the environment.
After a day or two, we had “The Talk.” The four of us were eating dinner, as we always would, together at a wooden table in the kitchen.
Tommie cleared her throat and hesitated before she spoke.
“We were thinking about something that’s important.” I was chewing chicken, but I lowered my hand from my mouth as I looked at Tommie. When she said “We”, Tommie meant the two of them – Tommie and him.
Sandra looked a little puzzled since only a few things were referred to as important in conversations with two children.
Tommie continued, “We think it would really be good if you two were to call us Mommy and Daddy, or Mother and Father.”
My thought was: “What a relief.” I glanced at Sandra and could see that her eyes darted in my direction. I’m sure our thoughts were the same: “What a relief, now we know what to call him.” Neither of us had called him anything since we arrived in England, and likely, I had never spoken to him by name in Detroit.
“That would be nice,” said Sandra, “Mother and Father. Right, Walter?” She looked in my direction as she bobbed her head in positive affirmation.
I said “Yes, sure. Mother and Father would be like all the kids at school, although some of them say Mommy and Daddy. I like Mother and Father better.”
“Good,” said Father, “You guys are kind of old to start saying Mommy and Daddy.” 
I have always felt that was the moment the four of us became a family. From that point forward, neither Sandra nor I ever said “Tommie” again, and Father became a father.
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School in Birchington was so much fun. We attended Woodford House, a British private school near our home. It was close enough that Sandra and I could ride our bikes to school. We loved that, and we loved our classmates, and we loved our neighbors. I also really liked the fact that you could see the English Channel from the third floor of our home. The beach was only a couple of blocks away, although you really couldn’t go in the water. You couldn’t go into the water because in 1958 there was a lot of wreckage from World War  II in the water – shot-down airplanes and sunken ships.
Victor was the son of our landlord; he lived two doors away. Victor knew all about World War II. “What?” I questioned, “People get killed in wars?” Victor had just told me something that I had never heard before. Victor had said that in wars people try to kill people. No one had ever told me that.
“What about the Korean War? Not then, right?” I had heard people talk about the Korean War. Val was in the Korean War.
“Yes, in the Korean War many people died, but not as many as in World War II.” I was too young to realize, as Victor spoke, that the grownups around me in Detroit had shielded Sandra and I from the dangers that confronted Val while he was away. I really don’t remember what I thought “war” meant, but I am sure my misconception did not involve anything dangerous.
Before we lived in England, I had never heard of World War II. No one in Detroit ever spoke of it in front of me. Sandra said she had never heard of a world war.
“World War II was fought right here,” said Victor as we walked along the beach. He pointed out at the water. “That’s why there’s that black patch out there. That’s oil from a sunken ship. That bloke is still out there.” Sometimes I had to kind of strain to understand Victor because he spoke British, not American.
“The oil in the water is the reason most people get sick if they swim from this beach. Sunken ships and shot down Jerrys. They’re still leaking oil after fifteen, maybe twenty years,” said Victor enthusiastically. He loved to talk about war; he loved to talk about history and airplanes.
He was doing it again. Sometimes Victor used words I had never heard before. “Jerrys?” I asked, “What’s Jerrys?”
Victor looked at me, realizing that once again, I was totally in the dark about something that all the British kids knew all about.
“Jerrys – the German bombers and fighters. They used to fly right over here on their way to London during World War II. And the Spitfires and Hurricanes – Britain’s airplanes – would try to stop them dead before they reached the beach. Long before the Germans could reach London or any other city.”
Victor and I were very much alike in many ways, although Victor was a few years older than I. We both liked airplanes, and Birchington was a great place for an airplane lover to be. That’s because my father’s air base, RAF Manston, was only a few miles away.  RAF Manston was a fighter base, full of U.S. Air Force F-86D fighter-interceptor jets. And sometimes the British RAF fighters – the Hawker Hunters – would roar overhead. Those were the kind of jet airplanes that would cause little boys to jump up from the lunch table in Detroit and run out into the backyard.
Let me back up because I did not mention this before now. Father was a fighter pilot, he flew F-86D’s, with the 514th Fighter-Interceptor Squadron stationed at RAF Manston. His squadron’s mission was to protect the British Isles in case of attack by Soviet bombers. The 514th was part of NATO; part of America’s pledge to the British people that the Russians would not be able to do what the Germans almost did in World War II.
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           Lt. Edgar V. Lewis on the tarmac at RAF Manston in his F-86D fighter interceptor jet 
              [image: A group of airplanes flying in the sky

Description automatically generated with medium confidence]
Four North American F-86D fighters, which at one time held the World’s speed record at 715.697 mph
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F-86D all-weather fighters of the 514th Fighter-Interceptor Squadron at RAF Manston 

Victor and I spent a lot of time talking about airplanes. About all it took to get that conversation started was for a plane to fly overhead or be heard off in the distance. The first thing to do was name the aircraft. 
I had my book – the “World Aircraft Recognition Manual” that had pictures of most of the airplanes flying in the United States and Europe. The Manual had pictures and a few paragraphs of description regarding each plane. I was fascinated – first by the pictures, but eventually by the written descriptions. I probably looked at every page in that book 100 times. There were a lot of words that were hard to understand, so I would look them up in a dictionary.
I called the dictionary words the “big words”: recognition – manual --- classification – introduction – rotary – biplanes – characteristics – undercarriages – observation – aeronautics – intelligence – synthesizing – instantaneous – silhouettes – fuselage – turbojet – supersonic – semi-cylindrical – uncompromising – triangular – anhedral – ensemble, and many more. 
I loved reading that book, again and again, because it was about my passion – airplanes. Plus, there was plenty of time to read since we had no television. There was only the radio and reading.
I came to know all the different airplanes – what they looked like, their top speeds, types of engines – just about everything about them. There was a time that the family was visiting friends in Scotland, when a large plane flew by in the distance. One glance is all it took. I said, “That’s an Avro Vulcan bomber, the world’s largest delta wing aircraft.” I was right. Not bad for a kid in the second grade. 
It was such a great time, especially all the time spent at school, and time spent with the landlord’s kids, with Victor and his sister Vivienne. We had great times with our friends Ray and Olivia Medina, who were like aunt and uncle and their kids were like our cousins. We had such great times with our next-door neighbors, Mr. and Mrs. Racster-Szostak.  Mrs. Racster-Szostak taught Sandra and I lessons in French, along-side her two daughters, Julia and Lydie. They were such great friends to my family, and it was Mrs. Racster-Szostak who first taught me the proper conjugation rules for verbs in English.
A not so funny thing: I am certain that the Detroit schools I attended prior to Europe never touched the subject of speaking proper English. We were never taught that certain verb forms are used with certain nouns; we were never taught how to conjugate the verb “to be” or “to go” or “to have”, the primary components of spoken English. It is so sad that many of the products of inner-city schools never learn how to properly conjugate the simplest and most widely used verbs in the English language. Instead of learning the correct way of speaking, a corrupted version of English has emerged. The given name: Ebonics. It is saddening, because the ability to speak English well is the ticket through many of life’s most important doors.
Everybody was excited about the big air show at RAF Manston in 1958. The Black Arrows, the British aerobatic team, thrilled the crowd with a low altitude flyover on a day of near zero visibility. I will never forget that day. The entire county was at the air base, despite the rainy, foggy weather. 
I had never been to an airshow before, and I was in heaven. There were many parked aircraft that you could see up close and even look inside the cockpits. British and American planes were parked side by side. Everyone was there – our close friends – the Racster-Szostak’s, the Medinas, all the kids and teachers from school. Victor and Vivienne were there. Just about everyone in Birchington was there. Father and all his pilot friends were saying that there might not be an aerial show, because the weather was so bad. And by the middle of the afternoon an announcement was made that the American airplanes were grounded because of the bad weather. I felt so disappointed, but within a few minutes a ripple of excitement went through the crowd.
“I just heard that the Brits are going to fly their show,” one of Father’s American friends said with a tone of astonishment in his voice. “What?” was the incredulous response, almost in unison, from the American pilots gathered nearby. “Yea, one of the ground crew said they are going to takeoff in 15 minutes.” 
“Naw, that can’t be right,” one of the American pilots said. But almost immediately there was an announcement over the public address system: “The Black Arrows are preparing to launch the Hawker Hunters.” There was a huge cheer from the British in the crowd and the air became electric. At that time, the Hawker Hunter jet was Britain’s premier jet fighter. It was Britain’s statement to the Russians that Soviet bombers would never penetrate British air space. The Royal Air Force was always standing guard in the Hawker Hunters, and their message was a bold one: Any Soviet bomber crews heading for London were going to wind up swimming in the cold waters of the English Channel or the North Sea. 
The Black Arrow pilots emerged from a personnel carrier and marched ceremoniously towards their aircraft. Their ground crew saluted with full military pomp and circumstance as the pilots approached. Then there was the whine of Rolls-Royce Avon jet engines igniting. The pilots climbed into the aircraft, saluted again, and lowered the canopy. Moments later, the four airplanes taxied to the end of the runway. It was so foggy you could not see them as they took off in groups of two. But you could hear those powerful jet engines lifting the Hawker Hunters up into the sky.
There was silence for several minutes, until the public address announcer said, “Ladies and gentlemen, here comes your Royal Air Force!” 
 Fifteen seconds later, there was a huge roar as two of the Hawker Hunters blazed overhead, maybe 100 feet off the ground, right above the crowd. One plane came from the east and the second plane came from the west, missing each other by less than 50 feet, wingtip to wingtip, as they flew directly above the crowd. Just a few seconds later, a third plane came from the north and a fourth jet blazed from the south, and these two on the deck aircraft passed each other above the crowd, with no more than 50 feet separating their wingtips. The sound was deafening, and it was so foggy that you could only see the aircraft for a few seconds as they sped by on near-collision courses. Many spectators ducked down as the jets blazed overhead. Some people fell to the ground in shock because the screeching roar was so overpowering. 
An American voice in my vicinity rang out amid laughter, “Damn the Brits are hellava pilots, but the American Whites don’t fly airplanes any better than they play basketball.”
The crowd was cheering hysterically – especially the British. The American pilots were in shocked disbelief at the display of British flying skill and boldness, because the maneuver was so daring and dangerous, I will always remember that day as the best air show I have ever seen. And I never expect to see another airshow that is better. 
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Sixty years later, the British aerobatic team continues its tradition of thrilling the crowds

I knew what I wanted to do in life: “Fly jets. Fly fighter jets,” I would always tell anyone who was listening. People would always encourage the thought, which was not surprising since all the Americans around me were Air Force people, and the British were very respectful of the military. The British were particularly respectful of the air force, because of the huge role air power played in keeping the Nazis out of Britain during World War II.
We lived in England for 18 months. Apparently, I was at a highly impressionable age, because in that rather short time I acquired a British accent and knew more about British history than American history when I was a child.
Christmas in England was so festive around the neighborhood in 1958, with all the neighbors celebrating together, going from house to house, enjoying each other’s company. But it was then that I realized for the first time that the neighbors who were only thirty yards away were not taking part in the festivities at our house.
Years later, Mother said “They didn’t like us. In fact, they never said a single word to anyone in our family, even though they were the only other American couple on our street.” They were Air Force people – everyone else was British or from the continent across the Channel. 
“Those two neighbors were White,” said Mother, “and they obviously didn’t want anything to do with Black people, although they were cordial with the other people on our block. Just not with us.” 
My parents never mentioned a word about those racist White neighbors when I was a child. Because my parents sheltered Sandra and I from the racist behavior of the White people we met, at least as much as possible, thinking that it was best to not discuss matters of race with children. Race was a subject like sex – never mentioned, left unspoken whenever possible around children. I was so in the dark about race, that until I was eight, I thought anyone with black hair was Negro. I thought Italian American pretty girl Annette Funicello on TV’s Mickey Mouse Club was a Black person, because she had black hair. How ignorant was that? Plus, no one around me ever mentioned that racist dog Walt Disney explicitly excluded Black children from being a part of the Mickey Mouse Club television show. Nor did anyone mention the fact that Hollywood across the board was pumping out example after example of negative images of Black people.
In retrospect, I question whether the sex-like approach regarding race was in fact the best philosophy. The fact of the matter was, in the 1950’s, one’s race seemed destined to play an immensely important role during any American’s life story. Particularly, a Black American in the age of Jim Crow. For example, if a person could ask Emmett Till, I am sure Emmett would agree.  
I don’t remember how Mother and Father told us that we were leaving England. We had expected to live in Birchington for three years, but those plans were changed by the Air Force’s decision to move the two fighter squadron from RAF Manston. The 513th was sent to northeastern France and the 514th was reassigned to Germany. Father was transferred to the 513th, and we moved to Phalsbourg-Bourscheid Air Base in April 1958.



France
In France, all the American Air Force families lived together in two housing areas; one housing area was near the town of Sarrebourg, and that was where our house was. Our first day in the housing area set the tone. First, a girl my age called me by the name of the only other Black boy living in the housing area. Then, another kid came up to me, pulled out a gun and shot me, without saying a word.
Pow! The sharp crack of the gun startled me and a piece of burning cork hit me in the arm, burning a hole in the jacket I was wearing. He shot me with what was called a French cap gun. Almost as loud as a real gun, but not a deadly weapon. They were toys; very dangerous toys that oftentimes fired a piece of burning cork as far as ten feet. The boy then ran away, without saying a word. I barely saw his face, and I never knew for certain who that kid was or why he did that, although I suspect the problem was racial.
The young American children at this base all attended an on-base-elementary school. At the start of the year, I was in the fourth grade since I was nine on the first day of school. However, after a week, I was placed in the fifth grade because of my outstanding academic performance.
A few days passed following my surprise promotion to the fifth grade. It was during recess, and I was standing in the school’s playground. I was by myself when four boys walked over to me. They were older boys from the seventh grade; I did not know their names.
“We don’t like colored much around here,” said the biggest kid. All four boys were White.
At first, I really didn’t understand what he had said. “What?” I asked.
“Can’t you hear?” he sneered. “We don’t like niggers!”
That’s the word from Sacramento. I instantly made a fist, jumped towards him, and punched him in the face as hard as I could swing. He fell over backwards, and his head smacked against the pavement. He didn’t move. His eyes were rolled back in his head. He was unconscious. I suppose it was the pavement that knocked him out as the back of his head smacked the ground.  
When you are in the right: Strike first. Strike hard.
For a moment, I was frightened, but I didn’t let that show. I looked at his three friends. “Does anybody have anything to say?” One shook his head and mumbled “No, no more, no more.” The two others looked on in shocked silence, before joining into the chorus of “No” and, “I don’t want to fight ya’.”
 “You better not,” I said boldly. “Not a word, and no more trouble out of you for me or my sister. You hear?” I glared at each of the three boys still standing -- straight into their shocked eyes for a few seconds each. You could see the fear etched into their faces. “You hear?” I repeated before turning my back on them and walking away.  I walked away, no running. And no looking back.
I got to the other side of the playground before I turned and stared across the asphalt. By that time, the kid was off his back and standing. The teachers had seen nothing on the crowded playground, which was probably a good thing. In retrospect, I now realize that some of the teachers were just as racist as many of the kids. Apparently, my point was clear because nothing as confrontational as being called a nigger happened again, although for the next 18 months many of the American kids and teachers were not friendly. 
“I don’t believe it,” said one of the teachers a few months later. I could overhear a conversation among several of the teachers who were talking about how I had done in class. “If I hadn’t seen it, I would not believe it. Not out of a colored kid,” said one of the teachers in a voice filled with disdain and disbelief. This was typical of American Whites in the 1950’s, and it is true today in 2025. About one adult American White in three is an abject, bigoted racist, and an intelligent, successful Black person ignites their inner demons. These bigots will try to hurt a non-White, if they suspect that there will be no retribution. Being aware of this truism, one realizes that America in 2008 could still elect a Black president. However, that does not mean that America was no longer the racist country, which for more than 200 years allowed and profited from slavery, brutally murdered millions of women, old men and children because of their brown skin, and followed that up with a century of Jim Crow laws that were designed to ruin the lives of non-Whites and lift the egos of the Whites.
The bigoted one-third of Whites is still lurking in the United States of America. The fruit has fallen near the tree to which it is related. 
Not everything was stressful or difficult in France. There were White kids at Phalsbourg who were very friendly, as were most of the teachers. Also, while we were in France, I found that I had a talent which has served me well for a lifetime: I was a great dancer. Literally, from the very first time I tried to dance, at my first boy/girl party one afternoon at the elementary school, I could dance better than anyone. On the other hand, I played Little League baseball for the first time, and I struck out every time at bat until the season was almost over. I was not the next Jackie Robinson or Willie Mays.
Another appealing feature about France was the fact we were able to travel by car all over Europe. However, Father used to joke, “Sandra and Walter have slept in the backseat of the family car as we drove by a lot of great views and historic sites all over Western Europe.” My family returned to Detroit in the late summer of 1959.



Detroit
I still had a British accent, and the teachers in the Detroit public schools thought that was charming in a little kid. It was great to see Grandmother, Grandpa, Aunt Leanora, my other Grandmother on Harmon Street, uncles, aunts, and our cousins again. I was the kid who had been in Europe, and that meant I was a bit of a celebrity at Pattengill Elementary School, for the semester that Sandra and I were in Detroit. The teachers selected me to play the role of Prince Charming in the school Christmas production of “Sleeping Beauty.” 
We knew our stay in Detroit would just be for a short time, because Father was assigned to McConnell Air Force Base in Wichita, Kansas. He was learning to fly a new plane, the B-47 Stratojet, and we were going to join him in January 1960.
It was great to watch television again, especially Sky King and Sea Hunt. Sky King was an easy favorite – it was about a guy flying an airplane. Sea Hunt was also an instant winner, and I wanted to scuba dive, just like on the show. There were two problems. First, Sea Hunt required an ocean, like in California. Second, I didn’t know how to swim.
Although I still liked to read, it was hard for books to compete with TV, especially since we had been away from TV for such a long time – three years. One day in 1959, I was looking at the daily newspaper in Detroit, and I noticed several pages that were long lists of numbers and abbreviations.
“What’s this?” I asked Mother, showing her a page from the Detroit Free Press. Mother looked at the page and shook her head in the negative. “I don’t know.” Grandmother was sitting nearby, and it was her newspaper, so she motioned with her hand.
“Come here. Bring the paper. Show me,” Grandmother said. I took the paper to Grandmother and showed her the page. Grandmother said “That’s the stocks page. These are companies on the New York Stock Exchange on Wall Street. This is all about business and making things.” I thought that was fascinating, although at the time I didn’t know how to read what I was looking at. I wanted to learn, and that’s what happened. Just like the airplanes, little by little, I learned how to read those pages and I listened closely to the TV news when they talked about the stocks on Wall Street and World events.
A second thing happened in Detroit during the December holidays of 1959. It was Christmas, and people were busy with many things, so the grownups didn’t notice I had discovered a new favorite candy. However, my new favorite candy was not a box of candy; the boxes I was buying from the local store were boxes of cough drops. I just loved their flavor and the feeling of cool, fresh air that came from the nasal decongestant in the pills. 
By Christmas Eve, I had gobbled down a few boxes of this new favorite candy. Suddenly on the afternoon of the day before Christmas, I felt strange. It felt as if I became very aware of my heartbeat, and the blood coursing through my veins felt cold. A few minutes later, my cold blood felt as if someone had plugged electricity into my veins. I shuddered from the feeling; it did not feel good. It was eerie. However, I was a little kid, and it was Christmas. I tried to ignore the feeling, thinking it would go away.
When night came, the feeling persisted. I don’t remember if I told anyone, and, if I did, I don’t remember what I was told in response. By bedtime, the feeling was so intense that I could not sleep. 
“Not able to sleep,” I thought, “So what, that will just make Christmas morning get here more quickly.” By 4 AM, I was up opening presents, after pestering everyone in the house for hours. “Get up,” I implored everyone to get up in the pitch-black darkness and start opening their presents. 
“It’s Christmas morning. Let’s go.” Mother let me get away with opening my presents, even though it was still dark outside, and dawn was hours away. By the time morning came and the others got out of bed, my presents were out of their boxes and strewn all over the living room. I was excited about my gifts, so I was ignoring the fact that I had electrified ice-blood jetting through my veins. 
All day, I was supercharged with enthusiasm. I really didn’t feel tired, even though I had been up all night and then hyperactive through the morning and afternoon. By evening, I was still going strong, until something annoyed me – something made me angry. I yelled out at Sandra to stop what she was doing, and then I collapsed on the floor.
Mother yelled from the next room “What’s wrong with you? Stop being so loud.” She came into the room and stared at me. Mother must have realized that I was not responding. Mother poked me. I didn’t move because I was unconscious, but Mother and Father thought I had just suddenly fallen asleep. Father carried me to bed, and I slept as sound as a rock through the night. By morning, at the regular time, I was awake and feeling fine. The cold blood and electricity sensation were gone. I was hungry for breakfast; in fact, I was starving.
I had no understanding of what had just happened to me. Several decades would pass before I would discover that I have severe, allergic reactions to a type of chemical known as sympathomimetic amines. One example of this class of chemical is pseudoephedrine, the decongestant chemical found in the cough drops I had been eating like candy. The most powerful member of the chemical group is crystal methamphetamines. Caffeine is a member of that class of chemicals; fortunately, I was never much of a coffee or cola drinker. Give me an orange or grape soda, or a 7-Up. However, give Cokes and Pepsi to someone else.
 Nevertheless, in 1959, I was just a ten-year-old enjoying the day after Christmas. I was totally unaware that I may have come within a few milligrams of death on Christmas Day by overdosing on a chemical that most people view as a helpful medicine for colds and hay fever – or as an energy drink adored by many. On the darker side, years later, these chemicals will be used to make crystal methamphetamines destined for sale on America’s streets and playgrounds.


Kansas
I was in the seventh grade, but even at that young age I could tell that the school I was attending in Wichita was not a very good school. When I arrived in Wichita in the winter of 1960, the classroom work was months behind where my class had been in Detroit. Plus, there were no letter grades given, since the idea was that no one should feel bad about getting poor grades. The school went with the neighborhood, which was a predominantly Black, working-class neighborhood.
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1960 in Wichita, Kansas
Years later, I overheard my father relating the story of how we came to live where we lived. Father and three White friends visited a realtor in Wichita shortly after his arrival in Kansas. All four were Air Force officers and fathers looking to rent homes for their families for the length of time needed to complete the Air Force’s flight instruction course for the B-47 bomber. 
When they entered the realtor’s office a smiling lady greeted the group and listened as one of the White officers related “We’re looking to rent homes for six months for our families, while we’re attending flight school out at McConnell air base.”
The realtor was very friendly and said there were homes available for rental. But when she said there were vacancies, she was speaking only to the White men. She then turned to my father and bluntly said, “We have no vacancies for your kind here. Leave now, boy.”
Wichita’s housing was segregated. Nice neighborhoods did not allow Black residents. Segregated housing naturally led to segregated schools, and it was not hard for even a child to see that the quality of those schools was very poor.
It was at school in Wichita that I noticed a problem. There were times when I couldn’t read the blackboard. I needed to sit in the first few rows of desks; if I didn’t, I couldn’t read the math problems the teacher wrote on the room’s blackboard. 
“You need to get your eyes checked, Walter,” said my teacher, Mr. Jones, “You should be able to read those numbers from where you’re sitting.” My friend Jeffrey, who was sitting next to me said, “I can read them.”
So, in a few days, there I was in the optometrist’s office in the middle of an eye test. The doctor said “Okay, try some more. Can you read that next line?”
I strained to make out the letters, but they would not focus clearly. I blurted out my guesses.
“No,” said the doctor dispassionately. The room was dark, and that was a good thing, because he continued, “You should be able to read that line of letters. You need glasses. You’re nearsighted.”
What the doctor said was a crushing disaster. If I needed glasses that meant I could never be a fighter pilot. It was merciful that the room was dark because tears started streaming from my eyes. I knew right away that my life plans were dead. I would never fly fighter jets. The Air Force required perfect vision to be trained as a fighter pilot. My life was dead; I was crushed flat.
An early spring was one good thing about Kansas, because I was ready to start my learning to swim campaign at the base pool. I figured that was a step in the right direction since I was determined to learn scuba diving. Plus, my father’s next assignment was at Forbes Air Force Base in Topeka, Kansas, so I figured the pool there would be ready to go.
The thing is, when the time came, we were unable to find suitable housing in Topeka. Literally, housing segregation was that pervasive, and the ability to pay for a nice house meant nothing. The Air Force was sympathetic to the plight of Black families and changed our assignment to Lockbourne Air Force Base, a Strategic Air Command base located near Columbus, Ohio.

Ohio and Michigan
In the summer of 1960, one of the most important things to me was the fact that the Officers’ Club swimming pool was only a few hundred yards from my home. First, I learned how to swim, and then I basically lived at the swimming pool for the entire summer. I went from being a non-swimmer to being a strong swimmer in just a few months. Mother used to say that my swimming suit never dried. 
I was ready for scuba diving in California, and the only problem was I lived 2,500 miles from the Pacific Ocean. I figured the Air Force could send us to California, so there was hope, but Father was never assigned to a base near the ocean in California.
Sandra and I had reached our teens, and for the first time we bought a record, after pooling our money, we spent one dollar on “Don’t Make Me Over” by Dionne Warwick. For me, this was the first money spent on what would eventually be thousands of dollars of purchases for the music that moved me so powerfully over the course of my life.
Sandra’s White friend Paula was at our house, and the two of them were playing records, when Paula said casually “You know, all of your records are Negroes singing?” I overheard her comment as I passed by my sister’s bedroom. Sandra thought for a moment, and then said “Really? I didn’t know that. I never really thought about it that way.” 
In those days, just about the only source for hearing music was over the Columbus radio station, and no reference was made on the radio to the race of the performer. 
But it was true. All the songs Sandra and I liked enough to buy were performed by Blacks. The genre was what touched me either with the quality of voices singing or the message of the lyrics, or the rhythm and instruments, and that preference extends back to when I was a child. 
By the time I was in the ninth grade, I was ready for a new adventure. Aunt Leonora brought the adventure: “You could win a scholarship to attend a private all-boys school near Detroit,” Aunt Leonora spoke so highly of the school that I was easily convinced to pursue the opportunity.
I had never heard of Cranbrook School in Bloomfield Hills, the prep school Aunt Leonora had in mind. I had never heard the phrase “prep school” for that matter, but I soon understood that to mean that the course work was going to be difficult.
It was a boarding school, so I would live there during the school year. That would be a huge change, but I suspect that all the moving around and changing schools I had done in my life already made the prospect of one more move seem less than daunting.
We visited Cranbrook, and the campus was impressive; the architecture on the grounds reminded me of England, complete with well-manicured lawns and a library where the bookshelves went all the way to the ceiling. Everyone we spoke with at the school seemed nice, without even a hint of any sort of problem regarding my interest in becoming a student.
[image: A brick building with a tower

Description automatically generated with low confidence]
I took a written examination that lasted for hours, and then I was interviewed by a panel of elderly questioners. The process went well. Some weeks later I received a letter saying I had won the scholarship I was after. I started Cranbrook in September 1963, as a tenth grader. 
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Jet Magazine published a four-sentence article on the fact that I had won a scholarship, along with another Black student from Detroit, named Eddie Randle. Jet pointed out the fact that we were the first Blacks to attend Cranbrook on scholarship. The Jet article did not win a prize for accuracy. Jet misspelled Eddie’s last name; they gave my age as 14, but I was barely 13; and they called me “C.W Valentine”, instead of Cleophus Walter Valentine, which was my legal name at that time, before my stepparent adoption in 1964.  I could not have attended Cranbrook without a scholarship. The school’s tuition was very expensive. The Cranbrook boarding student tuition in 2025 is over $56,000 – and that is not tax deductible.
The school year started, and there I was at the dormitory door where I was left standing – alone. Sandra told our mother that I looked so alone and lonely, as they drove away from the Cranbrook campus. I waved as they drove away. I guess it was because I had moved to a new school so many times before. I didn’t feel alone as I walked into the dormitory and back to my room on the first floor of Stevens Hall. My bags were unpacked, and mother had helped me put my clothes away. I really didn’t know what to do next, but it was almost dinner time, so I figured that was the first thing to do. It was. Other students were also moving into the dorms. Many introduced themselves, and that was the start of a three-year stay at Cranbrook.
I had expected that the course work would be difficult, and it was difficult, but it was not too difficult to handle. One thing that was far different from the schools I had attended before was Cranbrook’s emphasis on writing –an emphasis on composition. Each week my English teacher would assign an essay that was due on Monday. It was literally a Cranbrook tradition and a rock-hard law. The student’s writing assignment for the week would be completed by Monday and turned into the teacher during English class. No excuses short of an untimely death.
There were things that a boarding student needed to learn. On Saturday mornings, there was a room cleanliness inspection. Each student was tasked with the upkeep of his own room.  “There are a couple of things to know about the inspection,’ said my dorm neighbor. “Here, I’ll show you some tricks. One of the first things they’re going to check is the top of your door.” My neighbor across the hallway was an older student named Mitt Romney. On that first Saturday, he ran his hand across the ledge on the top of my dorm room’s door. It was dusty, of course.  “I have never heard of dusting up there,” I said, in total disbelief.
“Yea, I know, but believe me they check it more than half the time. First thing. There are other oddball things as well. I’ll show you. You want to get off to a good start on the Saturday inspections. That way, you’ll always pass after a few good weeks. You’ll have a reputation for a clean room.”
Mitt was right. The top of the door was the first thing that the inspector checked, along with some other out-of-the-way places. The important thing was my room passed the first inspection. I was thankful to my friend Mitt, as I was to the many Cranbrook students who taught me the ropes. Some were my dorm neighbors and others were my classmates and sports teammates. 
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Mitt Romney as an adult
Many years later, in 2012, Mitt ran for president of the United States of America, but he was defeated by the incumbent, President Barack Obama.
Eddie Randle also lived in the Stevens Hall dormitory. Both of us felt that we quickly became an average face in the crowd. Fitting in was not difficult because there was a large measure of good intentions to make us fit in with the other students. Life is good if you studied.  The requirement to study was no problem because I was there to learn. 
The most common sound in the dormitory or the classroom buildings, at all hours, was the sound of laughter. Oftentimes, in later life, when I hear a great comedian, I am reminded of the very adult humor heard around the Cranbrook campus. Jokes would come from the Cranbrook boys or the young women at Cranbrook’s all-girl sister school – Kingswood. 
I should perhaps mention that Cranbrook had an all-girls sister school that was located on the other side of our lake. How much like Hollywood is that? Our sister school was located on the other side of Cranbrook Lake – a large artificial lake. We distance runners would see the women a lot while training for cross country. In addition, we had dances with the Kingswood girls twice each year.  Not many of the Kingswood girls were good dancers, but some were. Most of the Kingswood coeds were comedians, either on purpose or unintentionally. Most of them were very smart, and many of the Kingswood young ladies came from very wealthy families.
In addition, there were regular Saturday night coed movies, which were played on a big silver screen in the gym. The movies shown were oftentimes the same movies that were currently in the Detroit theaters because a Hollywood-connected millionaire’s son attended Cranbrook and his daughter was a student at Kingswood.
In retrospect, I note that Cranbrook was the only American school I attended in my entire primary school academic career where there was no racist incident involving some White boys trying to beat me up. Despite my small size, I never lost a single fight at those other schools.
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            Walter Lewis and Eddie Randle manning the door at a Cranbrook/Kingswood social event.   
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Here Eddie and Walter are taking a break from a hard evening of studying in the Cranbrook dorm and are doing a soulful rendition of “My Girl”. The hilarious thing about their dormitory performances of Motown hits was this: Many of the fellow students thought they could sing.  That is hilarious because neither one of us sing worth a damn. But the dorm crowd was clueless about singing; it was a cultural thing. We could do an entire concert, if there was an audience of guys who were watching and making specific song requests.
Sports participation was a requirement at Cranbrook. The choices in the fall were football, soccer, and cross country. Cross country was a two-mile footrace across rugged terrain; the cross-country event was not held on a nicely manicured track, as are most track races. In the tenth grade, I chose cross country because I was way too small for football – I weighed about 95 pounds soaking wet –plus, I wasn’t a fast runner. I knew nothing about soccer, so that was out. I figured I could run two miles and that was the distance covered in a cross-country race in Michigan’s high schools. I wasn’t very good, but I improved every season as I grew into a larger, stronger person. In the winter, I was on the wrestling team. And in the spring, I ran the mile run or the half mile run on the track team. 
In my senior year, Cranbrook was Michigan small high school state champions in track, but I did not play any role in seizing that title. However, Eddie was a track star from day-one. In the State championship, Eddie scored points in multiple events. Plus, the greatest glory: In 1966, Eddie won the title of State champion in the illustrious 100-yard sprint event. 
As things turned out, the fact that I ran track at Cranbrook may well be one the reasons why I survived the kidnap attempt near Norton air base in August 1977. The fact that there were eight people out in the middle of nowhere in the middle of the night was a complete giveaway that something was very wrong. It just wasn’t the norm; I had driven down that road dozens of times late at night, and there was never a single pedestrian. One reason why there were so many assailants may have been due to my reputation on the base as a star runner. Ever since Cranbrook, my workout routine included running, and I ran often at the base gymnasium’s track. By the time I was an adult, I was a much better runner than I was in high school. I was much faster and had more endurance. During my ROTC training for the Air Force, I won the mile run competition during Sports Day at my basic training summer camp. There were more than 1,000 cadets at the ROTC training camp in Washington state. That victory was considered a big deal, and I was once told that the accomplishment was in my permanent Air Force records. 
I suspect that at least one of the eight goons on that otherwise deserted road was a great distance runner, and his assignment was to run me down if I tried to escape on foot across the open fields that lined one side of the road. 
As a point of perspective make this note: When Paul Castellano, the head of the Gambino crime family, was assassinated in New York City by John Gotti’s hired killers in December 1985, there were only six hitmen on the scene during that murder. This was one of the most notorious, important Mafia killings in American history. The assassination allowed John Gotti to take control of the Gambino syndicate – a huge part of the American Mafia. Despite the importance of the crime, the Mafia fielded only six assassins. To kill me, the Group put at least eight killers at the scene; plus, there may have been two vehicle drivers that were out of sight. In addition, there may have been a look-out down the road whose assignment was to positively identify my car as I approached. That’s eleven men at the murder scene. I suspect that these numbers demonstrate the fact that the size and power of the Group dwarfs the capabilities of the American Mafia. 
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                        Seventeen members of the Cranbrook Prep School class of 1966
Many of the fellow Cranbrook students were very close friends. We had quite a few wild, growing-up good times together. Like those teenage memories with Bill Brown, the wrestling team captain, and Bruce Harrison, one of Cranbrook’s star distance runners. Bruce was also a talented sprinter. Both of those students are pictured above. Bill is in the top row to the far right, and Bruce is seated directly in front of me. The above picture was part of a highly laudatory Detroit News article on Cranbrook that was published by that newspaper in the spring of 1966.
I will never forget the night that Bill and I lost his father’s car when we travelled into Detroit looking for entertainment, but the full-grown bouncer would not let two almost-teenagers into our planned destination – a downtown Detroit strip club. We parked Bill’s family car out in the suburbs and took a bus into the inner city. We tried to look like adults as we walked down the sidewalk to the strip club. Undoubtedly the bouncer at the front door saw us coming. As we were about to turn into the club, the bouncer said with calm authority, “Naw. You two just keep on walking,” as he pointed down the sidewalk in the direction we had been heading. We didn’t break a stride and walked right past the strip club. Evidently, we had fooled no one regarding our ages. Afterwards, it took us five anxiety-filled hours to find the suburban side street where Bill had parked his family’s car. 
We were lucky. Young people sometimes do the dumbest things.
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Delores and Walter attend the 1966 Cranbrook prom. Also pictured is Bill Brown 
Bruce would lead the distance runners through hard workouts because that’s what it took to improve a runner’s performance. As an adult, when I work out, I still hear words of encouragement from Bruce and my other teammates. There are a dozen different ways to say, “Go faster.”
The distance runners’ coach, Mr. Ronald Penny, was also my English teacher during my first year at Cranbrook. Mr. Penny gave me two compliments that I will never forget. First, after receiving the highest grade in his English class in my first year, Mr. Penny said, “Walter, you had great writing talent the day you arrived at Cranbrook. The teachers here are just polishing it up.” Second, at the end of the track season in my senior year, Mr. Penny timed the distance runners in the 100-yard dash. When I started running in the tenth grade, my time in the 100 was terrible. However, by my senior year, I had become much faster. Mr. Penny said to me at the conclusion of the track season in my senior year, “Lewis, we have you running the wrong event.” I knew that he meant that by my senior year, I should have switched from the mile run to the sprints. I had developed good foot speed. I was thrilled by Mr. Penny’s comment, and I suspect that Mr. Penny intended that result. I would continue to improve as I matured. By my junior year in college, I was a very good runner in both the mile and in shorter races. Plus, I had a bragging point that would never change because I was on a state championship track team. That was a thrill, even though I had nothing to do with that victory, since I was nowhere near good enough to compete in the state finals.
As a private school, Cranbrook did not fall under the public-school prohibition regarding classes on religion. The school’s founder was Episcopalian, and the school required that the boarding students attend church on Sunday. The nearby church was founded by the same wealthy man who founded Cranbrook. Plus, a very interesting course on comparative religions was taught as part of the academic curriculum. It was in this course that I first learned that the Christians, Jews, and Muslims were all worshiping the same God – the God of Abraham.
In fact, before this point in my life, I was only slightly aware that there were religions other than Christianity. No one in my family circle had ever spoken negatively of a person because of their religion.
 I knew little of Judaism before Cranbrook. I had seen TV documentaries on the Holocaust, so I was aware of the racist mass murder of the Jews in Europe during the war. However, when I was young, I really had no idea why the Nazis had slaughtered those people. It was much later in life that I became aware of the volume of bigoted, racist lies that had festered in Europe and America about Jews. The pogroms and inquisitions that had occurred over the centuries were absent from the history books taught to me. Plus, the media did not slander Jews, although many in America, behind the scenes, were very prejudiced against members of that faith.
 I will never forget Max, the convenience storekeeper near my grandmother’s house in Detroit. During the summer in 1959, me, my sister, and cousins would go to the store frequently, sometimes several times a day, to buy candy and sodas. Oftentimes, we would cash in empty bottles to pay for the nickel candy bars, and other sweets, with a pile of coins. One hot summer day, Max was fingering through and counting coins on the store’s countertop, when I noticed a string of numbers tattooed on his wrist. It was then that I realized Max was a Jewish survivor of a Nazi concentration camp. I had seen documentaries that covered the Nazi branding of Jews during the era of atrocious German oppression and genocide. 
I’ll never forget when Max finished tallying up the coins, we were a dime short of the total needed for the purchase, but Max said to the little Black kids, “That’s close enough. You’re a little short on the payment, but that’s close enough. Grab the candy and go play.” Max was a friend. Over the years, I have had many Jewish friends. And I have always felt a closeness to the Jews because Jews and Blacks have a similar history. A large part of that history includes the fact that bigoted, hostile Whites have treated both groups very badly over the centuries, as well as in the not-very-distant past.
I had never met a Muslim before getting to know several, friendly Muslim students from Kuwait who attended Cranbrook. However, in the American media, as well as everyday life, in the 1950’s and 1960’s, there were numerous negative images about Arabs and Islam. I can recall negative statements regarding Islam dating back to when my family lived in France in the 1950’s. It was common to hear White adults say, “Look out for the gypsies, they will steal a child. They eat children.” The so-called gypsies were Arabs. Other times, the Whites would remark how the Algerians and Libyans were “in their proper place. The Arabs were suited for colonization and should stop clamoring for independence.”  On American television, disparaging images of Arab life were the rule. In any situation where American society had to choose a favorite between Arabs and Jews, the clear favorite would be the Jews. That decision would be reached even by bigoted Whites who despised Jews, because they despised Arabs even more than the Europeanized Jews.
In 1948, America had a large Jewish population, when compared to the small number of Arab-Americans, and a significant part of the base electorate of the Democratic party was Jewish. Consequently, it is not surprising that the United States of America, under the Truman administration, gave de facto recognition to the new State of Israel immediately upon its declaration of independence in May 1948. By the 1960’s, Western Europe, North America, South America, and sub-Saharan Africa had extended recognition to the Jewish state. By 2023, a total of 165 nations of the 193 United Nations members have recognized the State of Israel.  In contrast, seventy-five years later, a Palestinian state in that region has yet to be recognized by the White world.
The three years of my time at Cranbrook passed very quickly. Graduation from prep school in 1966 was followed by my freshman year at the University of Michigan in Ann Arbor.
When I started at Cranbrook my family lived in Ohio, but my father’s B-47 unit at Lockbourne air base was disbanded, and Father spent months in California training to fly the B-52D Stratofortress. After training, he was assigned to the Eighth Air Force bomber wing at Westover Air Force Base in central Massachusetts, near Springfield. Starting in the summer of 1964, my vacation time from Cranbrook and later from the University of Michigan was spent at my parents’ home at Westover air base in Massachusetts.

University of Michigan, in Ann Arbor
When I started classes in Ann Arbor, I was an old-timer at the whole scenario of living as a student away from home. The big change in Ann Arbor was the fact that the University of Michigan had women students, and there were parties every weekend. I figured that I had a lot of catching up to do on the social front, since I had attended an all-boys boarding school. Catching up with lost social life was my ardent hobby, especially for the first year. I did not want to miss a single party or fail to meet a single good-looking woman. Compared to what I was used to at Westover and Cranbrook, there were good-looking women all over the place in Ann Arbor. 
Let the good times roll. College was undoubtedly the most fun period of my life. I repeat, during my first year in Ann Arbor, I never missed a single dance party. Because that is where the women were bound to be. Music oftentimes brings back precious memories, even songs that are not from my college era.
My primary running buddy for the first two years was Duke Greene, who also started Michigan in August 1966. He was a Black student from Saginaw, Michigan. Duke was Seventh Day Adventist, which meant he could not party on Friday nights. He would say to me every week, “I don’t want to hear about any party on Friday night, Lewis. Don’t start talking about partying on Friday.” He also would not go to football games on Saturdays because of his religion’s directives about the Sabbath. Usually, he would fight the urge to go out on a Friday night, but sometimes I would wear down his resistance. As a compromise of his religious principles, he would go to the party, but once he got there, he wouldn’t dance. 
I had no such boundaries, and although Duke never tried to convert me to his religion, he would frequently remind me that I basically had no religion. “Lewis, you are a heathen, a completely unapologetic heathen.” Usually, that comment would come after I declared one more time that I had never been to church on my own free will in my entire life. 
And then, I would say something like, “You know that Noah’s flood story is fiction. It’s mathematically impossible. That could not have happened the way it says in the Bible. For that to happen in forty days it would have to rain at six feet per hour over every square inch of the Earth for forty days nonstop. The atmosphere is incapable of doing that, but ancient people didn’t know that. They didn’t even know how huge the Earth is, or that the planet is round. They knew nothing about sea level being at the same height all over the planet. They didn’t know that Mount Everest was more than 29,000 feet tall. If the world was covered with water, the water would have to be more than 29,000 feet deep to cover Everest, and 29,000 feet deep all over the planet. That would require six feet of rain an hour for the entire 40 days all over the planet. The heaviest recorded rainfall ever on this planet was just 12 inches in an hour over a little town in Missouri back in 1947. And that was over one small area, not all over the planet.” 
That kind of talk would totally frustrate Duke. He would raise his arms in the air and wave them as he imitated God’s lightning bolts hitting me from above, as if God was striking me dead because of my frequent blasphemy. While he was playing the role of lethal lightning, I would generally chime in with something like, “And I’ll tell you what, that story about the Sun standing still in the sky in Joshua 10:12, that didn’t happen either.” We had both taken astronomy to satisfy the University’s science requirement, so he knew that if the Sun stood still in the sky that would mean the Earth stopped spinning on its axis and then resumed spinning. That was impossible for a six billion trillion-ton rock.
 “God can do anything. His power is limitless,” Duke would answer. “Right,” I would respond, “Did you write that down on the Astronomy final?” We were in Bill Dixon’s room in the dormitory. Bill was in Air Force ROTC, and he knew that Duke did not do well on the Astronomy final. Bill said, “Oh, zinger. Did you put that on the final exam?” with a big laugh. “That would not help your grade one bit.” Bill was slated to become an Air Force pilot after graduation.  Sadly, Bill Dixon died in a plane crash in 1982, as the KC-135 jet he was flying exploded in the air near Chicago.
 Duke looked at me and shook his head, “You’re going to hell, Lewis. There’s no doubt about it.” I knew he wasn’t serious when he said things like that, and he said it a lot. I always knew we were good friends despite our religious differences, because we were both bounded on life’s path by ethical morality. “It’s surprising that you know so much about the history of Christianity and scripture, Walter, seeing that you are always bad talkin’ it the way you do,” Duke would say at least three times a month. “Lightning’s gonna’ get you. One day, Lewis, it’s gonna’ get you. Wham!”
There was a real irony concerning Duke’s no-partying on Friday rule: Duke was probably the best male dancer at the University of Michigan. There were quite a few women who could dance better than Duke, but he was the best guy dancer on campus.  There is something to understand about dancing and Black people. If you can’t dance when you are young, other Blacks will think you are weird. Dancing, singing, and music were highly regarded in the Black community of the 1960’s. That was especially true of Detroit – the home of Motown. 
If you were an exceptionally good dancer, no one would guess you were a nerd. That was a good thing, because studying a lot was a nerdish trait in the opinion of many of the 1960’s Black students in Ann Arbor. I studied a lot and so did Duke, but since we were dancing up a storm at all the parties on Saturday nights, I suspect that most people did not think we were nerds. Plus, I did most of my studying in the library, and that’s where the women were – “studying”. In many ways, undergraduate school was a nine month long social gathering – a party.
I joined a fraternity, Alpha Phi Alpha, in my sophomore year, which gave a wider foundation to my social life, as well as community involvement. Fortunately, I did study enough to get good grades. I decided to major in Pre-Legal Studies because that allowed me to take courses in economics, history, political science, and psychology. 
I also decided to take up a hobby – Korean karate, Tae Kwon Do. Unlike my track career, I quickly realized that I was good at Tae Kwon Do from the very start. I was a great fighter. It figured since I had plenty of practice at fighting boys who were much larger than me over the years, dating back to that school yard in France.
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My family was growing up. My brother Mark was born in 1966. Sandra was in college at Cornell University in Ithaca, New York, and she was already tight with her future husband, Maurice Page. My father was based at Westover for six years – Sandra’s teen years and my teen years – before his reassignment to Georgia in 1970 and retirement in early 1972. After retirement from the Air Force, Father took a position with the Federal Aviation Administration in Atlanta, Georgia. Mother, Father, and Mark moved to Georgia in 1970. Mother returned to the city of her childhood. This followed a trend in the United States where Black people moved North in the 1940’s and then moved back to the South after the civil rights successes of the 1960’s.
More than just a little parental pressure went into my decision to join the Air Force Reserve Officer Training Corps – ROTC – at the University of Michigan. I suppose there was some residual love of airplanes that contributed to my decision to join the Air Force, but since I knew I could never be a pilot because of my near-sighted vision, the move really didn’t make a whole lot of sense. In retrospect, I realize that I didn’t give the decision the amount of reflection it warranted. After all, the country was deep into the Vietnam War when I volunteered for the military. Perhaps one factor was the threat of the Selective Service draft, but that really didn’t play a large role. Plus, my draft number was 331; I never would’ve been drafted with that high a draft number.
It was at ROTC summer camp at Fairchild Air Force Base in 1968 that I learned how to care for and fire a handgun and assault rifle.  During summer camp I also experienced something that I had dreamed of my entire life.  I flew a jet – a KC-135 tanker aircraft; I piloted the aircraft for ten minutes. It was during a mission far off the coast of Washington state, out over the Pacific Ocean. The pilot and crew refueled multiple B-52D’s in mid-air. It was an amazing experience, a huge thrill for a person who was airplane crazy. I was able to see first-hand the skill, bravery and uplifting personality of the millions of American men and women who serve our country. It makes you feel proud.
Mid-air refueling of a B-52 bomber
I love pictures of airplanes. There is no better blue background in the Universe than the color of Earth’s sky: Water Blue. Astronomers tell us that Earth is the only planet in the observable Universe that has liquid, surface water. Water is precious and necessary to life as we know life exists.
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University of Michigan 1970
Successfully completing ROTC meant that upon graduation I was commissioned as a lieutenant in the Air Force in May 1970, and I was thereby committed to spend four years in the Air Force. Since I was going to law school, my four years of active duty would begin after my graduation from law school and admission to New York’s attorney’s bar.
During my senior year at Michigan, my interest in politics manifested itself as a run for the University student government council in 1969.  I won a seat on the University Student Government Council and had a very good view of local and national politics during the tumultuous time of the 1970 student strike at the University of Michigan. The strike ended successfully when the University regents adopted an affirmative action plan that had been part of a list of reforms demanded by the Black students. It was a very uplifting experience to win that victory because the goals we accomplished were very worthwhile. Plus, I was one of three students who wrote the demands that were presented to the University. The student demands were mostly the platform upon which I ran for the Student Government Council. One of my contributions to the drafting of the demands was a change in language that deleted the use of the word “quotas” and substituted the term “goals”. After the adoption of the text of the demands by the Black Student Union’s Black Action Movement, I was selected by the Black Student Union to personally deliver the written demands to the University president at his official residence on campus. 
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Black Action Movement students strike at the University of Michigan in 1970
My efforts generated death threats from Whites aimed at me. I was pleased when the Black Student Union paid for my purchase of a 9mm semiautomatic handgun on the day after I turned 21 years old in March 1970. I believe that Black people, as well as all people, have the right to self-defense. I do not believe that Whites have some privilege to make any person live in fear. 
During the strike, the regents initially refused to enact our reforms. One of the regents stated at a media press conference that hell would freeze over before the University would accede to the students’ demands. After several weeks of turmoil, the University enacted the reforms. The front-page headline of the Michigan Daily newspaper read: “Hell Freezes Over. University Regents Adopt Student Demands.”
After the strike was won, there were many joyous discussions among the students about our victory. However, some were sober in their assessment. I was told on more than one occasion: “Walter, you were brilliant. Your suggestion that the word “quotas” be dropped from all our demands and replaced with “goals” was a masterpiece in the concept that became known as the University of Michigan Affirmative Action Program.” I always denied that I was the hero of that effort. I would say, “We were all in it together.  We were united and determined, and that’s why we won. Plus, if anyone was the hero it was David and his idea for tuition waivers.” David Lewis, a Michigan law student, had devised a plan that answered the question of financing the education of students from poor families. Under David’s plan there was no need for scholarship money. David proposed to simply waive the requirement to pay any tuition. That was ingenious. Under David’s plan, poor students would not need scholarships, because they would not be required to pay tuition. This was a simple, elegant, and brilliant solution to a problem that had frustrated many efforts to educate students from poor families.
The 1970 strike at the University of Michigan should have opened my eyes to an important aspect of reality. Thousands of students participated in that strike, but in fact 90% of the work that led to success was performed by only eight people, because most student protesters only participated in the “festivities” of the struggle – such as the marches through the streets, the chanting of slogans, and attendance at the free concerts. And, most importantly, many thousands of students were gleefully willing to stay out of class. 
The strike tactic worked and ultimately that is what mattered. However, on display for those with open eyes, was the fact that most Blacks were not willing to do anything substantive, demanding, or hazardous. There were not a lot of warriors, but there were some young people who were quietly willing to act fearlessly to reach a goal. I was one, and I had an ally by my side.
Early in the pathway to strike, the Black students realized the need to tell the radical White community in Ann Arbor that this was not the time for the Weathermen Underground to dynamite buildings or shoot cops. It was a very real concern that the White radicals would act out and derail the student strike with spectacular acts of violence. Someone from the students needed to tell the Weathermen to stand down and allow the Blacks to lead this effort. No one wanted to lecture the Weathermen for the simple reason that everyone was afraid of them; after all, several of the Weathermen were wanted by the police and the FBI.
When there were no other volunteers to confront the Weathermen, I volunteered to address that group at a secret meeting in the middle of the night. The radicals agreed that they would only do as the Blacks asked; they would not try to upstage the Blacks. I was relaxed during our brief meeting, and I think the Weathermen were impressed that I and another student had agreed to meet with them, because of their reputation for violence against people who did not share their radicalism. 
At the meeting, a student friend was with me in the darkened room. This friend was oftentimes near my side. He was quiet and unpretentious. He usually stayed in the shadows and he avoided attention to himself. He was my bodyguard. In his bookbag he carried a Browning 9mm semi-automatic handgun, with 14-shot, fully loaded clips. He was with me because I received death threats early in the effort to change the University of Michigan from the racist groups in the state.  I will not reveal my bodyguard’s identity, because he was not licensed to carry a concealed weapon. Early in the struggle in 1970, he affirmed to me in no uncertain terms, “I will not allow the racists to kill you like they did King. If need be, I will shoot first and ask questions later.” That man is a warrior. I salute him and all the others who were fighting the battle above and beyond the ordinary.
There were a handful of friends from Ann Arbor who would be in my life for years after graduation. I don’t remember when I met Gayle Pollard, but she was a huge help in my senior year as we struggled through the starving student experience. Gayle went on to Columbia University and became a highly respected journalist in Miami, Boston, and Los Angeles.                              
I first noticed Rachel Wright when the University student government council arranged for a campus-wide lottery that offered free trips to the Rose Bowl in 1970. Rachel stood out in the crowd of people gathered for the lottery drawing; she was so nicely dressed and so well-spoken. Plus, she was so upbeat and happy. I was joyous that day as well because I had just won a free trip to the Rose Bowl. 
Rachel was highly successful in the corporate world. She studied for a year in England and received a Ph.D. in industrial relations at a young age. She went on to become a top executive in the Fortune 500 world.
Robert Johnson is a fraternity brother, and he later attended law school at New York University. He went on to practice law in New York. 
Richard Abernathy was a neighbor in the apartment building during my senior year. He was a medical student, and, along with his roommates, Richard enjoyed a good debate on politics. In fact, it was during a Saturday night political debate among these friends when I decided that my politics needed to become more informed, intense, and critical.
A great deal of the tumult was due to the Vietnam War, which affected the lives of many young men because of the compulsory draft. Furthermore, the weekly body count of those killed in action was a chilling news report every Thursday on nationwide television.
Eddie Randle, my friend from Cranbrook, got caught up in the draft, was whisked off for Army training, and then duty in Vietnam as a helicopter pilot. As far as I know, Eddie and Brigadier General Peter Dawkins are the only two Cranbrook graduates to serve in combat during the Vietnam War

 The World appeared different. Black culture was changing on all fronts. We were becoming self-critical in a constructive way.
I chose to apply to only three law schools, and some would say that my decision to apply to only three law schools was a mistake. It was probably a mistake not to apply to any law school where admission was thought to be easier as a safe school. I applied to Harvard, Stanford, and New York University.  I suppose that Stanford had been my first choice. It was in California, and, on a fantasy level, I preferred California. I had fond memories of California, the ocean, the weather, and the Golden Gate Bridge, from my Rancho Cordova childhood in the early 1950’s.
Stanford and Harvard rejected my application. I was accepted at New York University School of Law in Manhattan. I had never seen the NYU campus, but from what I had read and people I had spoken to about the school, I was confident that I was going to like NYU. It had a reputation of being one of America’s top law schools. I wanted to be at the center of the business world. And that was New York City – Wall Street, to be exact. I wanted to learn international corporate finance, so I could use the lifetime I had already spent following the stock market and the business world.
My interest in international corporate finance started in Detroit in 1959 when I was ten years old and first noticed the stock market pages of the Detroit newspaper. It was at that time that business and finance began to replace jet airplanes as the focus of my life.
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Walter Lewis – University of Michigan graduate – May 1970
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the fall term opens,

Mich. Prep School Gives ADC Youth Scholarship
The exclusive Cranbrook preparatory school in Bloom-
fleld Hills, Mich., awarded its first two scholarships to
Negro boys—including a Detroit youth whose family is on
'Aid to Dependent Children. He i5 14-year-old Eddie James

‘Randall, an eighth grader whose hopes will benefit from
a fund drive for an extra $1,000 needed to augment the
$1,500 scholarship. Also awarded a scholarship was C. W.
Valentine, 14, of Columbus, Ohio. Although Negroes attend
the sehool, none recelved scholarships before.
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Elected May Queen
of DePauw University
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Sandra Lawson of
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president of the insti-
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